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Dear Shareholders,

2011 proved to be a year of radical changes for Funkwerk AG. In order to improve our competitive 

strength and increase our earning power, we decided to revise our strategy and reposition the 

company more efficiently. One of our main objectives is to focus Funkwerk as a group on our 

three core segments, Traffic & Control Communication, Security Communication and Auto-

motive Communication. Within these segments, we are restricting ourselves to growth fields 

with a strong margin.

	 This intensification necessitated the discontinuation of activities that no longer form 

part of our basic operations. We promptly proceeded with single-minded determination and 

were successful in completing key transactions in 2011, selling Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regel

technik GmbH and our entire Enterprise Communication segment. This move has helped us 

stabilise the financial situation of the Funkwerk group. In a next step, we sold Funkwerk Avionics 

GmbH in the first quarter of 2012.

	 As a further strategic approach we will increasingly utilise the existing synergy potential 

in the group more effectively – to change from purely being a financial and management 

holding into an efficiently operating group. As a result, we are simplifying our group struc-

tures and are systematically focusing our operating units on customers and the markets. We 

are also consolidating central areas such as administration, purchasing and production. This 

rearrangement of our organisation was prepared back in 2011 and implemented in early 2012 in 

that we divided our operations into six business units. Efforts to centralise our cross-divisional 

functions also delivered initial successes, though this will continue to keep us rather occupied 

throughout the rest of 2012. 

	 Our strategic reorientation and its rigorous implementation enabled us to set the course 

for the future. In the short term, however, it was also accompanied with costs. These along 

with significant development and investment advances have once more placed a considerable 

burden on the earnings situation of Funkwerk. Earnings from operations amounted to EUR – 3.2 m. 

Adding the restructuring and impairment costs of around EUR 10.0 m resulting from the re-

orientation, our EBIT in 2011 aggregated EUR – 13.1 m compared to EUR – 14.9 m in the previous 

year. The sales volume in the group reduced on a comparative basis by 2.4 per cent to EUR 164.6 m.

	 While 2011 was a period of radical change, we believe 2012 will be a year of consolidation. 

It is important that we continue to push ahead with the strategic measures initiated. Our focus 

will be on the further implementation of our defined centralisation measures, on optimising 

our supply chain management, and specifically on advancing our internationalisation. We 

will also continue to work intensively on streamlining our product portfolio and in terms of 

technology base our restructured business units on products with strong margins and unique 

selling points. Over and above these internal tasks, other major challenges facing us in 2012 

include the more sluggish economic trend in our key markets and the persistently difficult 

situation of government authorities facing budget cuts. On the whole, we expect group sales 
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Funkwerk specialises in solution-oriented information and communication systems for applications in 
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 Funkwerk AG

31/12 / 2011

€ M

31/12 / 2011

€ M

Results of operations

Revenues 164.6 168.6

Gross yield 78.8 78.8

Operating profit* 4.7 5.4

Operating result* – 3.2 – 1.7

EBIT – 13.1 – 14.9

Earnings per share in EUR – 2.35 – 2.82

Order backlog 97.8 98.8

Net assets and financial position

Cash flow – 5.9 4.4

Working Capital 37.1 41.2

Net cash 4.5 11.6

Shareholder’s Equity 48.7 64.5

Equity ratio in % 30.8 43.1

Equity ratio adjusted in %** 34.2 43.1

Balance sheet total 157.9 149.7

Employees (reporting date 31 December)*** 1,008 1,363

*     result before impairment charges and restructuring costs

**   adjusted for liabilities held for sale 

*** continued segments as at 2011



to remain at prior-year level. Our earnings situation should increasingly benefit from cost 

reductions as a result of the restructuring measures initiated so that we foresee a balanced 

result in operations.

	 Despite the currently challenging situation, we are confident in our outlook for the future. 

The restructuring and reorientation of our company will bring the strengths of Funkwerk to 

bear even more intensively. This includes having worked hard to earn excellent positions in 

some markets as a specialist in information, communication and security systems. In many 

sectors, we now offer innovative solutions with unique selling points. Our measures aimed at 

increasing our competitive strength will help us maintain this position. In other markets, 

where we can still improve our position, we will focus specifically on increasing our shares. 

As a result, we invested significant amounts in our product portfolio and specifically in key 

components. At the same time, we are raising our sales potential through wider marketing 

using strategic partnerships and opening up new international regions.

	 Based on this, we expect to see considerable growth stimuli from 2013, which may well 

result in sales increases in the higher single-digit percentage range. This is when the restruc-

turing and related cost savings measures will for the first time take full effect. We therefore 

project an operating result that will be back in the black.

	 Funkwerk as a group will dedicate itself to the tasks at hand to the very best of its ability 

and with utmost resolution. A principle that is also embodied by every member of our manage-

ment team. We are optimistic that we can master the challenges facing us and reach our targets 

as planned. But we also want to thank all our employees deeply for their tremendous commit-

ment in 2011, which proved a difficult financial year fraught also with personal hardship.

The Executive Board of Funkwerk AG

Johann M. Schmid-Davis		      Carsten Ahrens

Johann M. Schmid-Davis 

Masters in Bus. Econ, resort: Finances and organisation

Carsten Ahrens 

MEng., resort: Business Development and strategy
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Funkwerk  headed in the right direction

In the previous year, our company underwent a full restructuring. The competences and contents 
of our three business segments Traffic & Control Communication, Security Communication 
and Automotive Communication are now consolidated and reorganised in new business units. 
This provides us with synergies that will enable our company to operate more efficiently, create 
a more stable basis and allow us to work more successfully in our markets. The following pages 
will introduce our business units, our strategies and our activities.
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Traffic & Control Communication Infrastructure
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Tra ffic & Control COMMUNICATION – Infrastructure

Our Infrastructure business unit primarily concentrates on stationary rail transport systems. This inclu-

des such facilities as display and announcement systems in railway stations which are used to provide 

passengers with up-to-date, comprehensive and understandable information about delays, disruptions, 

changes in the timetable, etc. Funkwerk further supplies innovative timetable planning systems and 

operations control systems for road and route management. We also occupy an excellent position in the 

signalling technology sector – with our trendsetting Alister system used to control electronic interlocking 

systems in cargo carriage and, most recently, also in passenger transport. 



Traffic & Control Communication Infrastructure

Market position
In the infrastructure sector, Funkwerk has for the most part acted 

as an integrated systems supplier — for rail operators and other sys-

tem suppliers. We are market leader in many areas. In Germany, for 

instance, Funkwerk is foremost in stationary information systems 

and ranks among the top  3 in Europe. We are also one of the three 

leaders in Europe to supply systems for the training and further 

education of personnel, and in the operations control technology 

sector. Our Alister interlocking system benefits especially from the 

significant need for modernisation in Europe — we expect to see a 

rise in demand here over the next few years.

Strategic measures
In the context of our focusing strategy, we are centring our Infra-

structure BU exclusively on train and rail transport. All other acti-

vities are put to the test, as we are breaking away from peripheral 

fields which are no longer part of our core business. Back in 2011, 

for instance, we sold Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH, 

which operates in the control systems sector for energy suppliers 

and the process industry. At the same time, we are focusing con-

sistently on expansive business areas and plan to have a part in 

the growth seen in these sectors. We are also pushing ahead with 

the internationalisation of our business, primarily in West and East 

European countries and the BRIC states. In so doing, we are well 

forming strategic partnerships and are cooperating with other  

manufacturers. We see excellent growth opportunities for our 

Alister interlocking system both in Germany and in other Euro-

pean countries due to the enormous need for modernisation and 

upgrading. Other focal points of our strategic goals include the 

improvement of our efficiency in handling projects along with a 

better utilisation of our production capacities.

2 ———

1 ———

1 ———

3 ———

1_ A lister  Cargo  in S we den: Our interlocking system 

sold as Alister Cargo has been in use for several years now 

in marshalling yards, depots and works railways, which 

are subject to the lower safety level SIL 2. One country to 

use our system is Sweden, where one of the global lead-

ers in the manufacture of iron ore products now controls 

its mine railway network using Funkwerk’s interlocking 

systems.

2 _ London underground co mmunicates  via    

Funkwerk   syste  m: London’s underground has been 

using Funkwerk’s digital communication system DIKOS 310 

since 2011. DIKOS 310 combines the assets of a modern 

telecommunication system with specific features of an 

industrial communication network. In London, the system 

integrates the control centre and 19 substations along 

with 32 other sites requiring a public address system. 

3_Groundbreaking    contract    for A lister  SIL 4 

interlocking  syste  m: In 2011, Funkwerk won a land-

mark contract for a pivotal core product of our Infra-

structure BU – the innovative interlocking system Alister 

SIL 4 for passenger transport. By October 2013, we will 

be modernising the signalling technology on the Bremen 

– Bremerhaven track section. Due to the dire need of 

modernisation, we expect to see demand for Alister SIL 4 

increase greatly over the next few years. 
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Tra ffic & Control COMMUNICATION – ROLLING STOCK

The product spectrum of our Rolling Stock business unit includes mobile radio systems for communi-

cation between train and stationary infrastructure, which is largely based on the digital GSM-R stan-

dard in Europe. We offer a wide variety of solutions in this field. Our latest product enhancement, the focX 

handheld radio devices, is also based on this technology. We further provide passenger information  

systems as part of our Rolling Stock BU spectrum. These are used for communication in the train enabling 

such aspects as passenger announcements, train conductors can communicate with each other and  

are at the same time in contact with the train driver and the operations control centre.



Traffic & Control Communication Rolling Stock

1 ———

2 ———

1_ PA an d co mmunication syste  m for S tuttgart     

suburban  trains   : We are supplying a public address 

and communication system for 83 of Stuttgart’s new sub-

urban rail vehicles. Funkwerk is the first manufacturer to 

develop such a system based on the required safety and 

security standard and has the option of equipping a further 

90 suburban trains in Frankfurt.

2 _ Supply of GSM-R train   ra  dio syste  m to India : 

Our initial delivery of 180 GSM-R mobile devices has 

gained us a foothold in India – as the only supplier to date 

in this fast-growing market. The contract is signed for a 

period of five years and includes after sales service.

3_ÖBB orders  focX h an dheld transceivers      :  

Funkwerk has signed a framework contract with Austrian 

railway operator ÖBB for the delivery of handheld trans-

ceivers of our new focX product range. The contract volume 

is expected to exceed 2,000 devices. These are based on 

the GSM-R standard, can transmit voice and data, and are 

highly dust and jet water resistant. The contract will run 

until the year 2016. 

Market position
We are indisputable market leaders in GSM-R digital mobile radio 

systems in Europe and rank third in mobile passenger informa-

tion systems. In order to consolidate our excellent positions, we are 

extending our service spectrum and are opening up new markets. 

New to our range, for instance, are professional mobile radio devices, 

but we have also launched our focX handhelds along with systems 

which are able to transmit data alongside voice communication.

Strategic measures
We anticipate significant growth rates for mobile radio equipment 

particularly in the BRIC states, in North Africa and in the Arab 

region. The market in Western Europe is defined overall by high 

equipment efficiency. That being said, there is still some potenti-

al for growth in individual niches here, such as radio equipment 

for shunting operations. In our Rolling Stock BU we are therefore 

concentrating primarily on pushing our internationalisation and 

are opting increasingly for strategic partnerships. Focus is given 

especially to gaining a foothold in the US American market, a step 

which we are planning to take in the course of this year. Special 

applications are implemented with such devices as our focX range, 

for which we have already received the first framework contracts. 

In terms of mobile information systems, rail vehicle manufactur-

ers are increasingly ordering complete subsystems. As a provider of 

complete solutions, we have the required system integration ex-

pertise to be able to participate in this trend. Within the Funkwerk 

group, we are taking a look at our assembly and production sites 

with the aim to ensure a more efficient production.

3 ———



Automotive Communication Automotive
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AUTOMOTIVE COMMUNICATION – AUTOMOTIVE

In our Automotive Communication segment, Funkwerk focuses both on customised connectivity and info-

tainment solutions in the vehicle and on products that make it possible to network the vehicle with the 

outside world. As a tier 1 supplier, we deliver directly to European car and lorry manufacturers, concentra-

ting here on the premium sector. Our core competences primarily include the Compenser technology, 

which amplifies the signal between device and outside antenna, and the charging and coupling of electronic 

equipment in the vehicle. We additionally offer a telematics system for forwarding agents and operators 

of sizeable fleets that allows innovative real-time fleet management.



Automotive Communication Automotive

Market position
Our Automotive BU supplies its customised solutions directly to the 

production lines of well-known European vehicle manufacturers. 

Our solutions for wireless charging and coupling of mobile phones 

have made us the market leader in Germany.

Strategic measures
Our focus in product development is primarily on three aspects. 

Firstly, our signal amplifier Compenser, which ensures optimal 

data and voice transfers in and to the vehicle. To consolidate our 

market position, we have developed a new equipment generation 

here, which will be ready for delivery from 2012. Further impetus is 

expected from the increasing use of smartphones in the car. Since 

many of these devices do not have connection options for an exter-

nal antenna, an inductive coupling chamber which we have deve-

loped can be used to pick up the signal and route it to the Compen-

ser. Secondly, we are addressing the trend that it is no longer only 

smartphones and mobile phones that have made their way into 

new vehicles, but also other CE devices such as tablet PCs, infotain-

ment equipment, online services or storage media. These are con-

nected with each other and with the environment, with interfaces 

increasingly bridged using wireless solutions. And thirdly, we are 

planning to concentrate further on contactless energy supply for 

devices, known as wireless charging, as a strategic operating area, 

for which we also provide innovative solutions. Our customer focus 

continues to be on the premium sector, as we seek to form prefe-

rably close partnerships. We are increasingly establishing ourselves 

as a system supplier among vehicle manufacturers and are benefi-

ting from our cooperation with other specialists and our expertise 

in high frequency technology.

1 ———

2 ———

1_Telephone integration  plus C ompenser : Drivers 

can use their mobile phones in the car not only for voice 

communication. Thanks to our solution, it can now also be 

used for Internet and infotainment applications. We are 

using our proven Compenser technology here for wire-

less reception and amplification of the radio signal from 

the mobile phone. Even smartphones can be used. We 

also provide a number of innovations for wireless charg-

ing, which is currently a topical issue. 

 

1_USB connection   in premium segment: Interfaces 

such as USB are increasingly integrated especially in 

premium class automobiles. This enables drivers to use 

their mobile terminals in the car in the same way as in 

other situations. A particular challenge here is the special 

protection required for USB transmissions in the vehicle 

due to electromagnetic interference.

2 _Telem atics  solution  for Deutsc  he Telekom: 

We provide a telematics system for forwarding agents and 

operators of sizeable fleets which enables innovative  

real-time fleet management. Our exceptional expertise 

in this field was confirmed by a contract received from 

Deutsche Telekom. Under this contract, we will equip a 

fleet of around 6,000 cars and transporters of different 

makes with a solution that meets special requirements. 



Security Communication Video
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SECURIT Y COMMUNICATION – VIDEO

The products of our Video competence centre address the increasing security requirement of individuals 

and companies. Offering professional video cameras, video transmission technology and software, Funk-

werk covers the entire requirement spectrum here – from image recording all the way to their transfer and 

processing. Our systems improve security at airports and main train stations, in football stadiums, traffic 

control systems and production plants – both of property and people. Our offering is rounded off by sector 

and individual system solutions. As an example, we provide underground trains with appropriate equipment 

to enable driverless operation. 



Security Communication Video

Market position
In Germany, Funkwerk is market leader for high-end solutions in 

the video monitoring and surveillance sector. We are presenting 

ourselves as an integrated systems supplier, but are also taking the 

lead in specific sector solutions and in the area of highly precise 

pan/tilt cameras. These are used, for instance, for hard shoulder 

monitoring on motorways. Together with intelligent software, 

these modern cameras make it possible to open up hard shoulders 

as an additional lane on heavily frequented sections of the motor-

way. The customer spectrum in our Video BU ranges from small 

and mid-sized companies both in Germany and abroad all the way 

to global corporations.

Strategic measures
Our key targets in the video sector are focused on standardising  

internal areas of operation and our product lines. Our agenda 

further includes the internationalisation of distribution. Over the 

next few years, we are planning to expand our worldwide activities 

by way of partnerships with global system integrators. We also seek 

to participate in the trend towards increased use of network-based 

video technology offering appropriate solutions to our customers. 

Internally, our strategic goals focus on improving our efficiency 

in handling projects. Furthermore, we hope to make better use of 

existing synergies through simplification and streamlining of our 

group structures. We have in mind to consolidate central areas, but 

also to cooperate more intensively in our service business.

1 ———

1_ Nuremberg underground travels    driverless     

thanks  to Funkwerk  technology: Since 2008, Nurem

berg has been the first city worldwide to use driverless 

and conventional underground trains in a mixed service. 

The operator is using a video-based system for passenger 

compartment monitoring provided by Funkwerk. Camera 

images are sent in real time to the control centre using 

wireless LAN networks – even at maximum speeds of up 

to 100 km/h. 

2 _Video system in Hamburg’s Elbtunnel: Funkwerk 

is upgrading the video system in Hamburg’s Elbtunnel by 

2012. More than 110 cameras, including 70 with innovative 

pan/tilt heads will then improve security in the tunnels and 

the escape routes. The contract also involves new digital 

workplaces for the surveillance staff.

3 _ Har   d sh oul   d er release     on  m otorways     : Our  

Argoscan software solution and innovative video cameras 

provide the option of opening up hard shoulders on heavily 

frequented motorway sections to be used as additional 

lanes. This solution is used, for instance, on the A63. 

Previously, disruptions at the Klein-Winternheim junction 

were an almost daily occurrence; thanks to 32 pan/tilt 

cameras these could now be reduced. 

2 ———

3 ———
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SECURIT Y COMMUNICATION – SECURIT Y

Our Security business unit comprises personal security solutions and emergency call systems along with 

the appropriate terminals. Focus is given here to fields of work with increased security requirements, such 

as found in penal facilities or in areas with increased risk of explosion, as our explosion-proof equipment  

automatically sets off an alarm in the event of a hazardous incident. We frequently use the GSM mobile 

radio network here to ensure that our systems also work in remote locations. Funkwerk further provides 

innovative solutions based on the TETRA standard – the main standard used by authorities and organi-

sations with security functions – and DECT systems. These connect standard communication equipment 

such as telephony with professional radio technology.



Security Communication Security

1_Personal emergency call system secures  power 

plant   in Ludwigs h a fen: Supplied by Funkwerk, a  

personal emergency call system based on the DECT stand- 

ard now protects personnel at a power plant in Ludwigs-

hafen. Thanks to the detailed tracking function, a person in 

distress can easily be located and their position pinpointed 

on a map – a huge contribution to making dangerous 

workplaces safer.

2 _ Specially   protecte d TE TR A devices    for oil 

plat form in Norway: In 2011, we obtained certification 

in the highest ATEX protection class for our TETRA hand-

held devices and promptly received our first contract 

here. We are supplying FT4 EX TETRA ATEX devices with a 

high gas protection rating to an oil rig of Maersk Drilling 

in the North Sea.

3_ Professional     personal    security  at Leipzig  

penal   facility : At Leipzig’s penal facility, a TETRA-

based personal emergency call system from Funkwerk 

ensures the safety of personnel. Staff are provided with  

a radio transceiver which they can use to communicate 

and in an emergency immediately raise alarm. In case of  

a fall, sensors even automatically call for help. 

1 ———

2 ———

Market position
We have many years of experience in the rapidly growing market 

for electronic security systems and are the no. 1 in some subsec-

tors in Germany. This particularly includes personal emergency call 

systems for penal facilities. Here, around half of all facilities in the 

country are now using a Funkwerk system. We also occupy a top 

position in the highly precise location of individuals pinpointed 

down to the exact room. As our TETRA solutions are increasingly 

gaining market shares, we rank among the top 3 companies in Ger-

many to provide explosion-proof DECT and TETRA devices.

Strategic measures
Due to steadily increasing security requirements, we expect the 

global market for security technology to grow over the next few  

years. Depending on the region, annual growth rates are predicted 

to range between 3 and 10 per cent. We plan to play a significant 

role in this and are focusing on internationalising our product 

business in our Security BU. We already have a network of distri-

bution partners that stretches across 13 countries. In addition, we 

are pressing ahead with our cooperation with infrastructure com-

panies adding further global partners to our numbers. Significant 

growth rates are expected especially for our highly popular inno-

vative TETRA solutions. But we are also planning to gain further 

market shares in such niche sectors as explosion-proof devices. In 

terms of DECT equipment, we foresee growth to come from our 

new Funkwerk D4 Office, a high-end handheld business unit with 

comprehensive telephony and messaging functions. Integrated 

problem solutions merging diverse solutions relevant to security 

are equally increasing in importance. We have many years of expe-

rience in this field along with a wide product range, which stands 

us in good stead here. Internally, we primarily want to improve our 

efficiency in handling projects.

3 ———
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 1.	Business and  
	 general setting

Basis and group structure

Funkwerk AG is a mid-sized technology company specialising in 
solution-oriented information, communication and security sys-
tems for rail transport, vehicles, infrastructure, authorities and 
businesses. Funkwerk products are based on the state-of-the-art 
principles of radio and communication technology and data pro-
cessing to improve security and comfort and help reduce custom-
er costs. Our mission is to maintain a high degree of flexibility in 
reacting to customer requests which we couple with leading 
technological expertise.

Under the umbrella of Funkwerk AG, operations are divided 
into three strategic segments. Our Enterprise Communication 
(EC) segment was sold in the preceding financial year.

Traffic & Control Communication (TCC) covers the develop-
ment, production and sale of high-end system solutions for railway 
and transport companies, infrastructure operators and railway 
vehicle manufacturers worldwide. This includes such equipment 
as interlocking and information systems and train radio devices. 
Our customer base here primarily consists of rail transport com-
panies, infrastructure operators and system providers.

Security Communication (SC) specialises in the development, 
production and sale of systems for high-end security solutions 
such as personal security and video monitoring and surveillance 

systems. Our customers in this segment include authorities,  
penal facilities, public transport companies and businesses. 

Automotive Communication (AC) provides car and lorry manu-
facturers with customised connectivity and networking solu-
tions for the vehicle along with telematics systems. Its target 
group primarily includes premium manufacturers in the vehicle 
industry and transport companies.

From 2012, the Funkwerk group moved towards a more cen-
trally managed structure. As a result, operations in these three 
strategic segments were divided into business units (BU) at fiscal 
year change which now operate company-wide across all sites. 
The TCC segment, for instance, will in future be divided into the 
BUs Infrastructure and Rolling Stock; our SC segment, into Video 
Systems, Security Communications and Security Products. At AC, 
operations will be taken on by a BU of the same name, Automo-
tive Communication. Alongside these, central functions will in 
future be combined and managed from Funkwerk AG.

Funkwerk is represented in key markets through branch  
establishments or subsidiaries. At the end of 2011, the group — 
with its three continued segments — operated eight sites in Ger-
many and four abroad. Our consolidated group changed in the 
reporting year due to the sale of our subsidiary Alpha Meß-Steuer-
Regeltechnik GmbH and our entire Enterprise Communication 
(EC) segment including subsidiaries. The latter was sold in early 
October, while the beneficial title passed to the new owner on  
13 January 2012. In addition, Funkwerk Avionics GmbH was sold 
in the first quarter of 2012. Details are included in the net asset, 
financial and earnings position. A full account of the consoli- 
dated group is provided in the notes to the financial statements.

Reorientation of the Funkwerk group

The strategy of Funkwerk AG is strictly focused on profit-oriented 
growth along with advancement of our technological expertise 
and the improvement and consolidation of our leading positions 
in many sectors. In the 2011 financial year, the group set in motion 
comprehensive reorientation measures to reposition itself more 
efficiently, improve its competitive strength throughout the 
group, and increase its earning power. In so doing, we are pri-
marily pursuing four objectives:
■■ In focusing on our core areas, the group now concentrates 

strictly on its three strategic segments, TCC, SC and AC. With-
in these segments, we are restricting ourselves to growth 
fields with a strong margin and have put all other activities to 
the test. In 2011 and in the first quarter of 2012, we already sold 
a number of companies that were no longer part of our core 
business and implemented or initiated further adjustment 
measures, specifically relating to our product portfolio.

■■ At the same time, we will increasingly utilise the existing  
synergy potential in the group more effectively to regain our 
earning power. In so doing, we are streamlining and simpli-
fying the group’s structures, aligning our operations rigor-
ously to the market, and consolidating central areas such as 
administration, purchasing and production. This will help us 
use our resources more specifically, reduce complexities, and 
address the market more efficiently. 

■■ We also intend to increase the financial strength of Funk-
werk AG as a further focal point. Back in 2011, we already im-
proved our liquidity through a multi-year syndicated loan 
agreement. The sale of the above companies has further 
contributed to ensuring a more stable financial situation for  
the group.

■■ On the whole, Funkwerk AG is geared towards growth. We are 
focused on expansive product fields and plan to establish our 
three segments in international markets that promise sus-
tainable growth rates. In so doing, we are capitalising on our 
technological lead in key product sectors and are steadily 
moving away from being a supplier for special niche sectors 
and towards becoming a solution-oriented system provider. 
We are also broadening our access to these markets through 
appropriate partnerships. 

Corporate governance and control system

Funkwerk is managed on the principles of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code. Specific responsibility for corporate gov-
ernance rests with the Executive Board. Its work is monitored by 
the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board also specifies the 
group strategy and together with the responsible parties in the 
segments and business units works out suitable measures for  
implementation. 

The operating units are controlled both on the basis of strate-
gic requirements and key performance indicators. These include 
sales, the EBIT margin, the value added per employee, the work-
ing capital to sales ratio, the investment intensity, and the turn-
over ratio. These management tools are used in the context of 
group-wide controlling and are extended where required. We also 
keep a close eye on various leading operational indicators such  
as market, economic and selected industry figures, incoming 
business in our segments, and the trend of key raw material  
prices and currencies. Corporate management and controlling at 
Funkwerk also includes the analysis of current and target posi-
tions in competition. To establish these, we regularly examine 
each of our market shares, the quality of our products, the sales 
contribution of new products, and the development intensity.

Economic parameters in 2011

The world economy in 2011 on the whole developed against the 
backdrop of positive trends. The International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) estimates that the global economy grew at a rate of 3.8  per 
cent. This comparatively high increase was achieved in the main 
within the first few months, whereas economic activity visibly 
began to flag in the further course of the year. According to the 
IMF, this was triggered primarily by the gradually aggravating 
debt crisis in some countries of the eurozone and the difficult 
situation in the financial markets.

The lion’s share of growth in 2011 was once again contributed 
by the emerging markets and developing countries, which grew by 
a total of 6.2 per cent, despite ultimately also seeing a significant 
decrease in economic momentum. At 1.6 per cent, the industrial-
ised nations, in contrast, managed but a moderate performance. A 
positive exception in this group of countries was Germany. Accord-
ing to preliminary data published by the Federal Statistical Office, 
the real gross domestic product in this country rose by 3.0 per 
cent in 2011. Despite this impressively strong growth, however, 
Germany also increasingly saw clouds threatening to darken its 
economic skies towards the end of the year.

Division of operations 

Tra  ffic & Control Communication Security  Communication AUTOMOTI V E Communication

  INFRASTRUCTURE

  ROLLING STOCK

  Video securit y solutions 

  Securit y communication 

  Securit y products 

  AUTOMOTIVE COMMUNICATION

Customer target   groups

  PUBLIC RAIL AND 

TRANSPORT OPERATORS 

  RAIL TRANSPORT / MANUFACTURERS  

  INFRASTRUCTURE OPERATORS 

  Car and lorry manufacturers

   TRANSPORT COMPANIES 

  COMPANIES

  INSTITUTIONS & AUTHORITIES 

  ENERGY SUPPLIERS 
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For Funkwerk as a system and infrastructure manufacturer, the 
trend of gross fixed capital formation and of equipment invest-
ments is a key economic indicator. According to the Federal  
Statistical Office, spending on equipment in 2011 rose by 8.3 per 
cent. This figure, however, hides notable differences in trend in 
the various sectors. Communication and information systems as 
a highly important market for Funkwerk, for instance, remained 
difficult on the whole. This was due, among other things, to 
budgetary constraints in the public sector, which led to delays in 
contract awards and to projects being stretched over longer peri-
ods. Investments made by Deutsche Bahn to modernise its inter-
locking equipment in the regional transport sector also remained 
behind our expectations in 2011. 

Business trend of Funkwerk at a glance

In the 2011 financial year, Funkwerk AG initiated fundamental 
strategic reorientation measures and made good progress in 
their implementation. We have focused the group on three core 
segments and within these strategic segments will in future 
restrict ourselves to expanding fields. We made preparations 
for the planned restructuring of our organisational setup in 
the reporting year and were able to implement plans to divide  
operations into six market-oriented business units in early  
2012. Efforts to centralise our cross-divisional functions, such 
as in purchasing and production, also delivered initial successes. 
In terms of our operating business, we were able to win key stra-
tegic contracts and hold our market position in many sectors.

OperATING PROFIT* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring

Our reorientation along with significant development and invest-
ment advances, however, have placed a burden on our earnings 
situation. The 2011 financial year closed with earnings from oper-
ations (operating result before impairment and restructuring 
costs) of EUR – 3.2 m. The reorientation measures also resulted in 
restructuring costs totalling EUR 4.7 m in 2011 and, once again, in 
impairment costs from capitalised product developments and 

goodwill to the amount of EUR 5.3 m. On balance, earnings before 
interest and taxes aggregated EUR –13.1 m, compared to EUR – 14.9 m 
in the previous year. The sales volume in the group reduced on a 
comparative basis by 2.4 per cent to EUR 164.6 m. 

REVENUES (€ M)

2.	Segment reports

Traffic & Control Communication

Revenues Business unit TCC (€ M)

Restructuring measures in our biggest segment, TCC, which  
accounts for more than half of the group’s sales, were rigorously 
focused on centring the segment’s activities on train and rail-
way transport in 2011. A key step here was the sale of our sub-
sidiary, Alpha Meß-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH (Alpha). Up until 
its deconsolidation on 30 September 2011, the company with 
around 120 employees had generated sales of EUR 11.2 m. The 
sports display product line of Funkwerk Information Technolo-
gies Karlsfeld GmbH was also put up for sale, thus reclassifying 
sales in 2011 to the amount of EUR 1.5 m. Adjusted TCC sales, i.e. 
without Alpha and the sports display line, proved somewhat 
higher in 2011 than in the previous year, up from EUR 83.6 to 
EUR 86.5 m. At EUR 4.5 m, the operating result before impairment 
and restructuring costs notably improved on the previous year 
(EUR 3.6 m). Due to higher restructuring and impairment costs to 
the total of EUR 4.1 m, however, the EBIT reduced to EUR 0.4 m 
(2010: EUR 1.1 m).

OPERATING Profit Business Unit TCC* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring

One of the highlights in 2011 was the successful completion of 
trial operations involving our electronic interlocking system 
Alister SIL 4. The development of this platform has helped Funk-
werk over the last few years to reposition itself in the signalling 
technology sector, which we plan to use to our advantage to open 
up a market with significant growth potential. We have now  
commenced with further marketing efforts in the passenger 
transport sector expecting to obtain formal SIL 4 certification in 
2012. Back in late 2011, we already received an important follow-
up contract from the passenger transportation sector. We have 
been commissioned to modernise the signalling technology of 
Deutsche Bahn on the Bremen – Bremerhaven section and so will 
be equipping the second section in Germany with Alister SIL 4. 
Initial operation is scheduled for the third quarter of 2013. 

Our interlocking systems sold as Alister Cargo have already 
been in use for several years in marshalling yards, depots and 
works railways, which are subject to the lower safety level SIL 2. In 
2011, we also received a number of new contracts here both from 
Germany and abroad. Alister Cargo was installed in Sweden, 
Denmark, Austria, Switzerland and Slovakia, to name but a few 
countries. 

A further new contract from Deutsche Bahn AG concerns the 
software migration of the eight operating centres of DB Netz AG 
to a new hardware platform and modern operating systems, which 
are due to be connected in September 2012. Furthermore, we are 
involved in a project to provide the control and safety systems of 
Deutsche Bahn with modern, efficient standard interfaces. 

In the train radio systems sector, Funkwerk has occupied a 
dominant position in mobile communication systems based on 
the GSM-R standard over the last years. Our market share in  
Europe is around 70 per cent here. In the reporting year, we intro-
duced a new generation of handheld devices. These focX devices, 
which can be used both for train radio applications and for shunt-
ing communication, promptly gained a foothold in the market in 
2011 leading to a major framework contract from Austria. Until 
2016, we will be delivering more than 2,000 handheld transceivers 
to the Austrian railway company (ÖBB). The first delivery went 
ahead in the last quarter of 2011. 

In 2011, our information systems sector received a momentous 
new order from Deutsche Bahn commissioning us with upgrad-
ing and improving the audio side of passenger information sys-
tems as part of its quality assurance drive. The project includes 
almost half of all main-line stations in Germany. Also worth a 
mention are two train equipment projects involving such aspects 
as electronic public address systems, which we are supplying to a 
train manufacturer.

Security Communication

Revenues Business Unit SC (€ M) 

In 2011, restructuring measures in our SC segment primarily 
focused on harmonising business areas and standardising 
products. Camera production, for instance, was concentrated at 
our Salzgitter site, which involved considerable organisational 
changes also affecting the personnel sector. This has enabled 
us to optimise our cost structures, simplify our organisation 
here, and increase the joint use of existing resources — espe-
cially in purchasing. We further optimised the production costs 
of our products while reducing product complexities. In addi-
tion, we made considerable headway in our planned interna-
tionalisation. The SC segment of Funkwerk now works with 30 
contracting partners in 13 countries, of which as many as 17 
partners were added in the reporting year. Segment sales mar-
ginally decreased from EUR 57.4 m to EUR 55.5 m. At EUR – 4.5 m, 
the operating result before impairment and restructuring costs 
remained below the prior-year figure (EUR – 3.9 m). The EBIT 
amounted to EUR – 6.2 m to improve considerably on EUR – 13.7 m 
in the previous year. This development was due to the signifi-
cant impairment necessary in the previous year on grounds of 
our Algeria business.
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OPERATING PROFIT BUSINESS UNIT SC* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring

In terms of personal security systems, we enjoy a prime position 
particularly with correctional facilities. Today, around half of all 
facilities in Germany already use Funkwerk systems, and of the 
total number of projects tendered in Germany in 2011, Funk- 
werk was able to decide more than two thirds in its favour.  
Innovative TETR A solutions in particular are very much in  
demand — so also at the Leipzig penal facilities. To secure and 
further consolidate our market position here, we have extended 
our customer base. As a result, we have been supplying a power 
plant of RWE with personal emergency call systems since 2011. 
On the other hand, we have widened our offering by launching 
such products as our new Funkwerk D4 Office, a high-end hand-
held business unit with comprehensive telephony and messaging 
functions. This unit can be used in virtually all DECT networks. 
In 2011, we also received ATEX certification in the highest class 
for our TETRA handhelds. Initial orders for this explosion-proof 
version came from a French energy supplier and for an oil plat-
form in Norway. 

In our video monitoring and surveillance systems sector, one 
of the key contracts placed in the reporting year was from the 
European Central Bank (ECB), the first project ever for Funkwerk 
from the banking sector. Funkwerk is set to equip the new ECB 
building in Frankfurt with a full video surveillance system. A 
new application area for our video-based control system is hard 
shoulder release on motorways. Using our Argoscan software so-
lution along with innovative video cameras, the hard shoulders 
on heavily frequented motorway sections can now temporarily 
be opened as additional lanes. Funkwerk’s innovative cameras 
feature highly robust, state-of-the-art pan / tilt heads. In Nurem-
berg our systems enable driverless operation of underground 
trains. Through video-based passenger compartment monitor-
ing including transmission of high-quality video images in real 
time via wireless LAN, our systems have increased not only the 
reliability and security of operations here, but also help protect 
against crime and vandalism. 

Automotive Communication 

REVENUES BUSINESS UNIT AC (€ M)

Our AC segment was reorganised in 2011 as part of our reorien-
tation efforts to focus solely on OEM business with the automo-
bile and lorry industry. Our business involving products for the 
automobile after-sales market was sold to a German distribu-
tion partner while our avionics line with annual sales to the 
amount of EUR 3.3 m was also put up for sale in 2011. We simul-
taneously restructured our internal processes here and initi-
ated measures aimed at reducing our costs and optimising the 
inventory. 

As a result of these restructuring measures and the plan- 
ned sale of our avionics line, the sales volume of AC reduced to  
EUR 22.6 m, down from EUR 27.6 m in fiscal 2010. The operating  
result (before impairment and restructuring costs) was affected by 
considerable advance payments and amounted to EUR – 2.7 m (2010: 
EUR – 1.1 m). Due to restructuring costs and impairments, the fi-
nancial year ended with an EBIT of EUR – 6.9 m (2010: EUR – 2.1 m). 

OPERATING PROFIT BUSINESS UNIT AC* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring

The advance payments relate to major contracts from leading auto-
mobile and lorry manufacturers, which we received in the spring 
of 2011. The order volume under framework contracts totalled 
close to EUR 100 m. Executing these orders will initially involve 
significant development costs before their effect will show in our 
sales figures in later periods. These framework contracts, some of 
which are based on a new development platform, basically in-
volve three projects. Firstly, we will supply an automobile manu-
facturer with customised products for integration of mobile ter-
minals in the car. The second project concerns telematics devices 
for the vehicles of a leading lorry manufacturer. In a third project, 
Funkwerk will provide another major car manufacturer with a 

universal solution for inductive connection of the mobile phone 
in the car to optimise reception (known as the coupling chamber). 
We plan to offer these solutions also to other manufacturers and 
will participate in appropriate tenders in 2012. 

In addition, we received a major contract for our innovative 
real-time fleet management system aimed at forwarding agents 
and operators of sizeable fleets, which largely determined our  
activities in the telematics sector. Since the end of 2011, we have 
been providing Deutsche Telekom, one of the main fleet opera-
tors in Germany, with a vehicle log solution for some 6,000 cars 
and transporters from different manufacturers. The system 
transmits relevant data largely automatically and meets the  
requirements under tax law for logbook documentation. 

Enterprise Communication (EC)

REVENUES BUSINESS UNIT ES (€ M)

Specialising in integrated communication solutions primarily 
for small to mid-sized companies, our EC segment generated 
sales of EUR 27.8 m (2010: EUR 28.3 m) with earnings before inter-
est and taxes of EUR – 1.2 m (2010: EUR 0.5 m). Our EBIT in 2011 was 
affected by the sale of this division. Once the entire segment was 
sold in the context of our group reorientation measures under a 
purchase contract of 18 October 2011 and the beneficial title 
passed to the buyer on 13 January 2012, details were netted in the 
2011 consolidated statement of income and accumulated earn-
ings under the item ›Profit from discontinued operations’. 

OPERATING PROFIT BUSINESS UNIT EC (€ M)

 3.	Earnings, financial and 	 

	 asset position

Sales and earnings affected by restructuring 

The 2011 statement of income and accumulated earnings of Funk-
werk AG was once again affected by high restructuring costs and 
considerable advance payments for new projects primarily in our 
AC segment. Further key influencing factors include the meas-
ures taken to concentrate on our core segments. As a result, Alpha 
Meß-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH (TCC) (included in the consoli-
dated financial statement up until 30 September) was sold last 
year in October 2011, followed by our EC segment (included up un-
til 31 December) in early January 2012. Funkwerk Avionics GmbH 
(AC) was divested in March 2012. We also intend to sell our sports 
display line (TCC) in the course of 2012. The sales and cost shares 
of these companies were combined and reported as a cumulative 
total under the »Profit from discontinued operations (after taxes)« 
item in the statement of income and accumulated earnings; the 
figures for fiscal 2010 were adjusted accordingly.

REVENUES (€ M)

Consolidated sales of the continued segments reduced by 2.4 per 
cent to EUR 164.6 m in 2011. This was due mainly to the difficult 
economic parameters in key consumer sectors. The other operat-
ing income remained stable at EUR 6.7 m (2010: EUR 6.8 m) despite 
insignificant investment subsidies. The reason for this was the 
retransfer of a reserve which had been set up for legal licence dis-
putes, but which is now no longer required after a successful out-
come for Funkwerk.

OPERATING PROFIT* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring
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Personnel expenses declined comparatively moderately by 1.4 per 
cent to EUR 62.5 m despite the reduction in workforce. This devel-
opment resulted from the fact that previous restructuring meas-
ures primarily saw employees in the low-wage segment being cut 
as part of our reorientation strategy. On the other hand, pay-scale 
and non-pay-scale wages and salaries were up again for the first 
time.

The trend in the cost of materials proved satisfactory with 
costs reducing quite notably by 7.1 per cent to EUR 83.8 m and so 
more drastically than sales. The gross yield (without internally 
produced and capitalised assets and other operating income) of 
EUR 78.8 m remained at prior-year level despite a drop in busi-
ness volume. The gross yield margin improved from 46.7 per cent 
to 47.9 per cent. The considerable savings in the cost of materials 
reflect initial positive effects resulting from our rigorous re-
structuring efforts. Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 
24.0 m in 2011, after EUR 24.3 m in the previous year. The 2011 fi-
nancial year closed with an operating EBITDA (before impair-
ment and restructuring costs) to the amount of EUR 4.7 m, after 
EUR 5.4 m in 2010. 

OPERATING EBITDA* (€ M)

*	 before impairment costs and restructuring

The operating result before impairment and restructuring costs 
totalled EUR – 3.2 m in 2011, compared to an adjusted result of 
EUR – 1.7 m in 2010. The massive group shake-up initiated in 2011, 
however, once again led to significant restructuring costs of 
EUR 4.7 m (2010: EUR 2.0 m). In addition, impairments of intangi-
ble assets amounted to EUR 5.3 m (2010: EUR 3.4 m). This includes 
amortisation of development costs and goodwill, which are ex-
plained in more detail in the notes. Nonetheless, earnings from 
operations (EBIT) marginally improved in total, up from EUR 
– 14.9 m to EUR – 13.1, as one-off expenses from project business no 
longer applied, whereas 2010 had involved significant impair-
ments related to our Algeria business to the amount of EUR – 7.8 m.

The financial result in 2011 totalled EUR – 2.2 m, compared to 
EUR – 1.7 m in the previous year. This was due, primarily, to a rath-
er low market interest rate level for investments which led to con-
siderably less financing income of EUR 0.2 m (2010: EUR 0.5 m). At 
EUR – 2.4 m, the financing expenses primarily concerned costs 
related to raising loans.

Taking account of the financial result, consolidated earnings  
before taxes totalled EUR – 15.3 m, after EUR – 16.6 m in the previ-
ous year. Taxes on income amounted to EUR 3.6 m, with the lion’s 
share of the additional allocation due to a reserve which was set 
up on grounds of an additional tax demand resulting from a tax 
audit which proved higher than expected. We have appealed 
against these tax assessments and were granted complete sus-
pension of execution. Net earnings of the continued segments 
totalled EUR – 18.9 m in 2011, after EUR – 22.7 m in 2010. The diluted 
and undiluted earnings per share for the continued segments 
therefore came to EUR – 2.35 (2010: EUR – 2.82).
 

Result after impairments and restructuring costs (€ M)

Taking into account the earnings from discontinued activities of 
EUR 3.0 m (2010: EUR – 2.2 m), the consolidated annual deficit for 
fiscal 2011 of EUR – 15.9 m was considerably much lower below the 
line than in the previous year (EUR – 24.9 m).

Financial position

The key financial management targets of Funkwerk AG are to 
secure the group’s liquidity, to optimise the financial expenses 
and income, and to control and minimise the currency and inter-
est risks. In our efforts to achieve these targets, we employ as 
wide a spectrum of financing instruments as possible. This  
diversification provides us with a much wider scope for action 
and increases our options.

To ensure a more stable financing basis for Funkwerk AG in 
the long term, we concluded a syndicated loan agreement of  
EUR 75.5 m with three German commercial banks headed by Com-
merzbank AG in March 2011. The loan has a term of over three 
years with an option of a further two years. It comprises a revolv-
ing money market loan of EUR 12.5 m, credit in current account of 
EUR 5.0 m, and a bank guaranteed credit line of EUR 58.0 m. Funk-
werk AG and its subsidiaries have provided collateral for this loan, 
which also required a government indemnity bond as a stipula-
tion for loan approval, which we received from the »Germany 
funds« Government / Laender programme. Specifically, this in-
volves an 80 per cent indemnity bond for EUR 9.0 m of cash credit  
 

and a 60 per cent indemnity bond for EUR 10.6 m of guaranteed 
credit. The bond has a term of five years and is tied to the standard 
condition typically applied to government bonds. This means that 
during its term the majority shareholder of Funkwerk AG is obli-
gated to vote for a retention of earnings at the annual general 
meeting to ensure that no dividend is paid out. 

The syndicated loan agreement stipulates as a condition that 
the equity ratio of the Funkwerk group must not at any point drop 
below 35 per cent. At the same time, the adjusted debt to equity 
ratio of the Funkwerk group as at 30 September 2011 and up until 
30 December 2011 must not exceed 7.0, and as at 31 December 2011 
and thereafter, 3.5.

In respect of the clear effects of the reorientation, Funkwerk AG 
notified the banking syndicate of non-compliance with the ratio 
specifics for 30 September 2011, for 31 December 2011, and for the 
following quarters in 2012. The banking syndicate accepted our 
reorientation related non-compliance for 30 September 2011 and 31 
December 2011. Under confirmed plans to amend the syndicated 
funding, new ratios will be defined for 2012 and the following pe-
riods based on our changed group structures. In respect of the 
planned changes to the existing syndicated loan, we refer to sec-
tion (10) Events after the reporting period. Until conclusion of the 
amendment agreement, it was agreed in accordance with the cur-
rent loan agreement that the cash inflow of EUR 18 m from the 
sale of companies in 2011 and early 2012 be pledged to the banking 
syndicate.

On the whole, our financial situation has stabilised consider-
ably as a result of the syndicated loan and our focusing strategy 
initiated in 2011 and largely implemented with great success by 
early 2012 and the related sale of Alpha (TCC), our EC segment, and 
the avionics product line (AC).

Liquidity trend

Cash Flow FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (€ M)

The liquidity outflow from current operations across the group 
amounted to EUR 5.9 m in 2011. 

At EUR 7.4 m, the lion’s share of investments was made in devel-
opment, EUR 2.7 m were spent on the purchase of fixed assets. In-
vestments in the discontinued operations amounted to EUR 2.6 m. 

The receipts resulted from investment subsidies (EUR 1.1 m) and the 
sale of Alpha (EUR 9.6 m).

Adding up the cash inflow and outflow from current operations 
and investment activities, the free cash flow totalled EUR – 6.4 m in 
2011, compared to EUR – 8.2 m in the previous year.

The cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 12.3 m. 
This inflow was due primarily to the utilisation of the revolving 
money market loan. 

Free Cash Flow (€ M)

Asset position – consolidated balance sheet extended

Our consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2011 was sig-
nificantly affected by the deconsolidation of Alpha Meß-Steuer-
Regeltechnik GmbH and the completed divestiture in 2012 of our 
EC segment and Funkwerk Avionics GmbH. As a result, a direct 
comparison with the previous year is no longer possible. All assets 
of operations sold in 2012 are shown on the assets side under the 
new item »Assets held for sale«, which amounted to EUR 14.6 m, 
and pertinent liabilities of EUR 15.7 m under »Liabilities held for 
sale« on the liabilities side. Since the internal and previously con-
solidated liabilities are treated as external liabilities of the buyer 
in a planned sale and correspondingly the group’s internal receiv-
ables are allocated to short-term assets in line with their nature, 
this accounts for an extension of total assets to the amount of 
EUR 9.9 m.

Consolidated total assets rose by 5.5 per cent on the previous 
year to EUR 157.9 m. Long-term assets amounted to EUR 36.9 m after 
reclassification of the sold operations. Of this amount, EUR 24.6 m 
were attributable to intangible assets and EUR 12.3 m to tangible 
assets. Initial successes in restructuring our Purchasing and Pro-
duction units led to a reduction in inventories to EUR 35.6 m. The 
increase in trade accounts receivable by EUR 6.4 m to EUR 34.0 m 
resulted from the expiry of the factoring (in 2010, utilisation of 
EUR 7.5 m), but was also due to the cutoff date, as quite a number 
of projects were billed in the last quarter. The financial assets  
increased on account of the contractually agreed settlement of  
internal loan and cash pool receivables for the company units  
sold in the first quarter of 2012. Liquid funds rose by EUR5.3 m to 
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EUR 17.4 m owing primarily to the payment of the purchase price 
for Alpha. As at the cutoff date, EUR 9.4 m of the liquid funds 
were pledged to the banking syndicate.

On the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet, the 
most notable aspect other than the non-consolidated state-
ment due to the sale was primarily the decrease in equity from 
EUR 64.5 m to EUR 48.7 m because of the annual deficit. As a result, 
the equity ratio stood at 30.8 per cent at the end of 2011. Adjusted 
for the liabilities held for sale, it came to 34.2 per cent.

EQUITY RATIO (IN %)

*	 adjusted for liabilities held for sale 

The long-term liabilities of EUR 14.4 m, which primarily included 
pension commitments of EUR 12.8 m, barely changed on the prior-
year figure of EUR 14.5 m. The short-term liabilities increased in 
total by EUR 24.1 m to EUR 94.8 m. In addition to the non-consoli-
dated internal debt in connection with the completed sale of com-
panies in 2012, this reflects the increase in short-term financial 
liabilities from EUR 0.4 m to EUR 12.9 m after utilisation of the 
revolving money market loan to finance current operations.

The net cash, i.e. the balance of financial liabilities and liquid 
funds, amounted to EUR 4.5 m at the end of 2011 and so still re-
mained noticeably positive despite once again reporting a deficit. 
With respect to the planned release of the pledged liquid funds, 
please refer to section (10) Events after the reporting date.

Overall view of the economic situation

ORDER VOLUME (€ M)

Total volume of incoming orders in 2011: EUR 165.1 m 

Despite new losses incurred in 2011, the economic situation of 
Funkwerk AG could, on the whole, be stabilised through our com-
prehensive focusing and reorientation strategy, which was largely 
implemented by early 2012. Adjusted for the liabilities still held 
for sale as at 31 December 2011, total assets could be reduced from 
EUR 149.7 m to around EUR 142.2 m. Adjusted correspondingly, the 
equity totalled around EUR 49 m, so that the adjusted equity ratio 
stood at around 34.5 per cent. Working capital was reduced by 
around EUR 4.1 m, or 10 per cent, to EUR 37.1 m (2010: EUR 41.2 m). 
Due to payment of the purchase price for our Enterprise Commu-
nication segment sold in the first half of 2012, net liquidity will 
increase further by around EUR 8 m after the planned release of 
pledged funds. We refer to section (10) Events after the reporting 
date on this.

Incoming orders of continued operations in the group to-
talled EUR 165.1 m in the reporting year. Of this amount, around 
EUR 83.1 m were attributable to our strategic TCC segment and 
around EUR 58.6 m to SC, while our AC segment booked new orders 
worth around EUR 23.4 m. Defined by project business, the vol-
ume of orders in the group, which was also adjusted for discon-
tinued operations, totalled EUR 97.8 m on 31 December 2011, after 
EUR 98.8 m on the prior-year reference date. At EUR 63.8 m (2010: 
EUR 68.7 m), almost two thirds were attributable to TCC. In our 
SC segment, the level of orders increased to EUR 24.5 m (2010: 
EUR 21.0 m), while AC improved to EUR 9.5 m (2010: EUR 9.2 m). 

ORDER BACKLOG (€ M)

Total volume of order backlog in 2011: EUR 97.8 m

 4.	Other performance indicators 

Procurement 

The raw materials and supplies which we need to produce our 
own products are procured from different sources worldwide to 
avoid dependencies and procurement bottlenecks and to offset as 
much as possible any price fluctuations in some regions. Asia is a 
highly important region for the Funkwerk group. Due to the earth-
quake disaster in Japan, we were faced with significant price in-
creases and delivery bottlenecks here. This additional expense 
could be more than compensated, however, through savings in 
other places and through initial positive effects from our restruc-
turing measures. On the whole, the cost of materials in 2011 re-
duced by 7.1 per cent to EUR 83.8 m throughout the group.

In the context of our strategic reorientation, the Purchasing 
sector was centralised to ensure a better use of internal syner-
gies. Our aim is to improve the management of capacities in the 
group and achieve further cost savings over the next few years. 
To ensure success here, we are increasingly focusing on stand-
ardising our suppliers and components and on more intensive 
cooperation across our divisions.

Production

In terms of production, we commenced in 2011 to review our pro-
duction and assembly sites in the group and focus on three main 
facilities. This will help us optimise the utilisation of capacities in 
the group and consolidate expertise in order to reduce our fixed 
costs. Our Dabendorf site is used as a central location for our AC 
segment, Kölleda for the rail sector, and Salzgitter for electronics 
production. In 2011, the production of video cameras was complete-
ly relocated from Funkwerk plettac electronic GmbH in Fürth to 
Salzgitter and the related structures adjusted accordingly. This 
enabled us to close a production facility and increase the capacity 
utilisation in Salzgitter. The Kölleda facility was also sufficiently 
used to capacity, while capacities in Dabendorf were not fully uti-
lised. For two large-quantity products in Kölleda and Salzgitter, we 
also began to change our production methods to »lean« principles 
in 2011. This will help us reduce our production and running times, 
but also our inventories.

Employees in continued segments

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2011, Funkwerk as a group employed 1,008 peo-
ple (excluding discontinued operations), which is 355 employees 
less than on the prior-year reference date. The reduction is due, 
on the one hand, to the sale of companies (– 285) and, on the other, 
to the streamlining of our operating units (– 70). The sale of our EC 
segment reduced the workforce by 144 employees, while TCC was 
down 117 jobs because of the sale of Alpha Meß-Steuer-Regeltech-
nik GmbH. Divided into strategic segments, this paints the fol-
lowing picture: 515 employees worked in TCC (2010 incl. Alpha: 
665), 327 in SC (2010: 343) and 158 in AC (2010 incl. avionics: 204). As 
in the previous year, Funkwerk AG as the holding company of the 
group employed 8 people.

On the whole, Funkwerk employees are exceptionally well 
trained: 43 per cent of staff in the group have graduated from uni-
versity, some 45 per cent are skilled workers. We further increased 
the know-how of our workforce by offering a variety of qualifica-
tion measures in 2011. These involved the Production, Sales, Devel-
opment, Controlling and Quality Management sectors and also 
included the various companies’ executives. We believe that the 
continual further training and education of our employees will 
also help us secure the future of our group. 

In 2011, an annual average of 60 young trainees (2010: 67) at 
our various sites were prepared for work in commercial and in-
dustrial fields and in information technology. Job profiles include 
industrial business management assistant, electronics engineer,  
warehouse logistics specialist, specialist computer scientist, 
management assistant in IT systems, and IT system technician. 
In cooperation with the university of cooperative education, we 
also offer the opportunity to study business administration or 
engineering. In 2011, the range of subjects involved in this practi-
cally oriented course, which finishes with a state-approved aca-
demic degree (German ›Diplom‹), includes construction, informa-
tion and communication technologies, Bachelor of Engineering, 
and business studies. 
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Research and development 
	
EXPENDITURE F & M (€ M)

Intensive research and development activities (R&D) at Funkwerk 
are aimed at designing new products and solutions and increas-
ing the efficiency of our production processes to ensure that we 
are able to further consolidate our lead already held in many mar-
kets. Rather than restricting ourselves to basic research, however, 
we concentrate on the development of products and systems that 
meet the needs of our customers. In addition, we devise concepts 
and are involved in preparatory efforts for newly developing mar-
kets. In 2011, R&D spending in the group totalled EUR 16.9 m 
(2010: EUR 22.3 m). In terms of sales, this produces a R&D ratio of 
around 10 per cent. On an annual average, Funkwerk employed 
284 people in the group’s R&D division in 2011, which corresponds 
to 22 per cent of the total workforce. 

Our development projects are planned, structured and driven 
with due consideration of the market and customer requirements. 
To improve our productivity in development and accelerate the 
marketability of our products, Funkwerk increasingly uses generic 
development platforms in its segments. In the context of our reori-
entation, we have also begun to consolidate our group-wide R&D 
activities and our existing know-how and work more intensively 
in competence centres. This will enable us to improve the use 
synergies between the sectors and individual companies and 
share our innovative development results in a wider context. We 
have already had initial successes with our software development 
framework. This technology was developed for our AC segment 
and is also used in the telematics sector and for rail vehicles. The 
group’s individual segments are also working more closely now in 
the development of IT transmission systems and video systems. 

Our three segments focused on the following  
development projects in 2011

TCC — Based on our lead in GSM-R train radio systems through-
out Europe, our product portfolio in 2011 was advanced primar-
ily with a view to the market’s requirements. Focus here was 
given to the new generation of train radio systems, MESA, a mobile 
train radio system for voice and data transmission. The modular 

components are compatible with existing GSM-R systems, so that 
generations already in the market can be gradually upgraded. 
Our MESA 26 system is expected to be ready for the market in 
2012. We are also working on extending our GSM-R product spec-
trum. The new devices can transmit both voice and data. 

Development activities in our passenger information systems 
sector concentrated on the improvement of security. Focus was 
put primarily on electronic public address systems in the train.
SC — Major development projects in our personal emergency call 
systems sector included a new DECT-over-IP system. These DECT 
base transceiver stations can be used, for instance, in large office 
buildings, but also in penal facilities using the existing Ethernet 
wiring. Developments in our video cameras sector are aimed pri-
marily at diversifying into HD technology — with an IP camera in 
HD quality designed by Funkwerk. In addition, improvements 
were made to our highly precise pan / tilt head for cameras and our 
leading video management solution. 
AC — R&D focal points in our AC segment were determined by 
preparatory efforts for the framework contracts won in 2011, but 
also by the trend towards connectivity in vehicles. The latter con-
cerns the integration of mobile terminals with existing electron-
ics and the connection of vehicles to mobile network or the Inter-
net. Further developments in the reporting year concentrated on 
such products as our signal amplifier, Compenser. The amplifier 
technology developed here enables consistent, high-quality data 
and voice transmissions from and to the vehicle. Further impetus 
for the Compenser is expected to come from the increasing use of 
smartphones in the car. Since many of these devices do not pro-
vide the option of connecting an external antenna, we have  
devised a coupling chamber enabling the reception of inductive 
antenna signals from the mobile phone, which are then routed to 
the Compenser. A further topic of increasing importance is wire-
less charging of devices in the vehicle. Again, Funkwerk is work-
ing on various innovations here that use energy-transmitting 
inductors. Other focal points of our R&D activities include mod-
ern interfaces such as USB or HDMI, which are integrated into 
the vehicle. In our telematics sector, we have developed a new, 
larger screen that is now ready for the market, along with a pro-
cess that allows lorry fleet operators to archive data as required by 
law (radio-based tachograph download).

Sustaina   bility  an d corporate  social  responsi bility

Funkwerk takes responsibility towards its social, economic and 
ecological environment seriously. As a global operator, our actions 
have a bearing on people, social sectors and nature. Conse-
quently, we are committed to acting with a view to sustainability 
and take account of the requirements of all interest groups affec-
ted by our activities.

At all our corporate sites, Funkwerk directly and indirectly takes 
social and community responsibility for its employees. As an ex-
ample, we directly support various initiatives and charitable or-
ganisations. This ranges from promoting youth work and junior 
programmes in clubs and society and site preservation projects 
all the way to regional help for those in need. We further believe 
that the successful training and further education of our staff, 
the compatibility of work and family, and the provision of attrac-
tive jobs along with healthy and safe working conditions are indi-
cators of sustainability. 

Quality   m anage  ment

The reliability and high quality of our products, systems and pro-
cesses are paramount aspects in maintaining our market posi-
tion; they are also an integral part of the economic responsibility 
of Funkwerk. For this reason, all relevant business processes are 
subjected to regular quality control based on an ISO standard 
Quality Management System installed at all our operations. Indi-
vidual facilities also have specific certification to meet the require-
ments of their respective sectors and customer target groups.

Improving the efficiency of our Quality Management System 
is an ongoing process, which was continued in 2011. The respon-
sibilities for individual areas of operation, information flows and 
processes at our Dabendorf site were redefined as a result of the 
restructuring of our AC segment. The production and quality as-
surance of our video systems sector was relocated from Fürth to 
Salzgitter. 

Our focus on quality is confirmed by independent sources 
through certifications based on national and international stand-
ards. All three of our segments underwent re- and surveillance  
audits in 2011 based primarily on the international standards ISO 
9001 and ISO 14001 and the automobile industry standard ISO/TS 
16949.

This was complemented by internal specifications and regu-
lations such as our organisational and calculation guidelines or 
principles of project management, which are mandatory both in  
filling contracts and in internal development projects. This ena-
bles us to identify and rectify deficiencies promptly and speedily.  
Our clearly defined quality standards are documented in hand-
books kept at our various sites, where they are consistently imple-
mented.

Environ  mental  protection

Funkwerk considers environmental protection a paramount cor-
porate objective and makes every endeavour to reconcile ecologi-
cal issues with economic interests. Our environmental manage-
ment is geared to preserving natural resources to the greatest 
extent possible and to maintaining an intact environment. Our 

production facilities have their own environmental manage-
ment systems, which are largely certified to national and Euro-
pean standards. A similar system was set up at our AC site in  
Dabendorf in the reporting year; certification is expected to be 
completed in 2012. 

Internally, we are making efforts to reduce our energy con-
sumption and so, our carbon dioxide emissions along with water 
consumption and wastewater quantities in all sectors. All sites in 
the group are involved in active waste reduction and separation, 
opting first for recyclable, environmentally friendly and reusable 
materials and increasingly installing energy-efficient informa-
tion technology (GreenIT). Our R&D efforts are equally aimed at 
improving the ecobalance of our products and processes.

 5.	Risk and opportunity report

Risk policy

Opportunities and risks are an integral part of any business oper-
ation and so also the globally oriented activities of Funkwerk. The 
primary aim of our risk policy is not to prevent any and all poten-
tial risks. Rather, it is designed to provide scope of action so the 
company can take chances in full awareness of these risks 
knowing their implications if the business involving these risks 
is expected to improve the value of our company. This requires 
thorough knowledge of the risks and their correlations. This 
risk policy established by the Executive Board determines the  
actions of all individuals involved in the risk management process. 

Risk management system

Funkwerk has implemented a multistage risk management sys-
tem (RMS) along with other supporting control systems. This also 
includes our internal control system (ICS). Together, both systems 
provide an adequate framework to allow early detection of risks 
that may jeopardise the continued existence of the company, but 
also to identify and use opportunities. The system is centrally  
coordinated, is mandatory for all group companies, and includes 
every division and department. It ensures a high level of trans-
parency through regular and systematic monitoring of all pro-
jects and the pertinent basic parameters, so that appropriate 
measures can be defined and implemented early on where so  
required. 
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The RMS of Funkwerk AG comprises guidelines and working docu-
ments including checklists. These are designed to standardise 
processes and ensure a systematic and continuous review of oper-
ational and non-operational risks, but also to define opportunities. 
Along with risk management and new compliance guidelines, 
other guidelines are directed at accounting, project management 
and costing to ensure a comprehensible and uniform approach. 
The RMS is implemented autonomously by the management of 
each company in the group and, where so required, extended to 
include specific issues relating to the company. Reporting forms 
the framework that links the RMS and ICS. While it is stipulated 
centrally, it is also complemented by company-specific reports for 
the purpose of managing operations. The synergy of RMS and ICS 
effectively working together is ensured through a continuous 
review, analysis and discussion of the current reports. Both the 
Executive Board and Investment Controlling are intensively invol-
ved in this process.

Each company evaluates its projects using a risk checklist 
which allows a systematic identification and assessment of risks. 
Focus here is given both to quantitative and qualitative criteria. 
Where defined risk thresholds are exceeded, Investment Control-
ling is notified. The latter then prepares the data for the Execu-
tive Board and ensures prompt assessment, discussion, where 
necessary a definition of measures and, finally, agreement with 
the Executive Board. 

The progress of these projects and the general trend of busi-
ness including risks are discussed in detail at least once a month 
and appropriate measures are deliberated and initiated where 
appropriate. In addition to these monthly meetings, an overall 
risk inventory is carried out at least once a year as part of the 
planning. The risk checklist used as the basis for this inventory is 
specified centrally, but complemented by company-specific issues 
and reviewed annually. Investment Controlling analyses the data 
at group level and considers a repackaging of risks. Based on this 
analysis, the Executive Board assesses the current risk situation 
and agrees appropriate measures with the Supervisory Board in 
important cases. 

Internal control and risk management system in the 
financial reporting process

Based on Section 315 (2) no. 5 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), 
Funkwerk is obligated to describe the main features of its inter-
nal control and risk management system in the financial report-
ing process. This system is not defined by law. ICS refers to the 
policies, principles, processes and measures introduced by the 
Management in the company which are focused on the Manage-
ment’s decisions to secure the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
company’s operations and to ensure truth and fairness of the 
internal and external accounting and compliance with the stat-
utory requirements pertinent to the company. These control ac-
tivities also contribute to ensuring the provision of reliable and 
comprehensible information through accounting documents. 

In terms of the financial reporting process, we consider the 
main features to be such that could significantly influence the 
accounting and overall conclusion of the annual and the consoli-
dated financial statements including management report and 
group management report. This includes risks relating to the  
financial statements as such, but also to the illustration of indi-
vidual types of transactions and individual account balances and 
statement details. Specific risks for Funkwerk AG may result from 
such events as the conclusion of unusual or complex transac-
tions, specifically towards the end of a financial year due to time 
sensitivity. Furthermore, transactions which are not routinely 
processed involve a latent risk. Accounting risks related to deriva-
tive financial instruments are explained in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting transactions are currently still recorded in the 
individual accounts of the subsidiaries and group companies of 
Funkwerk AG using various accounting systems. All subsidiaries 
have been issued annually revised group accounting guidelines 
with explanatory notes to ensure uniform group accounting. For 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of Funk-
werk AG, the subsidiaries and group companies provide their in-
dividual accounts along with further information in standard-
ised reporting packages. These reports are further processed by 
the group accounting department of Funkwerk AG using new 
consolidation software. The consolidation processes for prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements of Funkwerk AG, 
such as the consolidation of capital, assets and liabilities, or rev-
enue and expenditure, are carried out by means of automated 
consolidation assistants and via manual adjustments. The tax 
balance sheets are prepared with the help of the national tax con-
sulting firms of each subsidiary.

Measures to ensure effectiveness of the RMS / ICS

Regular discussions and follow-up in monthly meetings, comple-
mented by individual reviews, provide assurance that the meas-
ures taken are, and remain, effective. At the same time, this plat-
form is used to make changes to existing systems and thus is  
a starting point for a continuous improvement process. Further-
more, the information provided is analysed on the basis of key fig-
ures. This allows us to identify weak points and any divergences. 
Investment Controlling is also responsible for verifying efficiency 
through spot checks and, where necessary, making appropriate 
changes. 

The implementation of the risk management system is veri-
fied by our auditors as part of their annual audit. The opportuni-
ties and risks are regularly reported to the Supervisory Board.

Individual risk report

Company  -specific an d m arket    risks

The market for professional communication systems relevant to 
Funkwerk is a comparatively young market and subject to rapid 
technological change. Our business development therefore always 
depends on the extent to which Funkwerk is able to maintain or 
consolidate its market position and technology leadership while 
reacting flexibly to market changes. In order to reduce the develop-
ment-related risk, it is crucial that new products are developed  
using the right technology and launched at just the right time. 

This requires that we recognise and implement new techno-
logical trends in good time. We particularly face the risk that com-
petitors launch improved or innovative products earlier or cheaper 
than Funkwerk. And we cannot always guarantee that improved 
or new products are accepted accordingly by the market. 

If Funkwerk fails in the future to recognise and implement 
new customer requirements or technological advances and fur-
ther develop its products in compliance with appropriate business 
standards, or does so too late, this can have a detrimental effect on 
the net asset, financial and earnings position of Funkwerk.

Due to its operations, Funkwerk is also subject to the cyclical 
swings in economic activity of the electronics industry, specifi-
cally the dynamic product life cycles of electronic components. 
Suppliers, for instance, replace components and assemblies with 
new ones within short lead times, so that Funkwerk is continu-
ously forced to adapt its products to these new components and 
assemblies. This goes hand in hand with the risk that Funkwerk 
may not be able to provide the development resources required for 
adaptation of its products. 

Since Funkwerk needs to guarantee a spare part stock at times for 
over 10 years due to warranties agreed with customers particularly 
in Traffic & Control Communication and in Security Communica-
tion, we have a significant stock on hand. This may lead to impair-
ment of inventories over and above the regular depreciation. 

Due to the highly dynamic behaviour of technology, the scal-
ability of serial production and the innovative and competitive 
pressures, the market for communication technology relevant to 
Funkwerk is defined by price deterioration. Especially in periods 
of economic crisis, competitors increasingly try to gain market 
shares through rock-bottom prices. Even with a technology lead 
the risk remains that competitor products prevail on the market 
because of the price. These cases can have a detrimental effect on 
the net asset, financial and earnings position of Funkwerk.

Dependence on political  decisions an d  

contracting  practices 

A large fraction of business at Funkwerk depends to quite a degree 
on political decisions based on which funds are made available to 
the contracting authorities and customers of Funkwerk. Our 
Traffic & Control Communication and Security Communication 
segments, in particular, depend on investments of the public 
sector in railway equipment, personal security, property protec-
tion systems, motorways and infrastructure measures. Delays or 
cancellations of investment projects and subsidies especially 
against the background of the budget consolidation pressure 
currently experienced in many European states and declining 
tax income may have a detrimental effect on public contracting 
and, as a result, on the business development at Funkwerk.

Dependence on employees   an d project m anage  ment

The future success of Funkwerk depends quite considerably on 
the further involvement and performance of its executives, man-
agerial staff and employees in other key positions. If Funkwerk 
fails in the future to find appropriately qualified personnel, the 
strategic and economic targets of Funkwerk may be in jeopardy, 
with detrimental effect on the net asset, financial and earnings 
position of Funkwerk. 

Funkwerk is involved in project business. When project con-
tracts are placed, both the customer and Funkwerk may act on 
the basis of different premises and requirements, which may 
jeopardise the implementation of the project. Since Funkwerk is 
paid after completion of specific performance stages in project 
business, the termination of a project may mean that preparatory 
efforts or expenses and costs incurred are not fully compensated. 
Furthermore, the risk assessment carried out prior to submitting 
offers for projects may be incorrect or incomplete for a specific 
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project so that the agreed payment bears no relation to the ex-
penses actually incurred by Funkwerk. 

If they materialise, the risks related to project business may 
have a significantly detrimental effect on the net asset, financial 
and earnings position of Funkwerk.

Dependence on international    m arkets  

The focal point of Funkwerk to date has been on Germany and 
other European countries. In Traffic & Control Communication 
and Security Communication, in particular, Funkwerk plans to 
concentrate more intensively on internationalising its opera-
tions into non-European countries. The further internationalisa-
tion of our operations, however, poses risks. These primarily 
include risks arising from the general economic, legal and tax 
parameters existing in the various countries, exchange risks, 
and the necessity to comply with current technical standards. 
If Funkwerk is unable to control these risks, this may have a sig-
nificantly detrimental effect on our net asset, financial and earn-
ings position.

The vast majority of sales at Funkwerk are generated in Euro 
and in a number of other currencies. Components and assem-
blies, on the other hand, are purchased largely in foreign curren-
cies, more often than not in US dollar. We therefore face a not in-
considerable exchange risk which may affect the purchase prices, 
currency reserves, liabilities, and with it, the result of Funkwerk. 
The use of exchange rate hedging at Funkwerk may not be enough 
to compensate all exchange rate fluctuations between other cur-
rencies and the Euro, which could have a significantly detrimental 
effect on our net asset, financial and earnings position. 

Dependence on customers  an d certifications

Funkwerk has customers which each generate business of up to 
10 per cent, in one case even slightly over 10 per cent, of total sales. 
The prorated sales volume produced with these customers com-
pared to sales generated in the relevant segment is considerably 
higher in some cases involving key accounts. 

If several key accounts cease purchasing products in the same 
amount from Funkwerk, this may have a significantly detri-
mental effect on the net asset, financial and earnings position 
of Funkwerk.

The success of business at Funkwerk also depends on such factors 
as obtaining sector-specific licences and certification and com-
plying with the prescribed standards and technical regulations 
which govern the introduction of new products and technologies. 

If Funkwerk is unable to develop products which comply with 
the prescribed standards and technical regulations or fails to  
obtain the approval required to market and sell its products in a 
specific country, this could impact business at Funkwerk.

Compliance 

In view of the complexities of our business and the geographical 
location of Funkwerk, violations of the law and criminal acts on 
the part of our employees may not necessarily be discovered and 
prevented in time. 

If employees or third parties acting for Funkwerk leverage or 
provide unfair advantages in connection with business initia-
tions, or use any other illegal business practices, we may face legal 
sanctions such as fines, the exclusion from tenders and the loss of 
contracts, and thus considerable damage to the reputation of Funk-
werk. Funkwerk cannot guarantee that existing and future risk 
management and control procedures at Funkwerk are appropri-
ate to cover every conceivable legal requirement in every country 
and are fully observed by all our employees and other parties act-
ing for Funkwerk, which could have a detrimental effect on the 
net asset, financial and earnings position of Funkwerk.

Infringement of property  rights an d patent violations 

To date, Funkwerk has registered, or applied for registration of, a 
large number of patents and other industrial property rights for 
its products in various countries. Funkwerk cannot guarantee that 
patents based on pending or future patent applications are grant-
ed or that Funkwerk will always be able to protect current and 
future developments, applications and computer programs by 
patent. Even if patents have been, or are, granted, it is not certain 
that the scope of current or future patents is sufficient to provide 
protection vis-à-vis third parties that is economically significant 
or guarantees potential competitive advantages for Funkwerk. 

The success of Funkwerk in developing and marketing its 
products depends quite considerably on such aspects as ensuring 
that third-party property rights are not violated. It cannot be ruled 
out that current or future new and further developments of Funk-
werk will violate third-party property rights and that third par-
ties, as a consequence, assert claims against Funkwerk because of 
a violation and may therefore be entitled to damages or payment of 
royalties from Funkwerk. 

Products of Funkwerk may be flawed. These flaws may be the  
responsibility of Funkwerk or of its suppliers and result in war-
ranty or liability claims from customers or third parties or ad-
versely affect the products’ acceptance in the market and, as a re-
sult, lead to a drop in sales. The fact that no significant claims have 
to date been asserted against Funkwerk does not mean that Funk-
werk will not be subject in the future to considerable warranty and 
liability claims or demands of payment of contractual penalties on 
the part of customers or sales partners. Claims of this nature may 
have a significantly detrimental effect on the net asset, financial 
and earnings position of Funkwerk. There is also the risk if a liabil-
ity case becomes public that it damages the reputation of our prod-
ucts and destroys the basis of trust which we enjoy with our cus-
tomers and adversely affects the acceptance of our products.

Risks  from legal  disputes

Companies in the Funkwerk group are defendants in various  
legal and out-of-court disputes partly with considerable amounts 
involved. The outcome of these proceedings is uncertain and 
there is a risk that we may lose a case or aspects of it. Where 
claims are likely, appropriate provisions have been set up to cover 
any eventualities.

Risks  from our A lgeria business

Funkwerk plettac electronic GmbH, a subsidiary of Funkwerk AG, 
is involved in a joint venture under Algerian law. In connection 
with the internal developments in Algeria described in much  
detail in last year’s report, a preliminary investigation was 
opened against a number of companies and individuals because 
of suspicion of corruption and illegal price increases. Affected 
parties include the joint venture, the Algerian partner and, along 
with other foreign companies, also Funkwerk plettac electronic 
GmbH, but not its management or other employees in the Funk-
werk group or individuals locally involved. In the course of these 
investigations, the accounts of the joint venture were frozen with 
the result that the money on these accounts totalling around 
EUR 4 m, which had been duly paid after completion of work per-
formed and which is due exclusively to Funkwerk plettac elec-
tronic GmbH, cannot currently be transferred to Germany and 
therefore will not be freely available to the Funkwerk group in the 
foreseeable future. Funkwerk has also furnished bank guaran-
tees to the total amount of around EUR 10 m. These were issued by 
Algerian banks based on appropriate counter-guarantee agree-
ments with a number of German banks. Based on the contracts 
with the client, around EUR 7 m in bank guarantees should no 

longer be at risk of claims against Funkwerk due to fulfilment of 
the underlying supply and performance obligations and expiry of 
the contractual warranty periods and due to failure to observe 
the time limit of the guarantees. There is, however, a remaining 
risk involving the bank guarantees not yet returned in so far as 
the German banks have issued »real« counter-guarantees on first 
request to the Algerian banks. 

Risks  relate d to the repay ment of grants   an d 

to tax  audits

The Funkwerk group was and is granted or promised government 
investment subsidies for several development projects and busi-
ness measures. Use of these funds is generally earmarked and 
subject to appropriate terms and conditions. If Funkwerk is un-
able to ensure and demonstrate earmarked use of these funds in 
compliance with these terms and conditions, we may have to  
repay these investment subsidies. 

Funkwerk believes that the tax returns prepared are complete 
and correct. Nonetheless, there is a risk of additional retrospec-
tive tax demands due to different views of facts. Particularly with 
respect to debt claims of EUR 14.7 m and EUR 12.0 m of Vossloh AG, 
the former shareholder and seller, which Vossloh AG waived in 
the preliminary stages of our sale of Funkwerk Information 
Technologies GmbH, Kiel, and Funkwerk Information Technolo-
gies Karlsfeld GmbH, Karlsfeld. We believe these debt claims are 
recoverable. There is, however, a tax risk regarding assessment of 
the value of these claims by the tax authorities, which may result 
in subsequent taxes of up to EUR 4.6 m plus supplementary inter-
est payments from the 2007 assessment year. In 2011, Funkwerk 
appealed against this assessment and applied for a suspension of 
execution. This request for suspension of execution was granted 
by the authorities. An action was filed with the Tax Authorities in 
January 2012. Tax back payments could have a significantly detri-
mental effect on the net asset, financial and earnings position of 
Funkwerk. 
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6.	Remuneration report

The remuneration report of Funkwerk AG is based on the recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code and in-
cludes details that are a component part of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements and the management report under 
the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

E xecutive    Boar d remuneration

The current salary structure for the Executive Board is based on 
the German Act on the Appropriateness of Executive Board Remu-
neration (VorstAG), which came into force on 5 August 2009 and is 
also found in the recommendations of the current German Cor-
porate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board regularly reviews 
this remuneration system and verifies the adequacy of executive 
contracts. In so doing, it ensures that the total emoluments of 
each member of the Executive Board is in appropriate proportion 
to their responsibilities and work, to the economic situation, and 
to the future prospects of the company, and that they do not  
exceed the usual amount without good reason.

Main features of the remuneration system

In agreement with the Code, the following will explain the basic 
features of the remuneration system for the Executive Board of 
Funkwerk AG. In principle, the emoluments of members of the 
Board are made up of a fixed component and a performance- 
related component; their level and structure are determined by 
the Supervisory Board. Executive contracts are concluded for a 
fixed term and provide for a target salary for each year of service.

Fixed component

The component of the board member salary which is not related 
to performance is made up of a fixed salary plus fringe benefits, 
which include private use of a company car and insurance premi-
ums. The fixed annual base salary is paid monthly in equal instal-
ments and is not dependent on certain targets being reached. It is 
reasonable in relation to comparable companies. 

Variable components

The performance-related pay component factors in the achieve-
ment of quantitative and possibly qualitative targets. It is divided 
into an annual management bonus and a component with a long-
term incentive effect.

Short-term remuneration component

Members of the Executive Board receive an annual bonus as a 
short-term variable remuneration component. This payment is 
calculated on the basis of a fixed percentage profit share of 0.8 to 
1.0 per cent of generated earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
and 0.3 per cent of cash flow after investments. It is limited to 1.25 
times the basic salary, of which 20 per cent are retained to offset 
negative amounts which may subsequently accrue, and bears 
interest at 4 per cent. Mr Johann Schmid-Davis also receives an 
annual bonus of EUR 50,000 where predefined qualitative targets 
are met. Members who are on the board only for a portion of the 
financial year are remunerated on a pro rata temporis basis. The 
annual bonus can reduce down to zero. This complies with the 
requirements of the German Act on the Appropriateness of Man-
agement Board Remuneration (VorstAG) and the Code. 

Long-term remuneration component

In order to create incentives for positive performance of the com-
pany in the long term, the Executive Board is given share options. 
The number of options is determined by the Supervisory Board. 
The terms and conditions for exercising these options are identi-
cal with those stipulated for other allottees among our employ-
ees. The share option plan is described in detail in the notes to the 
financial statements under section E (11). Currently, members of the 
board receive share options from the 2008 and 2010 share option 
plans. No share options were granted to them in the reporting 
year and no options were exercised in 2011.

Pension commitments

In addition to remuneration, each member of the board is entitled 
to a pension insurance scheme (pension commitment). Insur-
ances are taken out for each person separately. Contributions un-
der this commitment are paid into a pension fund. The terms and 
conditions of the remuneration are determined by the Super- 
visory Board for the entire term of the employment contract. Com-
pared to other companies, the pension payments of the Executive 
Board of Funkwerk AG are also appropriate. 

Remuneration costs in 2011 

All Executive Board members are entitled to these remuneration 
components and each must tax them as appropriate. The total 
remuneration in 2011 of around EUR 574 k (2010: EUR 539 k) is  
appropriate compared to other companies of similar size. It takes 
account both of the positive and negative developments in the 
company. Furthermore, the individual remuneration compo-
nents keep the Executive Board from taking unreasonable risks. 
In summary, we can confirm that the remuneration of the Exe-

cutive Board of Funkwerk AG meets the requirements of the 
VorstAG and the Code and is geared to sustainability. An indivi-
dual account of the Executive Board remuneration is found in the 
notes to the financial statements under section I (8).

Remuneration  of the Supervisory  Boar d

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is governed by Sec-
tion 12 of the Articles of Incorporation of Funkwerk AG. It is divided 
into a fixed and a variable component as well as a meeting atten-
dance fee. The members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed 
component of EUR 5,000 per financial year and an attendance fee 
of EUR 1,300.00 per session. Under the remuneration system, the 
chairman receives twice, his deputy 1.5 times, the annual pay and 
attendance fee. As a variable component, EUR 1,000 are paid for 
every full 5 cents of dividend paid per share in the financial year.

Members of the Supervisory Board who have not served on the 
Board for a full financial year receive a prorated remuneration. 
Where a member of the Supervisory Board fails to attend a meet-
ing, the pay is reduced accordingly. All components of the remu-
neration for the preceding financial year are payable on conclu-
sion of the annual shareholders’ meeting at which the annual 
accounts for the preceding financial year are presented or approved 
and, where applicable, a resolution is passed on the appropriation 
of profits. Section 113 (2) AktG remains unaffected by this.

The members of the Supervisory Board are further reimbursed 
for their expenses and for any VAT applicable to their remunera-
tion and expenses. 

In the 2011 financial year, the total remuneration amounted 
to around EUR 56.8 k, after EUR 56.3 k in the previous year. An  
individual account of Supervisory Board remuneration in 2010 
and 2011 is found in the notes to the financial statements under 
section I (8).

 7.	Corporate Governance Report 

As a listed German stock corporation, corporate governance at 
Funkwerk AG is dictated in the first instance by the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), but also by the specifications of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code as amended. The current Corpo-
rate Governance report including compliance statement under 
Section 161 AktG is found in the annual report.

The Corporate Governance report is fully disclosed on our 
website at www.funkwerk.com.

8.	Report in compliance with  

	 Section 315 (4) HGB 

There were no changes to the subscribed capital (capital stock) in 
the reporting period. Hence, the subscribed capital of Funkwerk 
AG as at 31 December 2011 was divided into 8,101,241 (2010: 8,101,241) 
non-par-value shares with an accounting value of EUR 1 each. 
The majority shareholder was Hörmann Funkwerk Holding GmbH 
with 4,280,00 shares, which corresponds to 52.83 per cent of the 
capital. As at 31 December 2011, Funkwerk AG held 41,579 own 
shares.

Each share grants one vote in the shareholders’ meeting and 
the right to participate in agreed dividend payouts. There are no 
restrictions relating to the voting rights.

Based on a decision passed at the annual shareholders’ meet-
ing on 28 May 2009, the Executive Board is authorised, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the capital stock  
of the company by up to EUR 4,050,000 by 27 May 2014, through a  
single or repeated issue of new, ordinary bearer shares in the form 
of non-par shares against contributions in cash and / or in kind 
(2009 approved capital). 

Where the shareholders are granted subscription rights, the 
shares may also be offered to a credit institution or a company 
operating in compliance with Section 53 (1) sentence 1 or Section 
53 b (1) sentence 1 or (7) of the German Banking Act (KWG), with 
the undertaking to offer them to the shareholders for subscrip-
tion (indirect subscription right). The Executive Board was also 
authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to sus-
pend the statutory subscription rights of the shareholders,
■■ to exclude subscription rights for fractional amounts.
■■ in case of capital increases against assets in kind in the form 

of companies, divisions, investments in companies, or receiv-
ables from the companies if the shares issued excluding the 
subscription rights do not exceed 4,050,000 shares in total. 

■■ in case of capital increases against cash investments if the 
amount for which the shares are issued is not substantially 
less than the market price of the shares at the time when this 
amount is determined by the Executive Board and the shares 
issued excluding the subscription rights do not exceed 810,000 
shares in total.
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The Executive Board was authorised by the shareholders’ meeting 
of 27 May 2010, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to ac-
quire its own stock up to a share of 10 per cent of the current capi-
tal stock by the end of 26 May 2015. Together with other own stock 
held by the company or attributable to it under Sections 71  a  ff 
AktG, the shares acquired must not at any point exceed 10 per cent 
of the capital stock. The time limit only applies to the acquisition, 
not to ownership of the shares. The shares must be acquired at 
the stock exchange or through a public offer to buy or a public 
request for submission of such an offer.

Under Section 5 (7) — (9) of the Articles of Incorporation, the 
increase in conditional capital is used to issue option rights on 
shares. Option holders may be members of the Executive Board 
of the company, members of the management of affiliated com-
panies, executives of the company and the affiliated companies, 
and other employees of the company and affiliated companies. 
The conditional increase in capital stock is effected only where 
option rights have been issued and are exercised by the author-
ised parties. 

Under Section 5 (10) of the Articles of Incorporation, the in-
crease in conditional capital (conditional capital IV) is used to  
issue convertible and/or warrant bonds. Conditional capital will 
only be increased in so far as the holders or creditors of convertible 
and /  or warrant bonds which the Executive Board was authorised 
to issue based on the resolution passed at the shareholders’ meet-
ing held on 27 May 2010 exercise their conversion privilege or 
option on the shares of the company or meet their conversion obli-
gations under these convertible and /  or option bonds.

With respect to the conditional capital I to IV, please refer to 
the notes to the financial statements section E (11).

Sections 84, 85 and 133, 179 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act have been implemented in the Articles of Incorporation.

 9. Dependent company report 

The Executive Board of Funkwerk AG hereby declares that all legal 
transactions concluded with affiliated companies involved ade-
quate compensation, and that neither party was prejudiced in 
any way. Reference is made to Section 312 (3) sentence 1 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act.

 10. Events after the reporting period

The sale of Funkwerk Enterprise Communications GmbH includ-
ing subsidiaries of our previous EC segment was successfully con-
cluded on 13 January 2012. Upon execution of the notarised con-
tract, these companies passed to the Spanish Teldat group, 
Madrid. As expected, this transaction brought a cash inflow for 
Funkwerk AG of around EUR 8.5 m. 

Under a notarised purchase contract dated 21 March 2012, all 
shares in Funkwerk Avionics GmbH, the existing shareholders’ 
loan and other receivables were sold to a German associated 
company. By the end of March 2012, this sale will add around 
EUR 1.0 m in cash to the books of Funkwerk AG.

In view of the group’s restructuring measures and the funds 
inflow resulting from the sale of companies, the loan syndicate 
headed by Commerzbank AG guaranteed on 26 March 2012 that 
the syndicated loan agreement, which has been in existence 
since March 2011, would be adjusted in an addendum. The adden-
dum will centre on reducing the loan funds from EUR 75.5 m to 
EUR 50.0 m, divided into a cash credit line of EUR 10 m and a bank 
guaranteed credit line of EUR 40 m. At the same time, funds from 
the sales of around EUR 18 m will be made available to Funkwerk 
AG at its free disposal. It was also agreed that the lenders would 
return the existing indemnity bonds received from the »Ger-
many funds« Government / Laender programme. This means that 
from fiscal 2012 the condition whereby the majority shareholder 
of Funkwerk AG is obligated to vote for a retention of earnings at 
the annual general meeting no longer applies. The contractual 
implementation of the addendum is expected by mid– 2012

 11. Forecasting report

General economic setting

In view of the rise in global risks, the majority of research insti-
tutes expects economic growth to temper notably in 2012. The 
IMF, for instance, now predicts economic performance to increase 
by only 3.3 per cent, in contrast to the previous estimate of 4.0 per 
cent. This more cautious forecast comes mainly as a result of the 
risk of recession in the eurozone, where the economy could shrink 
by as much as 0.5 per cent. The industrialised nations should 
grow by 1.2 per cent in total. The prospects for emerging markets 
and developing countries in 2012 are also more conservative than  
 

initially expected. The Monetary Fund predicts that growth 
achieved in this country group could now amount to around 5.4 
per cent. The reason for this damper in momentum, according to 
the IMF, is the slowing effects emanating from the industrialised 
countries along with a poorer domestic demand. The IMF fore-
casts are also based on the assumption that the euro crisis will 
not further escalate and that politicians will find ways and 
means to tackle the challenges in appropriate ways.

Germany is also expected to see a notable slowdown in eco-
nomic activities in 2012. The IMF predicts a rise in gross domestic 
product here by no more than 0.3 per cent. From today’s perspec-
tive, this slowed momentum along with significant global uncer-
tainties will also dampen the propensity to invest. Equipment 
investments, so the expert advisory board says, are now likely to 
increase only moderately by around 3 per cent. In the railway  
sector, the German government is making additional funds 
available as part of its infrastructure acceleration program, to be 
used for the development of the railway infrastructure in 2012. 
Consequently, we can expect sales in the railway sector to grow 
on the whole, but not to the benefit of all subsectors. The param-
eters particularly for communication and information systems 
should remain difficult.

Development in the Funkwerk group 

In 2012, the Funkwerk group will once again be faced with sig-
nificant challenges. As a matter of priority, the measures initi-
ated for our reorientation must be rigorously implemented so 
that Funkwerk can hold its excellent market position and in-
crease its competitive capabilities. Focus will be given specifically 
to advancing our internationalisation, to implementing our new 
operational structure with its defined centralisation measures, 
and to optimising our supply chain management. We will also 
continue to work intensively on consolidating our product port-
folio and base the technology on our restructured business units. 
Other challenges include the more sluggish economic trend in 
our key markets and the persistently difficult situation of govern-
ment authorities facing budget cuts. 

Against this background, we believe 2012 will be a year of con-
solidation and expect sales to remain at prior-year level. We may 
sell or discontinue further peripheral sectors. Our earnings situ-
ation should increasingly benefit from cost reductions as a result  
 
 
 
 

of the restructuring measures initiated so that we foresee a bal-
anced result in operations. From 2013, we anticipate growth stim-
uli to increase sales presumably in the higher single-digit per-
centage range. This is when the restructuring and related cost 
savings measures will for the first time take full effect. We there-
fore expect our operating result to be back in the black again.

Trend and opportunities in the segments

Over the next few years, our TCC segment should see growth par-
ticularly in the international markets. We are therefore expand-
ing our global sales activities through partnerships focusing pri-
marily on such regions as Austria, Switzerland, the Benelux 
countries, Scandinavia, the Eastern European countries, Turkey, 
Russia, the USA, and Australia. Our Rolling Stock BU, i.e. mobile 
systems, on the whole is expected to grow quite significantly by 
2014. Along with our lead in the GSM-R sector, where we are  
involved in several international tenders, we are benefitting here 
from our new focX handhelds. Further impetus from 2013 is  
expected to come from our planned entry in the North American 
market. Our Infrastructure BU is believed to grow moderately 
over the next three years. The product spectrum of TCC will be 
expanded and measures will be taken to reduce the complexity of 
our systems and improve our margins here. In terms of our sig-
nalling technology, we anticipate appreciable increases here over 
the next few years after system approval of Alister for passenger 
transport, which is expected in 2012. In Germany alone, some 
31,000 interlocking systems have reached their age limit, while 
across Europe, a large number also needs to be modernised over 
the next few years. Due to positive references in numerous coun-
tries, there will also likely be increased demand for our Alister 
Cargo system in the cargo sector. 

In our SC segment, the systematic development of our inter-
national partner network will contribute considerably to growth 
over the next few years here. On the product side, we expect to gain 
further market shares in personal emergency call systems — pri-
marily our innovative DECT and TETRA devices. We are making 
efforts to increase our customer base both among penal facilities, 
where we are benefitting from our lead, and in the industry. Our 
new business handheld, D4 Office, which was launched in 2011, 
has also met with a positive response and should gain us further 
market shares. The video systems sector is expected to see the 
highest growth due to our new HD camera and our solution for 
hard shoulder release on motorways. We will further market an  
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innovative compact video monitoring solution, due out in the sec-
ond quarter of 2012, through international system partners and 
expect further impetus here as a result.

The trend in AC over the next few years will be defined to a 
not insignificant degree by preparatory efforts and investments 
relating to our new major contracts. These will likely contribute 
to sales and earnings not until the end of 2013. We are offering 
this solution also to other manufacturers and expect further or-
ders to materialise here. At the same time, we plan to increase 
our group of customers based on our existing product spectrum. 
One of the benefits for us here is the trend towards networking in 
the automobile sector, the increased use of smartphones, and the 
need for wireless charging of a diverse range of equipment in the 
car. We plan to form further strategic partnerships with special-
ised suppliers here, as these will play a key role. This will allow us 
to provide car manufacturers with complete solutions and im-
prove our market share.

 
Financial situation and investments

The notable stabilisation of the financial situation in the Funk-
werk group, which started back towards the end of 2011, will con-
tinue in 2012. Earlier this year, we were able to improve our li-
quidity base by a further around EUR 8 m through payment of the 
purchase prices for Enterprise Communication and Avionics 
GmbH. As a result, the long-term financing provided by the exist-
ing banking syndicate could be adjusted to our requirements and 
secured as described in the section on events after the reporting 
date. 

From today’s perspective, the operating cash flow will be pos-
itive in 2012. This is based on our expectation of a balanced oper-
ating result and on the measures taken to improve our working 
capital. The free cash flow allowing for planned investments and 
the cash inflow from sales to the amount of over EUR 8 m will 
likely be balanced, if not slightly positive. Projections for 2013 also 
provide for a balanced free cash flow. The improved earnings situ-
ation must be seen opposite the necessity to build up our working 
capital because of projected sales increases. 

The investment volume planned for 2012 totals around EUR 
12 m, of which some EUR 6.6 m relate to proprietary develop-
ments. Divided into strategic segments, around half of the total 
budget falls to the major contracts received in AC, which will go 
into call order mass production by the end of 2013. A further focal  
point at around EUR 3.4 m will be our SC segment. Here, we will  
 
 

need to invest specifically in production and in new product de-
velopments also in connection with our planned internationali-
sation. In TCC, our capital spending will focus primarily on re-
placements and new plant capacity to the amount of around EUR 
1.2 m and on development at EUR 0.7 m. Priority here will also be 
given to optimising our product portfolio and to our internation-
alisation. Across the group, the investment budget for 2013 will 
range at around EUR 11.6 m, with the lion’s share of around EUR 
5.6 m once again earmarked for our AC segment. 

Other performance indicators

To improve our supplier structure and purchase conditions, we 
have set up an externally supported project in our Purchasing 
sector which should show initial appreciable successes in 2012. 
Based on this, we will implement specific cost optimisation 
measures that should produce appropriate impetus for the fol-
lowing years. This will help us counter the price increases ex-
pected in 2012 particularly in the electronic components sector, 
where we expect less agreeable purchase conditions due among 
other aspects to more unfavourable exchange rates.

The majority of measures in our Personnel sector required in 
the context of our restructuring have already been implemented. 
In 2012, we will take a look at restructuring particularly our Ad-
ministration and Production in connection with the centralisa-
tion of cross-divisional sectors.

The consolidation of our production facilities begun in 2011 
will be continued throughout the year to further improve our 
efficiency. In a next step, we plan to outsource the production of 
individual components to suppliers and centralise the produc-
tion of switch cabinets at our Kölleda site. At our Salzgitter and 
Kölleda sites, we introduced a lean manufacturing concept for 
selected products towards the end of 2011 which should lead to 
efficiency increases in the two-digit percentage range. This 
project is due to be extended to include other products in the 
course of the year. In addition, we are constantly checking fur-
ther options to optimise our production structure and reduce 
complexities.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic orientation

Over the past few years, Funkwerk has invested in its product 
portfolio and in many sectors now offers innovative solutions 
with unique selling points. In order to participate in the growth 
anticipated in the market segments in which we operate, we are 
investing specifically in key components. This will enable us to 
improve our value added and maintain, or even consolidate, our 
technological lead. Throughout the group we are concentrating 
on products with strong margins, which we are increasingly also 
selling through partners. 

Through wider marketing of our extended product range we 
should see further specific opportunities arise. In future, our work 
will therefore focus on improving our access to markets through 
development of existing sales channels and strategic distribution 
partnerships. We particularly aim to expedite the internationali-
sation of our operations in an efficient and purposeful approach 
through systematic analysis and development of new regions. 

Our group structures will basically be simplified and stream-
lined in order to allow us to use internal synergies in better and 
more effective ways. Central areas such as Purchasing will be 
consolidated and the resources in operations used more inten-
sively across the group. Our development will in future be focused 
more in competence centres. This closer networking should ena-
ble us in the long run to realise considerable savings potential.

In terms of Production, we will improve our efficiency through-
out the group through rigorous outsourcing of standard jobs and 
ongoing optimisation measures. We will also look at all assembly 
and production sites of our group to see where redundant areas 
can be combined and capacity utilisation of these sites can be  
optimised.

As a high technology company, the know-how and expertise 
of our employees are key factors for our success. As a consequence 
it is one of our main priorities to ensure the advancement and 
qualification of all Funkwerk staff and to increase further train-
ing and education opportunities.

On the basis of this strategic orientation, we hope in the long 
term to generate a sustainable result in the group. 

Kölleda, 26 March 2012
— The Executive Board –

Johann M. Schmid-Davis		        Carsten Ahrens

 Responsibility statement  

 by the legal representatives

To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the appli-
cable reporting principles for financial reporting, the consolidat-
ed financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,  
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, and 
the group management report includes a fair review of the devel-
opment and performance of the business and the position of the 
group, together with a description of the principal opportunities 
and risks associated with the expected development of the group.

Kölleda, 26 March 2012
— The Executive Board –

Johann M. Schmid-Davis		        Carsten Ahrens



54	 The Funkwerk share

56	 Report of the Supervisory Board

59	 Corporate Governance Report

61	 Declaration of Compliance 

 02
TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS



5554 F U N K W E R K  AG  >  A N N U A L  R E P O RT  2011 G R O U P  M A N AG E M E N T  R E P O RT

TO  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S  >  T H E  F U N K W E R K  S H A R E

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 

The Funkwerk share

Basic information on the Funkwerk share

■■ First listing: 15 November 2000
■■ Ticker symbol: FEW

■■ ISIN: DE0005753149
■■ WKN: 575314
■■ Stock class: No-par bearer share at a nominal value of EUR 1
■■ Market segment: Prime Standard
■■ Designated Sponsor: Close Brothers Seydler Bank AG

■■ Capital stock: EUR 8,102,241
■■ Number of shares: 8,102,241

2011 proved to be a turbulent year for the international stock mar-
kets. Major events such as the political unrest in North Africa or 
the escalating debt problems of various countries along with  
inconsistent economic indicators led to great uncertainty and 
fluctuating prices. On balance, the majority of the key share indi-
ces suffered losses. This was true primarily for the European 
stock markets, which suffered the most as a result of the eurozone 
crisis, which had taken on dramatic proportions in the latter half 
of the year. Despite a robust domestic activity, these tendencies 
also affected the German stock market. Germany’s leading stock 
index, the DAX, lost 14.7 per cent in the reporting year, while the 
technology index, TecDAX, was down by as much as 19.5 per cent.

PErformance Funkwerk-Share [ inDIcated to 100 ]
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Funkwerk share in the red – Strategic reorientation 
improves prospects

The unstable market environment also took its toll on the price 
performance of Funkwerk’s share. This was aggravated by the 
fact that the development of operations at our company remained 
below our expectations in 2011 due to the difficult economic situ-
ation in a number of key customer sectors. The consistent and 
rigorous implementation of our strategic reorientation measures, 
which we had initiated, and the resulting shedding of activities 
which no longer formed part of our core business led to initial 
successes as early as in second half of the year. This was rewarded 
by the stock market, though it could mitigate the selling pressure 
weighing on Funkwerk’s share only temporarily. In the fourth 
quarter, the price lost further ground. The closing quotation at 
the end of December stood at EUR 2.82, which also marked the 
annual low and meant a drop by 61.0 per cent on the prior-year 
benchmark. The share peaked in early 2011 at EUR 8.14.

Based on the close, the 8.1 million Funkwerk shares had a mar-
ket capitalisation of EUR 22.8 m compared to EUR 58.8 m at the end 
of December 2010.

In early 2012, the Funkwerk share rallied quite significantly 
again. By mid-February its price was up by 20 per cent to EUR 3.40. 
Investors quickly started snapping it up again after progress of 
the restructuring measures became more and more apparent and 
a notable cash injection was booked in January after company  
divestitures. Funkwerk was also able to report success in its oper-
ating business – the company won a landmark contract from 
Deutsche Bahn for one of its key products, the highly efficient 
Alister interlocking system.

Investor Relations activities

Funkwerk AG subscribes to an active information policy. Our aim 
is to apprise investors and financial market players promptly and 
regularly of our economic situation and key events in the company. 
We do so using a number of different instruments including the 
annual and quarterly financial statements. This is complemented 
by press reports released to take up current issues. Comprehen-
sive information is also available at any time on our website at 
www.funkwerk.com.

In addition, we seek direct contact with shareholders, analysts 
and journalists. One of the focal points of our current work is to 
communicate the latest status and objectives of our new  
corporate strategy and the resulting prospects. These were also 
the key topics at our Capital Markets Day 2011, where we provided 
analysts with detailed information and gave the opportunity in 
frank and in-depth talks with the Executive Board and the CEOs 
of individual subsidiaries to gain deeper insight into the Funk-
werk group. A further regular event is the annual press confer-
ence on our financial statements at which we are available to 
journalists and analysts for questions.

Shareholder structure remains unchanged

The shareholder structure of Funkwerk AG as at the end of 2011 
remained unchanged: 52.83 per cent of the shares were held by 
HÖRMANN Funkwerk Holding GmbH, the remaining 47.17 per 
cent of the shares were in free float.
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 Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders, ladies and gentlemen,

Funkwerk as a group is engaged in a difficult restructuring pro-
cess and in 2011 began a fundamental reorientation. In this con-
text, all activities of the group were put to the test, a number of 
companies were sold, and the group structure was streamlined. 
Funkwerk, as a result, managed to achieve important milestones, 
but needs to continue pursuing the measures initiated with vig-
our in the current financial year in order to ensure profitable 
growth again in the long term. On behalf of the Supervisory 
Board, I would like to thank all our employees and the Executive 
Board for their tremendous efforts and achievements. Our thanks 
and appreciation also to the customers and business partners of 
Funkwerk who have supported our reorientation.

In the 2011 financial year, the Supervisory Board once again 
performed the duties incumbent on it by law and the Articles of 
Incorporation with the greatest diligence. It acted in an advisory 
capacity to the Executive Board of Funkwerk AG while monitoring 
its conduct of affairs. The Executive Board informed the Super-
visory Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively both ver-
bally and in writing of any matters relevant to the work of the 
latter. Focal points included the trend of operations and any 
other events of fundamental significance to the development  
of the company. All issues, specifically business requiring approv-
al, were discussed in detail at the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board. Between the meetings, the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board also promptly discussed key issues with the members of 
the board. 

Supervisory Board meetings

In the 2011 financial year, the Supervisory Board assembled for 
six ordinary and one telephone conference. At all meetings, the 
board had a quorum. Conflicts of interest affecting the perfor-
mance of duties performed by members of the Supervisory 
Board did not occur in the reporting year. No committees were 
set up in 2011.

ALFONS HÖRMANN 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Regular points of discussion in the meetings included the pre-
sent state of business, the budgeting and, particularly, the strate-
gic reorientation of the company. Potential sales and an adjust-
ment of the company’s internal structure were further items 
discussed in detail. In addition, the Supervisory Board gave at-
tention throughout the year to the situation in Algeria, where 
Funkwerk discontinued all operations until further notice due 
to the internal conflict in 2010 and the pending action. It also 
focused on the effectiveness of the company’s risk management 
system, the financial, investment and personal planning, and 
the operating targets. The Executive Board presented the latest 
quarterly reports, explained deviations of the trend of business 
from the budget, and agreed the further strategic approach with 
the Supervisory Board. 

In its first meeting of the year held on 24 January 2011, focal 
points alongside regular issues included the preliminary annual 
financial statements of the AG and the group for the 2010 finan-
cial year. The Supervisory Board discussed at length the potential 
financing alternatives to improve the company’s liquidity. A fur-
ther item on the agenda dealt with the ongoing restructuring of 
Funkwerk plettac electronic GmbH. In addition to the latest de-
velopments of the project, attention was given to the progress 
made and to the challenges still ahead. 

Items on the agenda for the meeting held on 18 March in-
cluded the syndicated loan agreement of EUR 75.5 m produced by 
the Executive Board, the agenda for the annual general meet-
ing, and the election of a new chairman for the Supervisory 
Board along with his deputy. The plenum also looked into the 
requirements of the German Corporate Governance Code as 
amended on 26 May 2010 and finalised the current declaration 
of conformity in accordance with Section 161 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). This declaration is printed in the 
current annual report and is available on the company website 
at www.funkwerk.com. The annual accounts and the consoli-
dated financial statements of Funkwerk AG as at 31 December 
2010 along with the management report were discussed at 
length in the presence of the auditors. Calling a telephone con-
ference on 29 March 2011, the Supervisory Board subsequently 
voted to approve and adopt the annual accounts of the AG and 
the consolidated financial statements along with the subordi-
nate status report by written circulation. 

The meeting convened on 19 May was focused on such issues 
as the current status of the restructuring process and on planned 
company sales. The content of ongoing negotiations was discussed 
in detail and potential strategic courses considered.

In the context of the Supervisory Board meeting on 23 August, a 
key issue looked at was the syndicated financing valued in mid 
July. In this context, the board also discussed internal measures 
to improve the company’s liquidity. A further item on the agenda 
involved the revision of the Rules of Internal Procedure for the 
Executive Board, which were approved by the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board also agreed to the sale of the subsidiary 
Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH and the Executive Board 
presented the future organisation of Funkwerk AG along with the 
planned streamlining of corporate divisions.

The new division structure was again discussed at the follow-
ing meeting held on 11 October and approved by the Supervisory 
Board. Further discussions focused on alternatives to optimising 
the location structure including potential options of consolidating 
production facilities. The board further approved the sale of the 
Enterprise Communications segment including associated sub-
sidiaries and considered in detail the corporate planning for the 
next three years.

At the last meeting held on 15 December 2011 and at a follow-
up meeting called for 4 January 2012, the board discussed at 
length the further development of the Automotive Communica-
tion segment and its investment planning and presented the 
liquidity trend in fiscal 2011 along with the expected require-
ment for 2012. 

Annual accounts and consolidated  
financial statements

On 19 May 2011, the annual general meeting of Funkwerk AG 
elected KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, as 
the auditor and group auditor for the 2011 financial year. KPMG 
audited the annual accounts of Funkwerk AG prepared in compli-
ance with the German Commercial Code (HGB), the management 
report and the related party report along with the consolidated 
financial statements prepared under IFRS and the group manage-
ment report, providing these with an unqualified audit certificate. 
The management reports adequately describe the situation of the 
AG and the group along with the opportunities and risks of future 
development. The auditor further assessed the quality of the risk 
management system in positive terms. 
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The financial statements and the audit reports were made avail-
able to all members of the Supervisory Board in due time. These 
were then discussed at length at the ordinary Supervisory Board 
meeting on 26 March 2012. Representatives of the auditor present 
at this meeting reported on the results of their audits and were 
then available for further information. They confirmed to the Su-
pervisory Board the effectiveness of the risk management system 
and the internal control system. They also affirmed that they did 
not perform any services of significance other than the audit for 
Funkwerk AG in the reporting year and that there were no cir-
cumstances affecting their independence. The final result of the 
review of the annual accounts and the management reports of 
both the AG and the group by the Supervisory Board did not lead 
to any objections. The members of the Supervisory Board approved 
the annual accounts of the AG and the consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the Executive Board for fiscal 2011. The 
annual accounts of Funkwerk AG are therefore adopted. The Su-
pervisory Board consented to the proposal of the Executive Board 
to carry the annual deficit over to new account. 

KPMG AG also audited the report on relationships with asso-
ciated companies (dependent company report) prepared by the 
Executive Board in compliance with Section 312 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act. The auditor issued the following audit 
certificate regarding the result:

»Following our dutiful audit and assessment, we hereby con-
firm that the actual information contained in the report is correct, 
that payments of the company for the legal transactions specified 
in the report were not inappropriately high or that disadvantages 
were balanced, and that there are no circumstances relating to 
the measures described in the report which indicate a fundamen-
tally different assessment than given by the Executive Board.«

The Supervisory Board also examined the dependent company 
report. It raised no objections to the final declaration of the Ex-
ecutive Board in the report and the result of the audit conducted 
by the auditors.

Personnel matters

On 18 March 2011, Mr Maximilian Ardelt (Dipl. Ing.) resigned from 
his office as chairman of the Supervisory Board and retired from 
the board with effect from the end of the annual general meeting 
held on 19 May 2011. The Supervisory Board thanks Mr Ardelt for 
his always constructive cooperation. The annual general meeting 
on 19 May 2011 voted Mr Manfred Egner (Dr. Ing.) onto the Super-
visory Board to stand in for Mr Manfred Egner with immediate 

effect for the remaining term of the latter. At the general meeting 
on 18 March 2011, the plenum appointed Mr Alfons Hörmann as 
chairman of the board and Prof. Dr. Ing. Gerhard Fettweis as his 
deputy.

Changes made in fiscal 2011 also affected the Executive Board 
of Funkwerk AG: Chairman of the Board Dr. Hans Grundner re-
tired from the company at his own request on 19 May. The Super-
visory Board thanks Dr. Grundner for his great commitment and 
dedication over the past years. His duties were transferred to CFO 
Johann Schmid-Davis and CTO Carsten Ahrens, who have since 
managed the company on an equal footing.

The Supervisory Board wishes the Executive Board and all 
employees of the company all the very best in meeting the chal-
lenges facing us in the current financial year.

Kölleda, March 2012
For the Supervisory Board

Alfons Hörmann
Chairman

Members of the Supervisory Board

■■ Alfons Hörmann, CEO of Hörmann Holding & Co. KG,  
Kirchseeon, Chairman (since 18 March 2011)

■■ Prof. Dr. Gerhard P. Fettweis, professor, Dresden 
Deputy chairman (since 18 March 2011)

■■ Dr. Ing. Manfred Egner, executive manager of Freudenberg & 
Co. Kommanditgesellschaft, Aidlingen (since 19 May 2011)

■■ Maximilian Ardelt, entrepreneur, Starnberg  
(until 19 May 2011)

 Corporate Governance Report

Funkwerk AG is committed to responsible and transparent corpo-
rate management and control (corporate governance). Our princi-
ples of corporate governance are based on the legal requirements, 
the company’s articles of incorporation, the Rules of Internal 
Procedure for the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, 
and the German Corporate Governance Code (the Code). These 
principles factor into every decision-making process. Over and 
above the Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board and the 
management of Funkwerk AG act on the basis of a code of conduct 
drawn up internally to comply with strict insider regulations. The 
appropriate Insider Trading Policy and Publication Guidelines 
are published on the website of Funkwerk AG. 

Funkwerk AG complies with the majority of the recommen-
dations and proposals of the German Corporate Governance Code 
as amended on 26 May 2010. Deviations and their reasons are ex-
plained in our current declaration of compliance issued by the 
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board in accordance with 
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) of March 
2011. This can be found in this annual report on page 61 and is also 
available along with the declarations of previous years on our 
website at www.funkwerk.com. 

Under the terms of item 3.10 of the Code, the following pro-
vides details of corporate governance at Funkwerk. This report is 
also part and parcel of the Statement of Corporate Governance 
found on our website in the »Investor Relations« section.

Shareholders and shareholders’ meetings

At the end of 2011, Funkwerk AG reported a share capital of EUR 
8,102,241, divided into as many non-par owner shares. Each share 
strictly grants one vote at the annual shareholders’ meeting. The 
Executive Board of the company is responsible for ensuring the 
timely mailing of all reports and documents including agenda 
required by law for the annual shareholders’ meeting. These doc-
uments along with a list of those present and the results of votes 
at the shareholders’ meeting are also published on our website. 
Furthermore, shareholders are given opportunity via electronic 
communication to direct questions at the Investor Relations de-
partment.

In the course of the annual shareholders’ meeting, the Executive 
Board presents the annual financial statements of the preceding 
financial year and comments on the main events. Every share-
holder is entitled to attend the shareholders’ meeting, to address 
the meeting on any items on the agenda, and to pose related 
questions or file motions. Shareholders who are prevented from 
attending the shareholders’ meeting may exercise their voting 
rights by a duly authorised representative, or by a proxy of Funk-
werk AG subject to instructions. These proxies may be authorised 
and instructed at any time and are available to all shareholders 
throughout the meeting. The annual shareholders’ meeting in 
2010 decided to introduce the option for shareholders to submit 
their votes by post. This option was not yet put into effect in the 
2011 shareholders’ meeting. 

Executive Board

Since the retirement of the previous chairman, Dr. Hans Grund-
ner, on 19 May 2011, the Executive Board of Funkwerk AG com-
prises two members, who manage the company on an equal foot-
ing. These are introduced on page 116 of this annual report.

The Executive Board is responsible for the corporate manage-
ment and acts in the interest of the company with a view to in-
creasing its value on a sustainable basis. For this purpose, it sets 
up an appropriate strategy which it agrees with the Superviso-
ry Board and ensures its implementation. Its responsibilities 
further include effective opportunity and risk management and 
controlling, the preparation of annual financial statements for 
the company (AG) and the group and the interim and quarterly 
statements of account. The Executive Board fills management 
positions in the company with a view to ensuring diversity and 
specifically aims to provide for an appropriate level of female 
representation.

The collaboration within the Executive Board is governed by 
Rules of Internal Procedure, which were stipulated by the Super-
visory Board most recently in August 2011. These also specify the 
areas of responsibility of board members, matters which concern 
the entire Executive Board, the majority required for resolutions, 
and a catalogue of transactions requiring approval. Detailed infor-
mation on the remuneration of the Executive Board is provided 
in the remuneration report on page 46 of this annual report. The 
Executive Board did not hold any reportable second jobs in the 
reporting year. 
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Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG comprises three mem-
bers, who are introduced in the report of the Supervisory Board 
on page 56 and in the notes to the financial statements on page 
117. The work of the Supervisory Board is governed by Rules of In-
ternal Procedure and its efficiency is regularly monitored. 

In terms of key responsibilities, the Supervisory Board advises 
and supervises the Executive Board in its management of the 
company. Where decisions of fundamental importance to the 
company are required, it is involved in the decision-making pro-
cess from the very outset. The Supervisory Board also specifies 
the information and reporting requirements of the Executive 
Board vis-à-vis the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board regu-
larly, promptly and comprehensively informs the Supervisory 
Board of all relevant issues related to corporate planning, business 
development, the risk situation and risk management. Deviations 
of the targets from the actual course of business are discussed. 
Based on the results of the auditor’s report, the Supervisory Board 
then reviews the annual financial statements of the company 
and the group. The interim and quarterly statements of account 
are also discussed with the Supervisory Board prior to their pub-
lication.

The Supervisory Board of Funkwerk is composed so as to ensure 
that the knowledge, ability and professional experience required to 
properly complete the tasks of the board are covered. All members 
of the Supervisory Board are proven experts in their field. We fur-
ther endorse the diversity required by the Code. We aim for a com-
position of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board which 
typifies especially the criterion of internationality and ensures 
an appropriate level of female representation. A specific number 
or quota of females has not been determined. 

The various responsibilities of the board are coordinated by 
the chairman of the board, who also remains in close contact with 
the Executive Board for a regular dialogue. The structure and level 
of remuneration of the Supervisory Board are detailed in the re-
muneration report on page 46. The members of the Supervisory 
Board hold at most a further three seats on the Supervisory 
Boards of other listed companies or in supervisory bodies of com-
panies with similar requirements. The company adequately sup-
ports the board members in independently pursuing training 
and further education measures required to perform their duties. 

The Supervisory Board convenes on a regular basis, having 
held six ordinary meetings and one telephone conference in 2011. 
Issues discussed in these instances are detailed in the report of 
the Supervisory Board on page 56. Where necessary, the Super-
visory Board also meets without the Executive Board.

Cooperation of Executive Board and Supervisory Board

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG 
work together in close cooperation for the good of the company 
maintaining a basis of trust. The Executive Board agrees the 
strategic orientation with the Supervisory Board and regularly 
discusses with it the progress and stage reached in implementing 
the strategy. The Supervisory Board is also regularly, promptly 
and comprehensively informed of any key events and of the cor-
porate planning, the trend of business and the risk situation. The 
information and reporting requirements of the Executive Board 
are stipulated in the Rules of Internal Procedure for the Executive 
Board. At Supervisory Board meetings, the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board discuss key strategic decisions and trans-
actions requiring approval in great detail in an open dialogue 
while maintaining strict confidentiality. In addition to the ordi-
nary meetings, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
met regularly to deliberate on relevant topical issues. Further 
information on the cooperation of both boards is provided in the 
report of the Supervisory Board (page 56). 

Funkwerk AG has concluded a D&O insurance for the Execu-
tive Board and the Supervisory Board. Contrary to the German 
Corporate Governance Code, it does not include an excess for 
the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board of Funkwerk AG hold the view that the due diligence and 
sense of responsibility which the members of the Supervisory 
Board exercise at all times as a matter of principle in the perfor-
mance of their duties could not be further optimised through 
agreement of an excess. As stipulated in Section 93 (1) of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the current employment 
contracts of Executive Board members include an excess of 10 per 
cent of the damage up to at least one and a half times their fixed 
annual remuneration.

Transparency

Funkwerk AG notifies its shareholders, the shareholders’ meet-
ings, financial analysts, the media and the interested public 
equally, promptly and in detail of the development of the com-
pany and any key events. In so doing, the company uses a variety 
of communication channels. All mandatory publications along 
with comprehensive additional information are always available 
in up-to-date versions on the website of Funkwerk AG. The latter 
also provides the latest financial calendar containing key dates of 
publications and events. Publications such as ad hoc releases, 
press information, interim and annual reports are published in 

both German and English. At regular capital market conferences 
we regularly meet analysts and institutional investors to engage 
in an intensive dialogue. The presentations held at these events 
are also made available on our website. 

All share transactions of the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board and of related parties (Directors’ Dealings under 
Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act – WpHG) are pub-
lished on the website of Funkwerk AG as soon as the company is 
appropriately informed. No such transactions were reported in 
fiscal 2011.

Remuneration report

The remuneration report of Funkwerk AG is based on the rec-
ommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code and 
includes details that are a component part of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements and the management report 
under the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). A 
detailed account is given in the management report on page 46 
and in the notes to the financial statements on page 118.

Declaration of compliance

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG 
hereby declare compliance – both currently and in the past – with 
the recommendations of the »Government Commission on the 
German Corporate Governance Code« as amended on 26 May 2010 
and published by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official 
section of the electronic Federal Gazette:
1.	 The German Corporate Governance Code recommends that 

the company also assist the shareholders in the use of postal 
votes and proxies (item 2.3.3 of the Code). Funkwerk AG has 
already taken the precaution through the resolution passed at 
the shareholders’ meeting on 27 May 2010 of introducing a 
new clause in its Articles of Incorporation authorising the Ex-
ecutive Board to allow a postal vote in accordance with the 
option granted in Section 118 (2) AktG. We believe that postal 
votes have not to date been sufficiently tested. Against this 
background and in consideration of the administrative work 
involved in a postal vote and the option of instructing a repre-
sentative appointed by the company to exercise shareholders’ 
voting rights, the Executive Board does not intend to utilise 

its authorisation to allow a postal vote at the annual share-
holders’ meeting in 2012.

2.	 The German Corporate Governance Code recommends for 
D&O insurances for the Supervisory Board the agreement of 
an excess of at least 10% of the damage up to at least 1.5 times 
the fixed annual remuneration (item 3.8 of the Code). The 
D&O insurance contract concluded for the Supervisory Board 
of Funkwerk AG does not provide for an excess. The Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG hold the 
view that the due diligence and sense of responsibility which 
the members of the Supervisory Board already exercise at all 
times in the performance of their duties could not be further 
optimised through agreement of an excess.

3.	 The German Corporate Governance Code recommends that the 
Supervisory Board set up qualified committees (item 5.3.1 of 
the Code), specifically an audit committee (item 5.3.2 of the 
Code) and a nomination committee (item 5.3.3 of the Code). 
Since the Supervisory Board does not comprise more than 
three members, the setup of committees is considered im-
practical. The duties assigned to the audit committee are 
performed jointly by the whole Supervisory Board.

4.	 The German Corporate Governance Code recommends that 
the Supervisory Board specify concrete objectives regarding 
its composition, which, whilst considering the specifics of 
the company, take into account the international activities 
of the company, potential conflicts of interest, an age limit to 
be specified for the members of the Supervisory Board and di-
versity, and stipulate an appropriate degree of female repre-
sentation (item 5.4.1 of the Code). The Supervisory Board is of 
the opinion that decisions on Supervisory Board candidates 
should still be made on the basis of whether relevant candi-
dates possess the knowledge, ability and expert experience 
required to properly complete the tasks of the Supervisory 
Board. The implementation of the concrete objectives recom-
mended in item 5.4.1. para. 2 of the Code regarding specific 
criteria for recommendations of candidates for the Supervisory 
Board opposite other criteria will not be realised. The Super-
visory Board intends to continue deciding on recommenda-
tions for its composition on a case-by-case basis based on the 
given specific situation.

Funkwerk AG

Kölleda, 26 March 2012
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG
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 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position acc. to IFRS as  at 31. DEcEMBER 2011

aSSETS

NOTES

31/12 /2011

€ K

31/12 /2010

€ K

A.	 Long-Term Assets

1.	 Intangible assets 	 E. 	 (1) 24,607 35,658

2.	 Tangible assets 	 E.	 (1) 12,252 14,224

3.	 Other assets 	 E.	 (1) 4 43

36,863 49,925

B.	 SHORT-Term Assets

1.	 Inventories 	 E.	 (3) 35,611 43,560

2.	 Trade accounts receivable 	 E.	 (4) 33,991 27,629

3.	 Receivables from projects in progress 	 E.	 (5) 4,733 8,017

4.	 Due from affiliated companies 	 E.	 (6) 52 206

5.	 Tax refund claims 	 E.	 (7) 1,010 1,304

6.	 Other assets 	 E.	 (8) 1,602 3,026

7.	 Financial assets 	 E.	 (9) 11,997 3,969

8.	 Liquid assets 	 E.	 (9) 17,424 12,056

9.	 Long-term assets available for sale 	 E.	 (10) 14,631 0

 121,051 99,767

157,914 149,692

LIABILITIES

NOTES

31/12 /2011

€ K

31/12 /2010

€ K

A.	 L IABILITIES 	 E.	 (11)

1.	 Subscribed capital 8,101 8,101

2.	 Capital reserve 63,529 63,422

3.	 Retained earnings (revenue reserve) 38,211 38,211

4.	 Own shares – 1,062 – 1,062

5.	 Net loss for the year – 59,915 – 43,976

6.	 Foreign currency items – 204 – 237

Equity of Funkwerk AG shareholders 48,660 64,459

48,660 64,459

B.	 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

1.	 Pension obligations E. (12) 12,822 12,525

2.	 Deferred investment subsidies E. (13) 517 874

3.	 Deferred taxes E. (14) 1,066 1,071

4.	 Financial liabilities E. (15) 0 12

 14,405 14,482

C.	 SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

1.	 Financial liabilities E. (15) 12,886 422

2.	 Trade accounts payable E. (16) 27,939 29,368

3.	 Advance payments received on orders E. (17) 9,004 8,735

4.	 Due to affiliated companies	 E. (18) 390 56

5.	 Tax liabilities 	 E.	 (19) 5,674 3,867

6.	 Accured liabilities 	 E.	(20) 11,532 14,323

7.	 Deferred investment subsidies 	 E.	 (13) 87 138

8.	 Other liabilities 	 E.	 (21) 11,679 13,842

9.	 Liabilities held for sale 	 	 E.	 (10) 15,658 0

 94,849 70,751

157,914 149,692
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Statement of Comprehensive Income ACC. TO IFRS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR FROm 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2011

NOTES

2011

€ k

2010

€ k

Continued segments 

  1. Sales revenues 	 F.	(22) 164,569 168,638

 2. Decrease (2010: Increase) in finished goods inventories and work in progress – 1,936 438

 3. Other own work capitalised 5,641 7,354

 4. Other operating income 	 F.	(25) 6,655 6,844

  5. Total operating performance 174,929 183,274

 6. Cost of materials 	 F.	(23)  83,820  90,253

 7. Personnel expenses 	 F.	(24) 62,488  63,363

 8. Planned depreciation  7,801  7,058

 9. Other operating expenses 	 F.	(26)  23,972  24,283

10. Operating result before impairment charges and restructuring costs – 3,152 – 1,683

11. Depreciation and other expenses from the project business Algeria 	 F.	(27) 0  7,816

12. Impairment charges for intangible assets 	 F.	(27)  5,278  3,432

13. Restructuring costs 	 F.	(28)  4,693  2,004

14. Operating result / EBIT – 13,123 – 14,935

15. Financial income 228 482

16. Financial expenses – 2,445 – 2,155

17. Financial results 	 F.	(29) – 2,217 – 1,673

18. Earnings before taxes – 15,340 – 16,608

19. Taxes on income 	 F.	(30) – 3,609 – 6,089

20. Result of continued segments – 18,949 – 22,697

21.	Result of sold business segments (after tax)	 	 C.	 (1) 3,010 – 2,183

22.	Earnings after taxes / result for the year	 – 15,939 – 24,880

Amounts directly included in equity

23. Currency differences 33 86

24. Other period results – continued segments 	 33 86

25. Other period results – sold business segments 0 0

26. Total – 15,906 – 24,794

The result for the year comprises

Funkwerk AG shareholders 	 – 15,939 – 24,880

The amounts directly included in equity comprise

Funkwerk AG shareholders 33 86

Earnings per share

Earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) E. (11) – 1.98 – 3.08

Earnings per share continued segments 

Earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) 	 E. (11) – 2.35 – 2.82

 Consolidated Statement of Cash flows Acc. to IFRS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR FROm 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2011

NOTES

2011

€ k

2010

€ k

 1. Annual result – 15,939 – 24,880

 2. Income tax expenditure 	 F.	(30) 4,133 7,566

 3. Depreciation of development costs 	 E.	 (1) 8,077 4,554

 4. Amortisation of goodwill 	 E.	 (1) 1,850 1,000

 5. Depreciation of tangible assets and intangible assets 	 E.	 (1) 5,156 6,475

 6. Writedown of investments 	 F.	(29) 24 0

 7. Earnings from financial assets reported using the equity method 	 0 786

 8. Other non-cash expenditure and income 	 G.	 (31) – 4,955 7,395

 9. Reversal of investment subsidies 	 F.	(25) – 1,079 – 236

10. Changes in reserves –2,573 1,249

11. Loss from disposal of fixed assets – 10 – 330

12. Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets –3,944 – 3,315

13. Changes in advance payments received on orders 332 1,386

14. Changes in other debts 2,144 3,627

15. Interest income 	 F.	(29) –132 – 145

16. Interest expenditure 	 F.	(29) 1,581 1,347

17. Interest paid 	 – 387 – 569

18. Interest received 96 34

19. Paid / received income tax – 301 – 1,582

20. Cash flow from operating activities 	 G.	 (31) – 5,927 4,362

21. Reiceipts from the disposal of fixed assets 21 432

22. Payments for investments and development costs – 7,384 – 9,438

23. �Payments for investments in intangible assets without goodwill and development costs – 1,192 – 847

24. Payments for investments in fixed assets – 2,716 – 1,774

25. Receipts from investment subsidies 1,115 126

26. Acquisition of participating interests 0 51

27. Receipts (2010: Payments) for deconsolidating 	 9,644 – 1,144

28. Cash flow from investing activities 	 G.	(32) –512 – 12,594

29. Free Cash flow 	 G.	(34) – 6,439 – 8,232

30. Receipts from take-up of (financial) credit 12,500 0

31. Payments for the redemption of (financial) credit – 166 – 1,853

32. Cash flow from financing activities 	 G.	(35) 12,334 – 1,853

33. Net change in cash and cash equivalents 5,895 – 10,085

34. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 12,056 22,141

35. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period G. (36) 17,951 12,056
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NOTES SUBSCRIBED 

CAPITAL

 

€ k

CAPITAL RESERVE

 

 

€ k

REVENUE REVERSE

 

 

€ k

OWN SHARES

 

€ k

January 1, 2010 8,101 63,270 38,211 – 1,062

Group profit for the year E.  (11) 0 0 0 0

Foreign currency items 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

Share options (IFRS 2) E.  (11) 0 152 0 0

Change in minority interests E.  (11) 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners 0 152 0 0

December 31, 2010 8,101 63,422 38,211 – 1,062

January 1, 2011 8,101 63,422 38,211 – 1,062

Group profit for the year E.  (11) 0 0 0 0

Foreign currency items 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

Share options (IFRS 2) E.  (11) 0 107 0 0

Change in minority interests E.  (11) 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners 0 107 0 0

December 31, 2011 8,101 63,529 38,211 – 1,062

 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ACC. TO IFRS

Net Loss  

for Year

 

€ k

Foreign Curr. 

Item

 

€ k

Equity of

Funkwerk AG

Shareholders

€ k

Minority 

Interests

  

€ k

Total

€ k

– 19,096 – 323 89,101 14 89,115

– 24,880 0 – 24,880 0 – 24,880

0 86 86 0 86

– 24,880 86 – 24,794 0 – 24,794

0 0 152 0 152

0 0 0 – 14 – 14

0 0 152 – 14 138

– 43,976 – 237 64,459 0 64,459

– 43,976 – 237 64,459 0 64,459

– 15,939 0 – 15,939 0 – 15,939

0 33 33 0 33

– 15,939 33 – 15,906 0 – 15,906

0 0 107 0 107

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 107 0 107

– 59,915 – 204 48,660 0 48,660
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 Notes on the 2011 Consolidated Financial Statements 

A. Description of group relations

Parent  company 

The parent company is Funkwerk AG, Im Funkwerk 5, 99625 Kölleda, (hereinafter also referred to as »Funkwerk« 
or the »corporation«), entered in the Jena Commercial Register, Division B, under number 111457. 

Funkwerk AG is quoted on the German Stock Market in Frankfurt/Main and is listed in the Prime Stand-
ard (WKN: 575 314). It is also quoted on other German stock markets.

The group is divided into the following three strategic business segments:
The Traffic & Control Communication (TCC) segment of Funkwerk provides innovative solutions involving 

communication technology that is geared to automate and rationalise operations in transport, logistics and 
the industry and meet ever more stringent security standards. The key focus of this segment is on mobile 
radio solutions, management systems and information systems for transport services, forwarders and logis-
tics companies, and the industry.

In Automotive Communication (AC), Funkwerk concentrates on new possibilities of secure, interference-
free mobile communication and ensuring their accessibility to vehicle users anywhere. Primary emphasis is 
given to high-quality, simple operation with user-friendly functions and infotainment. 

Using special and security-orientated communication systems in the fields of personal and building se-
curity, video monitoring and property protection, the Security Communication (SC) segment addresses the 
target groups of industrial and energy companies, authorities and organisations with security functions 
(BOS), public transport, railways, airports, transport infrastructure, correctional facilities and forensic insti-
tutes. 

In addition, there is the Enterprise Communication (EC) segment, which, in the context of the focussing 
on the core areas, is now no longer defined as a strategic business segment. The aim of EC is to provide cus-
tomised communication solutions tailored to meet the business communication requirements of its custom-
ers efficiently, economically, and reliably. The product portfolio comprises network components, telecommu-
nication systems and products for data security, which are more intensively focused on integrated 
infrastructure solutions for small and medium-sized data networks.

Under Section 291 (2) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the companies Hörmann-Funkwerk Kölleda 
GmbH, Funkwerk Dabendorf GmbH, Funkwerk Enterprise Communications GmbH, Funkwerk Security Com-
munications GmbH and Funkwerk Information Technologies GmbH are exempt from the preparation of con-
solidated financial statements. In compliance with Section 315a of the HGB, the consolidated financial state-
ments of Funkwerk were drawn up in line with the IFRS; the prerequisites for this are satisfied.

The companies of the Funkwerk group are included in the consolidated financial statements of Hörmann 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchseeon. The consolidated financial statements of the group company Hörmann 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchseeon, are submitted to the electronic version of the Federal Official Gazette.

B. Accounting rules

a )	 Principles  for applying   the IFR S stan dar ds

Funkwerk’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) passed and published by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), as were endorsed by the European Union at the time of releasing the consolidated financial statements 
and were mandatory on said date. These contain the IAS and IFRS that were mandatory on the reporting date 
of 31 December 2011 and their corresponding interpretations (SIC / IFRIC). 

The following standards have become applicable for the first time in the 2011 financial year and are relevant 
for Funkwerk:
■■ Improvements to IFRS 2010 

In the context of the annual improvement project, eleven amendments were made to six standards and also 
one interpretation. The adaptation of formulations in individual IFRS standards is intended to achieve clar-
ity in the existing regulations. In addition, there are also changes affecting the balance-sheet reporting, the 
amount reported or the valuation. The standards concerned are: IAS 1, IAS 27 (in connection with IAS 21, 28 
and 31), IAS 34, IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 7 and the interpretation IFRIC 13.

The changes have no significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of Funkwerk AG.
No application was made of the possibility of making early use of new standards, revisions of standards 

and interpretations, which had already been passed by 31 December 2011 and adopted by the European Union 
before the release of the consolidated financial statements. 

The following amendment published by the IASB and the standard and interpretation passed by the 
European Union are currently not yet used. Their use would not likely have led to any essential changes in the 
accounting and valuation principles:
■■ IFRS 7	� Enhanced disclosure requirements in the financial statements for transfer transactions of 

financial assets

The following amendments, published by the IASB, to standards and interpretations still require adoption 
by the EU into European law and are currently not yet applied. Their use would not likely have led to any 
essential changes in the accounting and valuation principles:
■■ IAS 1 		 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income
■■ IAS 19 	� Supplement to accounting rules and figures in the financial statements for employe benefits
■■ IAS 28 	 Guidelines for accounting on associates and regulations on the use of the equity method
■■ IAS 32 	 Accounting rules for balancing of financial assets and liabilities
■■ IFRS 7 	� Enhanced disclosure requirements in the financial statements for balancing of financial 

assets and liabilities
■■ IFRS 7 / IFRS 9 	� Regulations for the mandatory use of IFRS 9 and for enhanced disclosures in the financial 

statements during the transitional phase from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

■■ IFRS 9 	 Supplement to the regulations for the reporting of financial liabilities
■■ IFRS 10 	� Accounting rules for the presentation of consolidated financial statements and explanations 

on the principle of control
■■ IFRS 11 	 Supplement to the regulations for joint arrangements and their reporting
■■ IFRS 12 	 Enhanced disclosure of interests in other entities
■■ IFRS 13 	 Guidelines and disclosure requirement for fair value measurement

For the application of special IFRS regulations, please refer to the explanations on individual balance sheet 
items further below in these Notes.

The financial statements were prepared on the basis of historic purchase and production costs, with the 
exception of certain financial instruments which were reported at the fair market value. 

Unless otherwise stated, all figures of the consolidated financial statements are stated in thousands of 
euro (EUR k). 

The balance sheet format follows the provisions of IAS 1.54 to 1.76. Short-term and long-term assets and 
short-term and long-term liabilities are shown on the balance sheet as separate classifications.
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The statement of income and accumulated earnings was prepared with due regard to the provisions of IAS 

1.82 to 1.96 and structured using the aggregate cost method. Since the 2009 financial year, the breakdown of 
the statement of income and accumulated earnings have been expanded to give better comparability. In the 
transition to the operating result (EBIT), an intermediate result is shown as the operating result before im-
pairment charges and restructuring costs as well as separated expenditure items, impairment charges relat-
ing to intangible assets and restructuring costs. Furthermore, for the 2010 financial year, an additional ex-
penditure item was also shown separately: impairment charges from the Algerian project business.

As a result of relinquishing business segments, the balance-sheet, the statement of income and accumu-
lated earnings and the consolidated cash flow statement were drawn up using the regulations of IFRS 5.

b)	 Other

The financial year is the calendar year.
On 26 March 2012, the Executive Board of Funkwerk AG approved the 2011 consolidated financial state-

ments for forwarding to the Supervisory Board. It is incumbent on the Supervisory Board to audit the con-
solidated financial statements and to state whether it endorses it.

C. The Consolidated Group

1.	 Consolidated companies 

The consolidated financial statements of Funkwerk AG include all companies that are controlled directly or 
indirectly by the parent company. Control is deemed to be acquired if the company is able to determine the 
financial and business policy of a subsidiary in order to gain benefit from the subsidiary’s activity. The results 
of the subsidiaries bought or sold during the course of the year are reported correspondingly in the statement 
of income and accumulated earnings as from the actual date of acquisition or until the actual date of sale. As 
and where necessary, the subsidiaries’ annual financial statements have been adjusted in order to match the 
accounting and valuation principles to suit those used within the consolidated group.

In addition to Funkwerk AG, the following companies are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial 
statements (Germany, unless otherwise stated):

Direct subsidiaries Registered office Voting rights 

in %

Hörmann-Funkwerk Kölleda GmbH (HFWK) Kölleda, Thüringen 100

Funkwerk Dabendorf GmbH (FWD) Zossen, Brandenburg 100

Funkwerk Enterprise Communications GmbH (FEC) Nuremberg, Bavaria 100

Funkwerk Information Technologies GmbH (FIT) Kiel, Schleswig-Holstein 100

Funkwerk Security Communications GmbH (FSC) Salzgitter, Lower-Saxony 100

FunkTech GmbH Nuremberg, Bavaria 100

Indirect subsidiaries Registered office Voting rights 

in %

Funkwerk eurotelematik GmbH Ulm, Baden-Württemberg 100

Funkwerk Avionics GmbH Waal, Bavaria 100

Funkwerk Enterprise Communications Iberia S.L. Madrid, Spain 100

Funkwerk Enterprise Communications France S.A.S. Gradignan Cedex, France 100

Funkwerk Enterprise Communications Italia S.R.L. Milan, Italy 100

Funkwerk Aphona GmbH Vienna, Austria 100

Funkwerk IP-Appliances GmbH Nuremberg, Bavaria 100

Funkwerk Information Technologies Karlsfeld GmbH (FITK) Karlsfeld, Bavaria 100

Funkwerk Information Technologies York Limited York, Great Britain 100

Funkwerk Information Technologies Malmö AB Malmö, Sweden 100

Funkwerk IT Polska Sp. z o.o. Warsaw, Poland 100

Microsyst Systemelectronic GmbH Weiden, Bayern 100

Funkwerk plettac electronic GmbH Fürth, Bavaria 100

Funkwerk Systems Austria GmbH Vienna, Austria 100

Funkwerk Akademie GmbH Beichlingen, Thuringia 100

Funkwerk Statkom GmbH Kölleda, Thuringia 100

Funkwerk Electronic Services GmbH (FES) Salzgitter, Lower-Saxony 100

Funkwerk Engineering GmbH Kiel, Schleswig-Holstein 100

Sold business segments

In the course of the strategic realignment, the Executive Board decided to sell off various companies.
As of the financial accounts of 30 September 2011, as a result of the requirements of IFRS5 that were ful-

filled at the end of the third quarter of 2011, all assets and liabilities connected to the planned sale were 
brought together under one balance-sheet item each or the result of the sold segments was individually in-
dicated in the income statement. 

On 9 September 2011 Funkwerk AG sold 100 per cent of its shares in Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik 
GmbH, Neustadt/Weinstraße, (»Alpha« for short). Alpha belonged to the TCC segment, but was not part of its 
core business. The deconsolidation of Alpha took effect as of September 30, 2011. In the first nine months of the 
2011 financial year, the sold company recorded sales revenues of EUR 11,248 k and an annual net profit of EUR 
122 k. In the whole financial year 2010, Alpha was able to record an annual net profit of EUR 842 k with sales 
revenues of EUR 16,663 k. On 30 September 2011 Alpha employed 124 personnel. The assets outgoing due to the 
deconsolidation consisted of EUR 167 k in fixed assets and EUR 5,696 k in current assets, while the outgoing 
liabilities consisted of EUR 462 k in deferred taxes and EUR 2,855 k in short-term liabilities. Taking an outgo-
ing goodwill value of approx. EUR 1.9 m into consideration, the deconsolidation had an effect on the result of 
around EUR 5.1 m. This is indicated in the consolidated statement of income and accumulated earnings and, 
as the current period result, in the »Result from sold business segments (after tax)«. 

Funkwerk AG sold all its shares in the wholly-owned subsidiary Funkwerk Enterprise Communications 
GmbH, Nuremberg, on 18 October 2011. The sale was completed on 13 January 2012. It was subject to the usual 
reservation of precedent conditions and required the approval of the bank consortium of Funkwerk AG.

The sale not only included Funkwerk Enterprise Communications GmbH but also its subsidiaries Funk-
werk IP-Appliances GmbH (Nuremberg), Funkwerk Aphona Communications GmbH (Vienna, Austria), Funk-
werk Enterprise Communications France S.A.S. (Gradignan Cedex, France) and Funkwerk Enterprise Com-
munications Italia S.R.L. (Milan, Italy). Not included were the inactive subsidiaries in Germany and Spain and 



74 F U N K W E R K  AG  >  A N N U A L  R E P O RT  2011 75G R O U P  M A N AG E M E N T  R E P O RT

TO  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  >  N OT E S  on   the    2011  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 

the majority shareholding in Funkwerk ES Iberia S.L. (Majadahonda/Madrid, Spain) held by Funkwerk Enter-
prise Communications GmbH. The transaction therefore meant the splitting of the entire EC segment and 
was reported as per IFRS 5 in the consolidated balance sheet (cf. Assets: B.9.; Liabilities: C.9.) and the consoli-
dated statement of income and accumulated earnings (»Result of the sold business segments (after tax)«). The 
preliminary effect of the deconsolidation on the result is currently running at approx. EUR 1.6 m here.

Funkwerk Avionics GmbH, which belongs to the AC segment, was sold in March 2012. This deconsolida-
tion did not lead to any significant effects on the consolidated statement of income and accumulated earn-
ings 2012.

Furthermore, it is also intended to sell the sports display product line (TCC) in the course of 2012.
The result of the sold business segments (after tax) as per item 21 of the consolidated statement of income 

and accumulated earnings is calculated as follows:

Sold business segments 2011

in € k

2010

in € k

Sales revenues 44,056 50,801

Gross performance 46,996 54,865

Expenditure 47,588 52,550

Impairment charge 410 0

Operating result – 1,002 2,167

Financial result – 535 – 2,873

Result before tax from sold business segments – 1,537 – 706

Taxes on income – 524 – 1,477

Operating result after tax – 2,061 – 2,183

Result from the sale of sold business segments 5,071 0

Taxes on income on the result from the sale of  

sold business segments

0 0

Period result 3,010 – 2,183

The impairment charge for 2011, shown in the table above, results from the goodwill impairment test for CGU 
Funkwerk Avionics that was conducted immediately before the classification as a sold business segment. In 
this case the obtainable sum was below the book value, which is why expenditure of EUR 0.4 m was recorded. 

As regards the cash flows which are attributable to the sold business segments, use was made of the rele-
vant option in IFRS 5 to present these separately in the financial statements. As a result, the consolidated cash 
flow statement contains all cash flows attributable to the sold business segments, i.e. it was drawn up as if no 
business segments were sold.

The share of the sold business segments in the cash flows is as follows: in the cash flow from current busi-
ness activity it is EUR – 579 k (prev. year: EUR 3,947 k); in the cash flow from investment activity it is EUR 2.616 k 
(prev. year: EUR – 2,139 k) and in the cash flow from financing activity it is EUR 2,043 k (prev. year: EUR – 1,540 k). 
The cash flow from financing activity concerns group-internal financing. The cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the period that are reported in the consolidated cash flow statement are made up of EUR 17,424 k (prev. 
year: 10,377) of retained business segments and EUR 527 k (prev. year: EUR 1,679 k) of sold business segments.

For the presentation of the effect on the consolidated balance sheet, please see E.(10).

2.	Balance     sheet  closing date

The financial year of Funkwerk AG and its subsidiaries ends each and every year on 31 December.

3.	 Consolidation met hods

The consolidated financial statements include the annual accounts of the company, its majority-owned sub-
sidiaries and its associated companies. All receivables and payables and all transactions between the consoli-
dated companies are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. Both the receivables and payables, 
and the expenses and income between the consolidated companies are offset against each other. The group 
inventories and the fixed assets are adjusted by intermediate results. Consolidation processes affecting net 
income are subject to the adjustment of deferred taxes, with deferred tax assets and liabilities being balanced 
if a legal entitlement exists for offsetting the recorded amounts against each other and it is intended either to 
achieve the balance on a net basis or, simultaneous with the realisation of the asset concerned, to redeem the 
relevant liability. Non-controlling interests in the net assets (except for goodwill) of the consolidated subsidi-
aries are reported separately from the equity capital of the group. They consist of the amount of such interests 
on the date of the original company merger and the non-controlling interest in the changes of equity capital 
as of the merger date. The share of companies acquired by non-controlling shareholders is reported at their 
share of contribution to the net current market value of the assets, liabilities and continent liabilities upon 
their inclusion.

When acquiring the companies that are to be included in the consolidated group, the assets and liabilities 
are assessed at their respective market value at the time of acquisition. If the acquisition costs are higher than 
the group share in the thus determined equity of the company, this results in goodwill, which is to be carried 
as an asset, for the respective planning unit. The disclosed hidden reserves and liabilities are continued with-
in the scope of subsequent consolidations according to the corresponding assets and liabilities. The goodwill 
accounting is subject to IFRS 3. If, however, the acquisition costs are lower than the group share in the thus 
calculated equity capital of the company, no deficit amount is carried as a liability. Instead, in accordance with 
IFRS 3, this difference was immediately recorded, affecting the operating result.

When companies that were included in the consolidated group were sold, the assets (including goodwill) 
and liabilities were taken off the books at their book value at the time of the loss of control. The fair market 
value of the return consideration received from the transaction was calculated and the profit/loss transferred 
from equity capital into the result.

Increases in majority shareholdings are taken into consideration using the equity transaction method.

4.	 Currency conversion    an d transactions 

Currency conversion

Funkwerk Information Technologies York Limited, Great Britain, Funkwerk Information Technologies 
Malmö AB, Sweden, and Funkwerk IT Polska Sp. z.o.o., Poland are not domiciled in the Euro-zone. 

The functional currency of all other subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements is the 
euro, since these subsidiaries are exclusively registered in the Euro-zone. Annual accounts prepared in foreign 
currencies were converted as follows: the equity capital was valued at the historical exchange rates on the 
date of acquisition, the balance sheet at the mean rates on the closing date, and the items of the statement of 
income and accumulated earnings at the average rates. The currency differences from this conversion were 
recorded in the equity capital without affecting the operating result.

In the remaining result of the 2011 financial year, EUR 33 k were due to currency differences (prev. yr.: EUR 86 k).
In the preparation of the financial statements of the individual group companies, any transactions made 

in currencies other than the working currency of the group company were converted using the exchange rates 
valid on the day of the transaction.



Historical 

rate

Cutoff date 

rate

Average  

rate 

Sweden (in EUR/SEK) 0.10972 0.11221 0.11102

Great Britain (in EUR/GBP) 1.51768 1.19717 1.14676

Poland (in EUR/PLN) 0.25821 0.22432 0.24341

Currency transactions

The company has entered into hedging transactions in order to secure transactions in foreign currencies. 
These hedging transactions are limited to the period in which the risk exists and minimise the effects of ex-
change rate fluctuations on the earnings position of the companies. In the 2011 financial year, hedging trans-
actions were effected with regard to the US dollar, Australian dollar, Swiss franc, Hungarian forint and Swed-
ish krona. 

5.	 A ffiliate d companies 

Affiliated companies are defined as companies that are directly or indirectly controlled by the corporation or 
by Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG.

The corporation is the parent company of all direct and indirect subsidiaries, which consequently are also 
considered affiliated companies within the meaning of Section 271 (2) of the HGB (German Commercial Code), 
and in accordance with IAS 24. All direct and indirect subsidiaries, associated companies and key manage-
ment personnel are considered as affiliates.

Within the meaning of Section 271 (2) in conjunction with Section 290 of the HGB (German Commercial 
Code), the corporation itself is an affiliated company of Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchseeon, and is 
listed in the consolidated financial statements of that company. 

Consequently, the following subsidiaries of Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchseeon, are also affili-
ated companies of Funkwerk AG:

Affiliated companies with whom business relationships exist Registered office 

Hörmann GmbH Kirchseeon

Hörmann Kommunikationsnetze GmbH Kirchseeon

In addition, Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG consolidates other companies with which Funkwerk does not 
have any business relations.. 

D. Accounting and valuation principles

1.	 Intangi ble assets   an d goodwill

Intangible assets acquired for a consideration, primarily software, patents and intangible assets with a deter-
minable useful life are carried as assets at purchase cost and their loss in value calculated on a straight-line 
basis by planned depreciation throughout their economic life, typically three to four years. 

Development costs are carried as assets if the development of a new product (or process) can be clearly 
defined, is technically feasible and is intended either for own use or for sale. Carrying as assets further re-
quires reasonable certainty that these development costs can be covered by future incoming funds. Develop-

ment costs carried as assets are depreciated systematically over the expected selling period of the products or 
useful life of the processes (principally up to five years). Research costs are shown as current expenditure in 
accordance with IAS 38. The production cost here includes any costs directly attributable to the development 
process and appropriate shares of the development-related overhead. Where the requirements for carrying as 
assets are not met, the expenditures are allocated to the year of their accrual affecting net income.

The intangible assets, which are still at the development stage and therefore do not yet undergo planned 
depreciation, are audited in accordance with IAS 36. If the higher value of the net sales price and the value in 
use of the asset in question falls below the book value (impairment test), unplanned depreciation is made as 
and when necessary. For individual development projects, the achievable amount is calculated in the form of 
the fair market value.

According to IFRS 3, positive goodwill represents the excess between the purchase cost of a company and 
the acquired, re-valued assets and liabilities including contingent liabilities, which remains after a purchase 
price allocation and consequently, the identification of all assets and liabilities acquired. Within the scope of 
this purchase price allocation, the identified assets and liabilities are taken into account not at their previous 
book values but at their current market values. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and assessed annually at a 
specific time in the context of impairment tests. 

For the purposes of the impairment test, both the goodwill and the development costs are allocated to the 
appropriate cash generating units (CGU). The CGUs correspond to the independent legal entities of the com-
pany. In the SC and TCC segments, legal entities of the company that deviate from this and generate cash inde-
pendent of each other were each grouped together to form one CGU. The value impairment costs are calculated 
on the basis of the amounts achievable by each CGU, whereby the latter is calculated on the basis of the value 
in use. It is refrained from calculating the fair value less cost to sell because there are no indications that this 
value is higher than the value in use. 

The calculations are based on the cash flow projections approved by the Executive Board and submitted to 
the Supervisory Board for the following three financial years. The planning is drawn up based on figures 
gained from experience taking current market developments into consideration. The cash flows of the CGUs 
are primarily driven by the planned sales revenues of the periods, whereby sales increases up until the 2014 fi-
nancial year were also taken into account at percentages in the higher single-figures for each year.

For any periods exceeding these three years, the cash flows will be adjusted. A sustained growth of 1 per 
cent, which is typical for the industry, is taken as the basis for this.

The cash flows were discounted at the risk-adjusted pre-tax interest rate in line with the market. The dis-
count rate before tax was calculated in accordance with IAS 36.55. The discount factors at the reporting date 
were calculated on segment level and applied to the cash flow predictions of the respective CGUs: 

Segment Interest rate in % (prev. yr.)

TCC 11.7  (11.4)

AC 12.0  (11.4)

SC 13.0  (12.5)
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2.	 Tangi ble assets 

Tangible assets are valued at purchase cost less accrued depreciations. The tangible assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over their expected utilisation period. Investment subsidies are always shown as »De-
ferred investment subsidies«. Production costs are valued on the basis of directly allocable direct costs and 
pro-rata material and production overhead less depreciations. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed, 
while replacement and expansion investments extending the expected utilisation period or increasing the 
capacity are capitalised. The tangible assets were not re-valued based on the option under IAS 16.

The planned depreciations are based on the following utilisation periods:

Description Useful life

Buildings 15 to 50 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 12 years

Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 1 to 10 years

In accordance with IAS 36, unplanned depreciations of tangible assets are effected if the higher value of net 
sales price and the utilisation value of the asset in question falls below the book value. If the reasons for an 
unplanned depreciation effected in previous years do not apply, we carry out the appropriate appreciations.

3.	 Other long-term assets   

The other long-term assets include the amounts stated for shareholdings in affiliated companies which, tak-
ing into account the principle of materiality, are not shown in the balance sheet in compliance with the provi-
sions of IAS 27, participations, and other investments. These are valued at their net book value less the re-
quired depreciation. 

4.	 Inventories  

Inventories are valued at the lower amount of purchase and production cost and net sales value. In addition to 
the direct costs, the purchase/production costs also include appropriate shares of the necessary material and 
production overhead and production-related depreciations directly attributable to the production process. Ad-
ministration costs are taken into account where attributable to the production. If the values are lower as at 
the closing date due to sagging prices on the sales market, these are reflected. The valuation of similar items 
of inventories is always based on the average cost method. Payments on account for inventories are valued at 
purchase cost. Depreciations of the inventories are reported under material expenses.

5.	 Receiva  bles  from projects  in progress

Sales and profits from long-term production orders are reported following the percentage of completion 
method in accordance with IAS 11. The degree of completion of the individual orders is determined according 
to the ratio of total costs estimated as at the cutoff date to costs incurred as at the closing date (cost-to-cost 
method). Losses from long-term orders are immediately recorded in full in the financial year in which the 
losses are obvious, irrespective of their degree of completion. Depending on the amount of advance payments 
requested, long-term orders valued in line with the percentage of completion method are shown under re-
ceivables from production orders or carried as advances from customers. These are valued at production cost 
plus a pro-rata profit corresponding to the degree of completion. Where a reliable estimate is not possible, the 
zero-profit method is used. The production costs include any costs directly attributable to the order and, 
where appropriate, shares of the overhead. 

6. 	 Tra  de accounts receiva  ble an d other assets 

Due to their short-term nature, trade accounts receivable do not bear interest and are reported at their 
nominal value less value adjustments due to anticipated bad debt losses. Bad debt losses and value adjust-
ments of receivables are reported under other operational expenses. The other assets are valued at net book 
value. Recognisable risks of non-payment are taken into account by making appropriate value adjustments.

7. 	 Tax  refund clai  ms/ tax  lia bilities

The tax refund claims contain receivables from current taxes on income.
The tax liabilities contain obligations from current taxes on income and from the findings of audits 

conducted, insofar as these exceed the amounts paid as prepayments before the cutoff date.

8.	Financial     assets 

Listed under this item are securities classified as current assets (held for trading) and shown at their market 
value on the cutoff date pursuant to IAS 39.

Also reported under this item are current bank credit balances in Algeria that are either unavailable in the 
short term or are blocked. These are reported at the nominal value under consideration of the exchange rate 
on the cutoff date. In addition, loan receivables were reported at nominal value.

9.	 Liquid funds

Items under cash and cash equivalents include cheques, cash on hand and on deposit in banking accounts. 

10.	 A ssets  held for sale  an d sold business  segments 

Long-term assets that according to IFRS 5 are classified as being available for sale are carried and valued at 
the lower amount of their original book value and at the current market value less costs of sale. Such a clas-
sification is always made whenever the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale 
in its current state.

The assets and the related liabilities that are to be sold in one transaction are grouped together as a sale 
group.

Long-term assets or sale groups are classified as »held for sale« if the relevant book value is realised pre-
dominantly via a sale and not via its continued usage. This is only the case when the sale is highly probable 
and the asset or the sale group is immediately saleable in its present state. The management must have 
decided on the sale, which must be expectably completed within a year of the classification as a long-term 
asset held for sale or as a sale group.

In the income statement for the reporting period and also the comparison period, the income and ex-
penditure from sold business segments are reported separately from the income and expenditure of retained 
business segments and are separately listed as result after tax from sold business segments. 

11.	 Capital   reserves  

IFRS 2 requires the effects of share-based payments, including the expense for the share options granted to 
the corporate management and employees, to be shown in the statement of income and accumulated earn-
ings. Where share-based payments are settled by way of equity instruments, they are shown at their current 
market value.
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12.	De ferred invest   ment subsidies

Some subsidiaries receive subsidies from public funds which are used both for research and development pro-
jects and for the acquisition of tangible fixed assets. 

According to IAS 20.24, any investment subsidies from public funds received by the corporation must be 
itemised as a separate liability item. The transfer was made on the basis of the fulfilled statutory entitlement 
requirements and the appropriated grants for investments effected by the corporation. The release affected 
the earnings corresponding to the utilisation period of the subsidised fixed assets.

Other public subsidies, which were collected in order to balance out expenses or losses already arisen or for 
purposes of immediate financial support, were reported affecting the net income in the period in which the 
need arose.

13.	De ferred taxes    

The deterred taxes are reported and evaluated as per IAS 12 »Income Taxes«.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are formed for future tax consequences from the difference of the book 

values in the IFRS balance sheet and the trade balance sheet and from tax loss carry-forwards. 
The accruals and deferrals are effected at the rate of the anticipated tax burden or relief of following 

financial years on the basis of the tax rate effective at the time of applicability. To determine future rates of 
taxation, reference is made to the tax legislation and regulations that are valid or announced by the cutoff 
date. Tax consequences of dividend distributions are only taken into account at the time of the resolution on 
the disposal of corporate profits. Accruals are only reported when the realisation of future tax advantages 
seems improbable. 

14.	Pensions accrued

In accordance with IAS 19, these accruals are calculated using the projected unit credit method (PUCM). Here, 
future liabilities are valued using actuarial procedures with a conservative estimate of the relevant impact-
ing factors.

15.	 Accrued lia  bilities

According to IAS 37, accrued liabilities are set aside where there is a current obligation towards third parties 
due to a past event that is expected to lead to an outflow of resources and can be estimated reliably. 

Accrued liabilities that will not lead to an outflow of resources in the following year are valued at their 
settlement amount discounted as at the cutoff date, with the market interest rates forming the basis for the 
discounting. The settlement amount also covers any increases in costs to be taken into account on the cutoff 
date. Accrued liabilities in foreign currency are converted using their current rate.

16.	 Lia bilities

Liabilities are valued at their amount repayable.
Long-term liabilities not bearing interest are included in the balance sheet at their cash value. Differ-

ences between the cash value and the amount repayable are taken into account according to the effective in-
terest rate method.

17.	 Realisation   of sales   revenues  

Sales revenues are shown for existing contractual relations, where delivery has been made, the opportunities 
and risks have transferred to the buyer, the price has been agreed or can be determined, and the collection of 
the debt is probable. Sales for products requiring installation at the customer are recognised after delivery 
and installation at the customer. The sales recognition in regard to production orders is explained under 
item 5. The revenues are realised after deducting price reductions such as cash discounts, customer bonuses, 
and rebates.

A reserve for warranties is set up as at the cutoff date for realised sales. The reserve is based on estimates 
and experience figures. Where specific risks are recognisable, appropriate reserves are formed. For all other 
sales, a bad-debt provision is established to allow for the general risk of utilisation.

18.	Derivative     financial    instruments

Within the scope of active control of currency management, Funkwerk makes targeted use of derivative 
financial instruments.

The derivative financial instruments which we use are recorded on conclusion of the contracts. At that 
time and subsequently, they are valued at their fair market value (reported as on the day of trading). In case of 
a positive or negative market value, they are either carried as an asset or a liability. The market value of these 
non-listed derivatives is calculated using recognised actuarial models.

Derivative financial instruments are concluded by Funkwerk exclusively with financial institutes with 
impeccable financial standing. The market value depends on the respective type of financial instrument. 

The derivative financial instruments available as at the cutoff date do not qualify for hedge accounting. 
Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are directly recorded in the financial results in the statement of 
income and accumulated earnings. Derivative financial instruments are exclusively used by Funkwerk for 
hedging purposes.

The market values of the derivative financial instruments available as at the cutoff date were as follows:

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Assets

€ k

Liabilities

€ k

Assets

€ k

Liabilities

€ k

Currency futures dealing 7 259 344 212

Currency options 0 0 39 0

Total 7 259 383 212

The derivates are carried as assets under »other assets« and as liabilities under »other liabilities«.

19.	Disclosures   pursuant   to IFR S 7 – Financial    instruments

A financial instrument is a contractual agreement that leads to the creation of a financial asset in one com-
pany while simultaneously leading to a financial liability or an equity instrument with another party. A 
compound financial instrument is one which contains both an equity and a borrowed capital component.

Financial assets in the sense of IAS 39 are classified into four classes at the time of their initial recognition:
■■ Financial assets held for trading 
■■ Loans and receivables
■■ Held-to-maturity investments
■■ Available-for-sale financial assets
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Financial liabilities in the sense of IAS 39 are classified as »financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss« or as »financial liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.«

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised as on the day of trading.
The initial measurement is made at fair value. When calculating the initial recognition, directly allocable 

transaction costs are also included (except for assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss). Finan-
cial assets and liabilities are only balanced out when a right to set-off exists for the amounts concerned and it 
is intended to balance on a net basis.

Where the Funkwerk group has extended »Credits and loans« and issued »Financial liabilities« in the 
sense of IAS 39, these are valued at their amortised cost/net book value always using the effective interest 
method. This principally concerns the balance sheet’s trade accounts receivable and payable as well as lia-
bilities on current account due to banks and loan liabilities.

Non-consolidated holdings are allocated to the category of »Available-for-sale financial assets« and on 
each balance-sheet cutoff date they are valued at fair value. Unless a sustained decrease in value is to be as-
sumed, changes in value are reported in the equity capital under the »Reserve for time evaluation« item with-
out effect on the operating result, whereby deferred taxes are taken into account. For instruments traded on 
an organised market, the fair value is calculated with reference to the respective market price.

If realised by disposal or if a lasting drop in the market value below the purchase costs is foreseeable, then 
the market changes will affect the operating result. Market increases are always reported without effect on 
the operating result, even if there was a prior devaluation affecting net income.

At every balance sheet closing date, Funkwerk checks the book values of the financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss to see if there are any substantial indications for a value impairment. If, for 
the financial assets categorised as »available for sale«, it is found that a lasting impairment does exist, then 
impairments previously reported in the equity capital without effect on the operating result are removed 
from the equity capital and transferred to the statement of income and accumulated earnings with effect on 
the operating result. If the value recovers at a later point in time due to events that arose after the original 
value impairment, then the impairment must be returned to the respective level.

Value impairments of financial assets of the »available for sale« category that were valued with the pur-
chase costs must not be reversed.

Financial assets are taken off the books when the company loses power of control over them. A financial 
liability is taken off the books when the obligation on which it was based is fulfilled or cancelled.

Held for Trading covers financial assets that are held for trading as well as financial assets that, at their 
first ever measurement, are classified at fair market value through profit or loss. This category includes deriva-
tive financial instruments concluded by the group as well as securities. Changes to the fair market value are 
reported in the statements of income and accumulated earnings in the financial results.

The market values of liquid funds, of short-term receivables, of accounts payable and other liabilities cor-
respond to the book values. This is due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Market value of financial assets and liabilities

The financial assets and liabilities can be divided into valuation categories with the following book values and 
fair values:

Of which, aggregated according to valuation  

categories as per IAS 39:

Available for Sale (AfS) 4 43 4 4 43

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 47,248 35,852 47,248 47,248 35,852

Financial Assets Held for Trading (FAHfT) 532 1,352 532 532 1,352

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost (FLAC) 41,215 29,858 41,215 41,215 29,858

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) 259 212 259 259 212

Fair value hierarchy

The table shows the financial instruments reported at fair value according to their valuation method. The 
various methods are defined as follows:
■■ Stage 1: 	 The prices listed on active markets for identical assets or liabilities (taken over unchanged).
■■ Stage 2: 	� Input factors that do not concern the listed prices considered in stage 1 but which can be 

observed for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as price) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices).

■■ Stage 3: 	� Factors for the valuation of the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (non-observable input factors). 

Value  

categories  

as per IAS 39

€ k

Book value 

31/12/2011

€ k

Book value 

31/12/2010

€ k

Net book 

value 

€ k

Fair Value 

31/12/2011

€ k

Fair Value 

31/12/2010

€ k

ASSETS

Other long-term assets AfS 4 43 4 4 43

Accounts receivable (trade) LaR 33,991 27,629 33,991 33,991 27,629

Due from affiliated companies LaR 52 206 52 52 206

Receivables from work in progress LaR 4,733 8,017 4,733 4,733 8,017

Financial assets LaR 8,472 0 8,472 8,472 0

Financial assets FAHfT 525 969 525 525 969

Other financial assets 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Liquid funds 17,424 12,056 17,424 17,424 12,056

Derivatives FAHfT 7 383 7 7 383

68,208 52,303 68,208 68,208 52,303

LIABILITES

Long-term financial liabilities FLAC 0 12 0 0 12

Short-term financial liabilities FLAC 12,886 422 12,886 12,886 422

Accounts payable (trade) FLAC 27,939 29,368 27,939 27,939 29,368

Due to affiliated companies FLAC 390 56 390 390 56

Derivatives FLHfT 259 212 259 259 212

41,474 30,070 41,474 41,474 30,070
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31/12/2011 Stage 1

€ k

Stage 2

€ k

Stage 3

€ k

Total

€ k

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(FAHfT)*)

525 –  –  525

Derivative financial assets (FAHfT) –  7 –  7

Sub total 525 7 –  532

Derivative financial liabilities (FAHfT) –  259 –  259

Total 525 – 252 –  273

31/12/2010

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(FAHfT)*)

969 –  –  969

Derivative financial assets (FAHfT) –  383 –  383

Sub total 969 383 –  1,352

Derivative financial liabilities (FAHfT) –  212 –  212

Total 969 171 –  1,140

*  Securities held in connection with the securing of entitlements for partial retirement.

Net earnings from financial instruments

The net earnings from financial instruments were as follows:

2011

€ k

2010

€ k

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FAHfT/FLHfT) – 60 210

Available-for-sale financial assets (AfS) – 24 0

Receivables (LaR) – 489 – 7,261

The net earnings as per IFRS 7 comprise interest, dividends, value adjustments, reinstatements of original 
values, and earnings from the valuation of financial instruments at fair value.

 

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities:

The following table shows all contractually agreed (non-discounted) interest and redemption payments of the 
original financial liabilities and the derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2011:

2012

€ k

2013–2016

€ k

Non-derivative financial liabilities

	 Short-term financial debt 12,886 0

	 Accounts payable (trade) 27,939 0

	 Due to affiliated companies 390 0

Derivative financial liabilities 259 0

Breakdown of the previous years’ figures:

2011

€ k

2012–2015

€ k

Non-derivative financial liabilities

	 Long-term interest-bearing financial debt 0 12

	 Short-term financial debt 422 0

	 Accounts payable (trade) 29,355 13

	 Due to affiliated companies 56 0

Derivative financial liabilities 160 52

Management of financial market risks

Due to the nature of its operations, the group is subject to various financial risks: the market risk (consisting 
of foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), the credit risk and the liquidity risk. The comprehensive risk 
management of the group is prepared for the unpredictability of the development of financial markets and is 
geared to minimising the potentially negative effects on the financial situation of the corporate group.

The risk management is handled by the group’s financial department as specified by the Executive Board. 
Funkwerk identifies, values and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the operating units of the 
group. The Executive Board specifies guidelines for risk management, along with principles for specific areas, 
such as the handling of foreign exchange risks, interest rate risks and credit risks, for the use of derivative and 
non-derivative financial instruments, and for the use of liquidity surpluses.

We refer here in particular to the explanations on risk reporting in the Management Report.

Financial risk factors

The companies of the Funkwerk group source the vast majority of their material supplies in foreign currencies, 
usually on a US-dollar basis, and also in the euro zone. Outgoing invoices are also mainly issued in euros.

Foreign exchange risks particularly relate to the currencies listed below. The rate hedging using currency 
options and currency futures dealing is handled centrally by Funkwerk AG for the subsidiaries. The volume of US 
dollars hedged on the balance sheet closing date using currency options and currency futures dealing was zero. 

The essential book values of the financial assets reported in the group as well as the liabilities in foreign 
currencies represent the risk positions on 31 December 2011:

CHF

IN € k

DKK

IN € k

SEK

IN € k

USD

IN € k

GBP

IN € k

DZD

IN € k

Financial assets 1,210 362 698 182 1,611 3,000

Financial liabilities 1,002 7 25 1,207 101 0

Foreign currency risk from balance-sheet items 208 355 673 – 1,025 1,510 3,000

The foreign currencies SEK, USD, GBP and DZD represent significant risk for the group with regard to finan-
cial instruments. A sensitivity analysis as per 31 December 2011 for these financial assets and liabilities is 
shown below.
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Result before 

taxes on 

income

IN € k

Reserve for 

currency 

conversions 

IN € k

Consolidated 

assets

IN € k

SEK (10 per cent upvaluation) 67 0 67

SEK (10 per cent devaluation) – 67 0 – 67

USD (10 per cent upvaluation) 102 0 102

USD (10 per cent devaluation) – 102 0 – 102

GBP (10 per cent upvaluation) 151 151 0

GBP (10 per cent devaluation) – 151 – 151 0

DZD (10 per cent upvaluation) 300 0 300

DZD (10 per cent devaluation) – 300 0 – 300

Delinquency risk or credit risk is understood as the risk of a loss for the group if one contractual party does not 
honour its contractual obligations. The corporate guidelines stipulate that business relations must only be 
entered into with creditworthy contractual parties and, if appropriate, taking receipt of collateral to mitigate 
the risk of loss due to the non-fulfilment of obligations. The maximum delinquency risk is the amount of the 
book value of the financial assets (without consideration of insurance policies taken out).

There are receivables from goods and services and receivables from work in progress from a large number of 
customers from different business segments and geographical regions. Credit checks are constantly being con-
ducted on the financial status of the receivables. Bad-debts insurance is taken out where appropriate (cf. E.4.).

A liquidity risk exists in terms of a possible impairment of creditworthiness, which could lead to a with-
drawal of the existing consortium financing. Funkwerk sees the short-term probability of this risk arising as 
low – not least due to the selling of companies. A further risk is the loss of banks as creditors. The latter is 
limited by the consortium loan. If the covenant is broken, the banks in the consortium basically have special 
termination rights.

A consortium loan agreement for EUR 75.5 m, dated 24 March 2011 and set for several years, has been agreed 
with three German commercial banks. The loan is made up of a money market loan on revolving basis of EUR 
12.5 m, a current account overdraft facility of EUR 5.0 m and a bank guaranty credit of EUR 58.0 m. Funkwerk AG 
and its subsidiaries provide collateral for this in the form of blanket assignments of trade receivables of indi-
vidual subsidiaries, assignment of inventories of all companies of the Funkwerk group as well as land charges 
on commercial property in Dabendorf and Kölleda. The loan is set to run for three years with the option to 
extend for a further two years. 

As further security for the consortium loan agreement, Funkwerk has obtained for a period of five years an 
80 per cent indemnity bond for a EUR 9.0 m cash loan as well as a 60 per cent indemnity bond for a EUR 10.6 m 
bank guaranty credit from the »Germany fund« federal /Lander program. This carries the condition, usual for 
state guaranties, that during the loan period the majority owner of Funkwerk AG is obligated to vote for a re-
tention of earnings at the annual shareholders’ meeting so that no dividends are paid out.

A further condition agreed in the consortium loan agreement is that the equity ratio of the Funkwerk 
group must never drop below 35 per cent at any time. Similarly, the adjusted debt-equity ratio of the Funkwerk 
group must not exceed 7.0 in the period from 30 September 2011 until 30 December 2011, and from 31 December 
2011 onwards it must not be more than 3.5.

As for the significant effects of the realignment, Funkwerk AG has informed the bank consortium of a 
non-compliance of the specified ratios on 30 September 2011 for 31 December 2011 and also for the subsequent 

quarter of 2012. The bank consortium has tolerated this non-compliance in the context of the realignment on 
30 September 2011 and 31 December 2011. For 2012 and following periods, new ratios relating to the changed 
group structure are defined in the context of the bindingly planned amendment to the consortium agreement. 
As regards the planned amendment to the existing consortium financing, we refer to section I.10 Events after 
the reporting period. Until the amendment agreement is finalised, it has been agreed in line with the exist-
ing credit agreement that the funds received in 2011 and at the beginning of 2012 from the sale of companies, 
totalling approx. EUR 18 m, are to be pledged to the bank consortium. 

The money market credit of EUR 12,500 k lasted until 16 January 2012 and was extended until 16 April 2012 
at the same amount. The current account overdraft facility of EUR 5,000 k remains in place until further notice.

(Bank) guaranty credits were utilized until December 31, 2011, at EUR 29.7 m.
On 31 December 2011 the following collateral existed for the consortium loan: blanket assignment of 

receivables at EUR 23,651 k; assignment as security of goods inventories at EUR 31,784 k and pledged credit 
balances etc.

The money market credit is charged variable interest at 3.25 per cent above the Euribor rate p.a. If the cur-
rent account loan is utilized, the variable interest is 3.95 per cent above the Euribor rate. For bank guaranty 
credits, the interest is 2.85 per cent p.a. for advance payment bonds or 2.10 per cent p.a. for other guaranties.

Liquidity risks are covered in the group-wide financial planning, which is prepared at three-year inter-
vals. The planning always identifies positive net cash items. Continuous monthly liquidity forecasts are pre-
pared for the short-term sector, while optimising measures are discussed and decided in Board meetings.

Capital management

The group capital is managed and controlled with the aim of maximising the revenues of the company par-
ticipations through optimisation of the equity and borrowed capital ratio. This ensures that all group compa-
nies can operate on the premise of continuation. The capital structure of the group comprises debts, cash and 
cash equivalents, and the equity capital due to the equity capital providers of the parent company. This is 
composed of issued shares, the capital reserve, the revenue reserve and the net profit for the year.

The financial security is measured primarily using the equity ratio. Components of this ratio are the bal-
ance sheet total of the consolidated financial statements and the equity capital shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet, which also provides the capital in the Funkwerk group within the meaning of IAS 1. The equity 
ratio is used with investors, analysts, banks and rating agencies as a key ratio.

The capital structure of Funkwerk can be controlled by way of adjusting dividends, decreasing the capital 
or emissions of new shares and the issue of financial instruments, which are qualified as equity capital under 
IFRS. The aim is to achieve a capital structure in line with the business risk.

The equity ratio on 31 December 2011 is calculated as follows:

2011 2010 Variance  

in %

Equity capital (in € k) 48,660 64,459 – 24.5

Balance sheet total (in € k) 157,914 149,692 5.5

Equity ratio according to book values in % 30.8 43.1

The reduced equity ratio is essentially attributable to the negative annual result in the year under review, 
which is heavily influenced by impairment charges on intangible assets at EUR 5,278 k and restructuring costs 
at EUR 4,693 k. In addition, the increased balance sheet total due to the disclosure scheme as per IFRS 5 also 
contributed to reducing the equity ratio. 
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20.	� Significant  scope for discretion  in accounting an d m ain  sources  of  

esti m ation uncertainty 

When applying the group accounting rules with regard to those book values of assets and liabilities that can-
not simply be obtained from other sources, the management must consider the facts and circumstances and 
also make estimations and assumptions. The estimations and the assumptions on which they are based are 
determined from empirical values from past experience and from other factors deemed as being relevant. The 
actual values may deviate from the estimates. The assumptions on which the estimations are based are sub-
ject to regular scrutiny. 

The management views that the most important assumptions pertaining to the future and the main 
sources of uncertainty in the estimates are as follows: the goodwill impairment test with regard to the plan-
ning and the discount rate (cf. D.1.); the share-based remuneration with regard to the valuation parameters 
entered into the estimation of the current market value (cf. E.11.); the capitalisation of deferred taxes to tax 
losses carried forward with regard to the future tax planning strategies (cf. E.30.); the pension payments with 
regard to the parameters entered into the actuarial calculations (cf. E.12.); value adjustments on receivables 
(cf. E.4.); the probable utilisation of reserves with regard to appraising the facts relevant to the reserves (cf. 
E.20.) and the development work carried as assets with regard to the estimations on economical and technical 
feasibility and/or on the level of cash flow expected in future (cf. D.1.).

The estimates regarding the deferred taxes on losses carried forward are largely dependent on the trend 
of earnings. As a result, the estimates could deviate from figures that actually arise in later periods. Changes 
to the pertinent assumptions or estimations will be taken into consideration with effect on the result as and 
when they become known. The estimates are based on the conditions prevailing at the time of drawing up the 
consolidated financial statements and on the future development of the sector environment as it relates to 
the expected future performance of the Funkwerk group.

E. Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

— Assets —

(1)	Fixe  d assets 

In regard to the composition and movement of the individual fixed assets, please refer to the fixed-asset move-
ment schedule (cf. Notes, last page).

Goodwill, intangible assets

The following breakdown shows the development of goodwill attributable to the individual cash generating 
units/business segments:

Opening  

balance

01/01/2011

IN € k

Value  

impairments 

2011

 

IN € k

Disposal 

deconsol./ 

classification 

to IFRS 5

 

IN € k

Closing  

balance

31/12/2011

IN € k

Goodwill values

Microsyst Systemelectronic GmbH 2,092 0 0 2,092

Funkwerk Information Technologies Karlsfeld GmbH 2,083 1,600 0 483

Funkwerk Information Technologies GmbH 1,700 0 0 1,700

Funkwerk Information Technologies York Limited 900 150 0 750

ALPHA Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH 1,886 0 1,886 0

Traffic & Control Communication segment 8,661 1,750 1,886 5,025

Funkwerk eurotelematik GmbH 400 0 0 400

Funkwerk Avionics GmbH *) 100 0 100 0

Geschäftsbereich Automotive Communication 500 0 0 400

Total 9,161 1,750 1,986 5,425

*	 Sold business segment

Value impairments of EUR 1,000 k were made in the 2010 financial year; EUR 500 k of which concerned Microsyst 
Systemelectronic GmbH and EUR 500 k Funkwerk Information Technologies Karlsfeld GmbH. 

The examination of the reported goodwill figures led to a value impairment of EUR 1750 k in the 2011 finan-
cial year. All else being equal, an additional devaluation of goodwill of approx. EUR 80 k would be necessary if 
the cash flows turn out to be 5 per cent lower in the three-year planning period.

Other than goodwill, the company did not have any intangible assets with indeterminable useful lives.
Expenditure on research and development in the financial year was EUR 16,875 k (prev. yr.: EUR 22,274 k), of 

which EUR 5,634 k (prev. yr.: EUR 7,354 k) were carried as assets. 
From the group point of view, the most important development projects are the Alister electronic signal 

box platform (book value EUR 9,415 k; remaining depreciation period between 8 and 10 years) and the new 
TETRA radio equipment (book value EUR 1,499 k; remaining depreciation period: 3 years). 

In the 2011 financial year, value impairments amounting to EUR 4,276 k were made to development 
costs carried as assets. The value impairments concern the following business segments: 

31/12/2011 

IN € k

AUTOMOTIVE Communication

Funkwerk Dabendorf GmbH * 3,526

TRAFFIC & CONTROL Communication

Funkwerk Information Technologies Karlsfeld GmbH 750

Summe 4,276

*	� The value impairments went hand in hand with income from the release of the special balance sheet item for investment grants at EUR 748 k.  
This is reported under the item »Impairment charges of intangible assets«.
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Other long-term assets 

The following participating interests are included in the other long-term assets:

31/12/2011 

IN € k

31/12/2010 

IN € k

Patil Vossloh Rail IT Systems Private Ltd., India (51 %, prev. yr.: 51 %) 4 4

Funkwerk Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Kölleda (100 %, prev. yr.: 100 %) 0 32

WHSDnet GmbH, Potsdam (25 %, prev. yr.: 25 %) 0 6

Funkwerk ES Iberia S.L., Spain (54 %, prev. yr.: 54 %) 0 1

Total 4 43

Funkwerk Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Kölleda, was consolidated on 1 November 2011 and now trades under 
the name Funkwerk Statkom GmbH, Kölleda.

(2)	De ferred taxes  

The deferred tax assets resulted from the following expected future tax relief:

31/12/2011 

IN € k

31/12/2010 

IN € k

Temporary differences between the valuations of the tax balance sheet  

and of the consolidated financial statements

4,514 7,793

Future tax savings due to losses carried forward 2,927 4,395

Balancing with deferred tax liabilities – 7,441 – 12,188

Total 0 0

For details on the deferred taxes, see also E.14 and E.30.

(3)	 Inventories  

The inventories for 31 December 2011 comprised the following:

gross

IN € k

Value 

adjustments

IN € k

net

IN € k

Raw materials and supplies 30,521 13,406 17,115

Work in progress 14,610 3,654 10,956

Finished goods and merchandise 9,620 2,518 7,102

Advance payments 438 0 438

Total inventories 55,189 19,578 35,611

The figures for 31 December 2010 were as follows:

gross

IN € k

Value 

adjustments

IN € k

net

IN € k

Raw materials and supplies 35,240 14,948 20,292

Work in progress 15,022 2,147 12,875

Finished goods and merchandise 12,140 2,999 9,141

Advance payments 1,252 0 1,252

Total inventories 63,654 20,094 43,560

The value impairments for the financial year were EUR 1,032 k.
The inventories reported on the balance sheet at their net sales value on 31 December 2011 were EUR 6,154 k.

(4)	 Tra  de accounts receiva  ble 

The trade accounts receivable consist of the following:

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

Trade accounts receivable 34,861 28,236

Discounts – 870 – 607

Trade accounts receivable net, at 31 December 33,991 27,629

All our subsidiaries grant supplier loans within the scope of their ordinary operations, in individual cases 
with a term of up to 180 days. The creditworthiness of their customers is verified on a regular basis and dis-
counts entered to cover established risks. The residual maturity of the trade accounts receivable is less than 
one year. At the end of 2010, the group was involved in real factoring to the amount of approx. EUR 7.5 m with 
a German commercial bank. As at 31 December 2011, conversely, there was no factoring concerning the busi-
ness segments carried over. 

The value adjustments on receivables are heavily based on estimations and assessments of individual re-
ceivables which are in turn based on the creditworthiness of the customer in question, on the current eco-
nomic trend and on the analysis of historic losses of receivables.
The value adjustments on receivables developed as follows in the reporting period:

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

At 01 January 607 1,577

Transfer 620 336

Release/utilisation 357 1,306

At 31 December 870 607

On 31 December 2011, gross receivables of EUR 927 k (prev. yr.: EUR 991 k) were assigned with individual value 
adjustments (specific allowances for bad debts). In compliance with IFRS 7.37 (a), the maturity structure of the 
accounts receivable not subject to value adjustments is as follows:
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31/12/2011 

IN € k

31/12/2010 

IN € k

gross receivable not value-adjusted 33,934 27,245

	 of which not overdue and not value-adjusted 28,062 20,851

	 Overdue in the following time frames not value-adjusted

		  less than 30 day 4,318 4,413

		  between 31 and 60 days 726 1,062

		  between 61 and 90 days 215 418

		  between 91 and 180 days 333 209

		  between 181 and 360 days 96 73

		  more than 360 days 184 219

In regard to the neither value-adjusted nor overdue amount of accounts receivable, there was no indication as 
at the cutoff date to suggest that the debtors would not meet their financial obligations. In addition, relevant 
bad-debts insurance also exists on trade accounts receivable amounting to EUR 1,080 k (prev. yr.: EUR 2,865 k).

(5)	 Receiva  bles  from projects  in progress

Future accounts receivable from production orders develop as follows:

31/12/2011

IN € k

31/12/2010

IN € k

Balance

Work in progress 6,295 19,581

Advance payments received – 1,562 – 11,564

Total 4,733 8,017

Profit & loss ac. 

Sales – 4,048 – 8,043

Costs 3,818 3,133

Profit share – 230 – 4,910

Production orders with debit balance amounted to EUR 504k.
The contracts on which the receivables are based were fully completed in the 2012 financial year. 
In the previous year, value adjustments were made on receivables from projects in progress over EUR 

6,056 k. This largely concerned receivables from the Algerian project business. 

(6)	Due  from a ffiliated companies 

The accounts receivable from affiliated companies totalled EUR 52 k (prev. yr.: EUR 206 k), and were due to sales 
and services. 

(7)	 Tax  refund clai  ms 

This item predominantly comprises receivables from tax offices due to excessive advance payments on 
corporate income tax and commercial income tax during the financial year on account of lower, taxable 
income in the year of assessment as against the previous year.

(8)	 Other assets 

31/12/2011 

IN € k

31/12/2010 

IN € k

Prepayments and accrued income 366 731

Receivables from employment office 154 309

Claims from subsidies, grants and investment subsidies 48 379

Security deposits 35 185

Advances to personnel 47 86

Interest receivables 6 6

Refund claims for turnover tax 426 495

Miscellaneous 520 835

Total 1,602 3,026

(9)	Financial     assets   an d liquid funds

The item Financial assets not only includes securities but also liquid funds that are either unavailable in the 
short term or are blocked; these amount to EUR 3,000 k and are held in Algerian bank accounts as well as 
other financial receivables which are paid by the buyer of the sold business segments EC and Funkwerk Avionics 
in the 1st quarter of 2012, and amount to EUR 8,472 k .

The securities held are allocable exclusively to current assets. They have been invested in money market-
related funds.

This item developed as follows:

2011 2010

Purchase

cost

IN € k

Current  

market value

IN € k

Purchase

cost 

IN € k

Current  

market value

IN € k

Securities 562 526 930 969

The trend of the liquid funds is shown in the consolidated cash flow statement.
As at 31 December 2011, a total of EUR 9,866 k (including EUR 9,486 k in so-called »pledge accounts« at three 

German commercial banks) was invested with restricted access.
The fund requirements of the subsidiaries is controlled and monitored centrally via a cash pool. The cash 

is invested in accordance with the defined investment standards. The investment in shares (excluding own 
shares) or financial derivatives is explicitly excluded. 

(10) A ssets  held for sale  / Lia bilities  held for sale  

As a result of classifying certain business segments as »held for sale«, the consolidated balance sheet is subject 
to re-division. These new divisions are united in the items B.9 and C.9. 

The long-term assets held for sale total EUR 14,631 k and are made up as follows: fixed assets at EUR 7,202 k, 
inventories at EUR 3,631 k, receivables and other assets at EUR 3,271 k and liquid funds at EUR 527 k.

The long-term liabilities held for sale, amounting to EUR 15,658 m, are made up of: short-term liabilities at 
EUR 14,320 k, long-term liabilities at EUR 59 k and deferred taxes at EUR 1,279 k.
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— Liabilities —

(11) Equity  capital 

The equity capital trend of Funkwerk AG is shown in the Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.

Subscribed capital

The capital stock of Funkwerk AG is shown at its nominal value. The capital stock amounts to EUR 8,101,241.00 
and is divided into 8,101,241 shares in the form of bearer shares with a nominal value of EUR 1 each and is 
fully paid in. The number of shares in circulation remains unchanged at the previous year’s figure of 8,059,662.

On the cutoff date, Hörmann Funkwerk Holding GmbH, Kirchseeon, held 52.83 per cent (prev. yr.: 52.83 per 
cent) of the shares in Funkwerk AG, which corresponds to 4,280,000 shares. Hörmann Funkwerk Holding GmbH 
is fully owned (100 per cent) by Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchseeon.

Approved capital

Based on a decision passed at the annual shareholders’ meeting on 28 May 2009, the Executive Board is au-
thorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the capital stock of the company by up to EUR 
4,050,000 by 27 May 2014, through a single or repeated issue of new, ordinary bearer shares in the form of non-
par shares against contributions in cash or in kind (approved capital for 2009). Furthermore, the Executive 
Board was also authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the legal subscription right 
of the shareholders
■■ in order to prevent the subscription right of the shareholders leading to peak amounts,
■■ if, where capital increases against contributions in kind in the form of companies, parts of companies, 

participating interests in companies or debt claims against the company are concerned, the shares issued 
when excluding the subscription right do not exceed 4,050,000 shares in total,

■■ if, where capital increases against cash contributions are concerned, the amount for which the shares are 
issued is not significantly lower than the stock exchange price of the shares at the time the Executive 
Board fixes the said amount and the shares issued when excluding the subscription right do not exceed 
810,000 shares in total.

Conditional capital I– III

At the ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 18 May 2005, the 2005 Share Option Plan was passed and the condi-
tional capital II was created to service that plan. Following this, a conditional capital of EUR 367,965 and EUR 
367,965 option rights were made available to the company. The authorisation to issue share options under the 
2005 Share Option Plan was given a time limit of until 18 May 2009. This means that no more share options 
can be issued from the 2005 Share Option Plan. Since the authorisation expired and a total of 155,375 options 
were not issued, the conditional capital II of EUR 155,375 was cancelled in 2010. The conditional capital II was 
renamed as conditional capital I and amounts to EUR 212,590. Individual share certificates have not yet been 
issued under this Share Option Plan. 

The shareholders of Funkwerk AG passed the 2008 Share Option Plan at the ordinary shareholders’ meet-
ing on 14 May 2008 and created the conditional capital III to grant that plan. Following this, a conditional 
capital of EUR 232,525, i.e. 232,525 option rights, was available to the company. In 2010, the conditional capital III 
was renamed as conditional capital II. Individual share certificates have not yet been issued under this Share 
Option Plan. 

At the ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 27 May 2010, the 2010 Share Option Plan was passed and, for this 
purpose, a conditional capital III of up to EUR 365,000 and 365,000 option rights were created. 

This conditional increase of capital stock will be effected only where option rights have been issued and are 
exercised by the authorised parties. The new shares will share in the profit from the beginning of the financial 
year in which they come into existence through exercise of the option right. The statutory subscription right 
of the shareholders is excluded in this respect. The nominal value of the conditional capital decided in com-
pliance with Section 192 (2) no. 3 of the German Stock Corporation Law for the establishment of share option 
plans must not exceed 10 per cent.

Conditional capital IV

At the annual shareholders’ meeting on 27 May 2010, the Executive Board was authorised to issue convertible 
and/or warrant bonds. With the agreement of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board can, until the ex-
piry of 26 May 2015, issue once or repeatedly bearer and/or registered convertible and/or warrant bonds for a 
total nominal amount of up to EUR 30,000,000 and can grant the owners/creditors of these convertible bonds 
conversion privileges and can grant owners/creditors of these warrant bonds option rights on up to a total of 
3,200.000 new bearer shares of the company. The term of the convertible and/or warrant bonds can be up to ten 
years.

To grant shares to the owners/creditors of convertible and/or warrant bonds, the annual shareholders’ 
meeting passed a resolution to create a new conditional capital IV and, thereby, decided to conditionally in-
crease the capital stock of the company by up to EUR 3,200,000 by issuing up to 3,200,000 new bearer shares. 
The conditional capital increase is only made to the extent that the owners/creditors of convertible and/or 
warrant bonds exercise their conversion privileges and option rights and/or fulfil their conversion obligations 
from such convertible and/or warrant bonds. The new shares bear dividends as of the beginning of the current 
financial year in which they were issued.

2008 Share Option Plan

The ordinary shareholders’ meeting of 14 May 2008 authorised the corporation, inter alia, to issue option 
rights to a maximum of 232,525 shares once or in several stages to members of the corporate Executive Board, 
members of the executive management of affiliated companies (Section 15 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act), executive staff at the second management level of the corporation and affiliated companies, and to 
other employees of the corporation and of affiliated companies (2008 Share Option Plan – SOP 2008). Instead of 
lapsed or as yet unexercised option rights, it is possible for new option rights to be given.

The following conditions apply to both issue and exercise:
■■ Allottees must be members of the Executive Board or staff of the group.
■■ At the time of issuing, the allottees must be in permanent employment at a company of the Funkwerk group. 
■■ The option rights may be issued to the authorised parties once or several times during a period of ten 

trading days, beginning twelve trading days after a shareholders’ meeting or after the publication of an 
annual or quarterly report (»issuance period«). The decision as to whether and to what extent option rights 
are granted to an employee is made at the discretion of the corporate management. There is no legal claim 
to a future granting of option rights.

The option right has a life of four years, beginning with the end of the applicable issuance period. The option 
right lapses without compensation on the last day of the life of the option right at the latest.

The option right may be exercised for the first time after a period of two years from the end of the respec-
tive issuance period (»waiting period«). After the waiting period, the option right can only be exercised during 
a period of 10 trading days following the day of the ordinary shareholders’ meeting or the publication of a 
quarterly report of the company (»exercise periods«).
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A trading day is defined as any day during which the German Stock Market is open for trading.
The option right may only be exercised by the authorised parties within the exercise period if at any time 

since the granting of option rights the average closing price of the corporate share in XETRA trading has ex-
ceeded the exercise price once by at least 16 per cent (»performance target«). Once the upside target for the 
option rights has been reached, they can be exercised irrespective of the further price performance of the 
share during the term of the option right within the exercise periods.

2010 Share Option Plan 

The ordinary shareholders’ meeting of 27 May 2010 authorised the corporation, inter alia, to issue option 
rights to a maximum of 365,000 shares once or in several stages to members of the corporate Executive Board, 
members of the executive management of affiliated companies (Section 15 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act), executive staff at the second management level of the corporation and affiliated companies, and to other 
employees of the corporation and of affiliated companies (2010 Share Option Plan – SOP 2010). Instead of lapsed 
or as yet unexercised option rights, it is possible for new option rights to be given. 

The terms and conditions for the options for the SOP 2010 deviate in one instance from the SOP 2008:
Unlike the previous option plan, the option right has a term of six years beginning from the end of the 

respective issue period. The option right expires without compensation with the expiry of the last day of the 
term at the latest. In contrast to the previous option plan, the option right can be exercised for the first time 
after the expiry of four years, beginning with the end of the respective issue period (»waiting period«).

For a further presentation of the terms and conditions for the options, please refer to the 2008 Share 
Option Plan.

The following breakdown shows the stock development of the shares authorised for subscription and the 
issue prices in the period under review:

weighted average 

exercise price 

per share 2011

€

Number of  

options 2011

 

€

weighted average 

exercise price 

per share 2010

€

Number of  

options 2010

 

€

Outstanding at the start  

of the reporting period

8.17 423,425 10.23 428,535

Options granted in the  

reporting period

0 0 6.76 114,385

Options forfeited in the  

reporting period

6.99 47,585 9.99 22,305

Options lapsed in the  

reporting period

14.60 99,690 15.01 97,190

Options outstanding at the  

end of the reporting period

6.04 276,150 8.17 423,425

Options exercisable at the  

end of the reporting period

5.66 177,990 14.60 104,760

No options could be exercised in the period under review. The weighted average of the remaining contractual 
period as at 31 December 2011 was 3 years.

The current market value of the options granted in the 2008 to 2010 financial years, which were used to 
calculate the expenses and the comparative data of the previous year, was determined on the basis of the bino-
mial option price model. The following table shows the valuation premises applied:

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rate (in %) 4.0 2.23 2.7

Term in years 6 4 4

Expected volatility 44 55 50

Expected dividend yield 0 2.19 4.0

Curr. mkt. value of options (in EUR) 1.68 2.19 0.97

Share price at issue (in EUR) 6.46 5.80 4.05

The calculation of the expected volatility was estimated by Funkwerk AG based on the historical share price 
figures of a six year period (prev. yr.: four). The fluctuation was set at 5 per cent.

Capital reserves 

The capital reserves include the revenue generated from the issue of shares (premium) that exceeds the par 
value per share of EUR 1. It rose by EUR 107 k in 2011 (prev. yr.: EUR 152 k) due to the recorded personnel ex-
penditure for share options. Since no share options could be exercised in the context of the share option plan 
in the period under review, there was no additional change to the capital reserve above and beyond this. Since 
the introduction of the share option plans, the capital reserves have increased by EUR 2,287 k in total due to 
exercised options, and by EUR 3,496 k when applying IFRS 2. The capital reserves serve to finance the further 
growth of Funkwerk. 

Earnings per share

The earnings per share are calculated as follows:

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Earnings of the shareholders of Funkwerk AG in € k – 15,939 – 24,880

Earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) in € – 1.98 – 3.08

Earnings of the shareholders of Funkwerk AG in € k

(retained business segments) 

– 18,949 – 22,697

Earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) in €

(retained business segments)

– 2.35 – 2.82

The weighted average number of ordinary shares, which was used for calculating the undiluted and diluted 
earnings per share, can be derived as follows:

2011

× 1000

2010

× 1000

Issued shares, 1 Jan /31 Dec 8,101 8,101

Own shares, 1 Jan /31 Dec – 41 – 41

Weighted, average number of ordinary shares used  

for calculating the undiluted earnings per share

8,060 8,060

The potential ordinary shares with dilution effect should not be considered for the financial year because they 
would reduce the loss per share for the period.
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Retained earnings (revenue reserve) 

The revenue reserve includes the retained prior-year results. 

Own shares 

By resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting on 27 May 2010, the company was authorised to acquire its 
own stock up to a share of 10 per cent of the current capital stock by the end of 26 May 2015. At no point in time 
may the acquired shares together with other own shares in the possession of the company or assigned to the 
company according to Sections 71a ff. of the German Stock Corporation Law (§§ 71a ff. AktG) account for 
more than 10 per cent of the capital stock. The time limit only applies to the acquisition, not to ownership of 
the shares.

The countervalue for the acquisition of these shares must not exceed the unweighted average of the 
share price in the closing auction in the XETRA trading system (or a commensurate successor system) at the 
Frankfurt Stock Market on the previous five stock trading days by more than 10 per cent or fall below this price 
by more than 10 per cent. If the company share price is not established in the closing auction in the XETRA 
trading system (or a commensurate successor system) at the Frankfurt Stock Market on one or more trading 
days, then the relevant company share price in the closing auction in the floor trading at the Frankfurt Stock 
Market will take its place.

If the acquisition is made using a public bid or using a public invitation to submit a bid, then the bid of-
fered or the limit value of the purchase price range per share (without additional acquisition costs) must not 
exceed by more than 10 per cent the unweighted average of the company share price in the closing auction in 
the XETRA trading system (or a commensurate successor system) at the Frankfurt Stock Market on the five 
stock-market trading days before the day of publishing the bid or of public invitation to submit a bid, or fall 
below this figure by more than 10 per cent. If, after the publication of a bid and/or after the public invitation to 
submit a bid, considerable deviations exist to the authoritative price, then the bid or the invitation to submit 
one such bid, can be adjusted. In this case, the average price of the three stock market trading days before the 
publication of a possible adjustment will be used. The bid or the invitation to submit one such bid can stipu-
late further conditions. If the bid is over-subscribed or, in the case of an invitation to submit a bid from sev-
eral equivalent bids, they are not all accepted, then the acceptance must be made using quotas. A preferential 
acceptance of low quantities of up to 100 for the acquisition of offered shares per shareholder can be stipulated.

The company is authorised to sell its own shares by methods other than through the stock market or 
through offers to all shareholders, so as to be able to offer shares of the company to third parties within the 
scope of mergers with companies or the acquisition of, or investments in, companies. The subscription right 
of the shareholders is excluded where own shares acquired by the company are used in order to offer shares of 
the company to third parties within the scope of mergers with companies or the acquisition of, or investments 
in, companies. This authorisation can be exercised fully or in part amounts, once or on several occasions, in 
pursuit of one or several of the specified purposes. Finally, the Executive Board is authorised to redeem either 
entirely or in part the own shares of the company bought on the basis of its authorisation, without the require-
ment of a further resolution passed by the shareholders’ meeting for the redemption.

Funkwerk AG, Kölleda, did not acquire any own shares in the year under review. On the cutoff date, the 
stock remains unchanged at 41,579 shares and has a value of EUR 1,062 k. The own shares are split between 
securities accounts at three banks. The own shares are shown as a separate item of the equity capital.

(12) Pension obligations

The pension accruals reported on the balance sheet are the result of commitments made to the employees of 
Funkwerk Security Communications GmbH (FSC), Salzgitter, Funkwerk Electronic Services GmbH, (FES), 
Salzgitter, and Funkwerk Information Technologies Karlsfeld GmbH (FITK). This concerns assurances from 
performance-orientated pension schemes based on company agreements and other agreements. The pension 
accruals are calculated based on independent actuarial opinions. The scope and level of the pension are es-
sentially governed by the number of years in service.

All pension schemes have been closed.
The valuation assumptions and methods at the beginning and the end of the year under review can be 

summarised as follows:

Beginning  

of year  

under review

FSC / FES

End of year 

under review  

FSC / FES

Beginning /

end of year 

under review

FITK

Accounting standards applied IAS 19

Projected Unit Credit MethodValuation standards applied

Assumptions on mortality 2005 G K. Heubeck reference tables

Assumed rate of interest p.a. 4.65 % 4.60 % 4.20 % / 4.70 %

Expected annual increase of the income threshold 3.00 % 3.00 % 2.50 % / 2.50 %

Expected annual increase in income 3.00 % 3.00 % 2.50 % / 2.50 %

Expected annual increase in pensions 2.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 % / 2.00 %

Average fluctuation <=1 % <=1  % 1.50 % / 1.50 %

Average remaining employment period 7.88 / 9.78 6.90 / 9.10 9 / 12

The actuarial profits and losses are recorded using the method in accordance with IAS 19.92– 93 (»corridor method«).
The expenditure for adjustment of the pension obligation was recorded in personnel expenses, the interest 

paid for the obligations was shown in the other financial results. 

1. 	Development of the defined benefit obligation (IAS 19.120 A (c))

FEC 

IN € K

FSC 

IN € K

FES 

IN € K

FITK

IN € K

Total

IN € K

At 31 December 2010 0 6,304 2,246 4,899 13,449

Service cost 0 77 52 114 243

Interest cost 0 300 106 204 610

Actuarial profits / losses 0 – 2 – 14 – 531 – 547

Benefits paid 0 – 301 – 94 – 83 – 478

Transfer payments 0 – 156 156 0 0

At 31 December 2011 0 6,222 2,452 4,603 13,277

At 31 December 2009 30 5,928 2,075 3,729 11,762

Service cost 0 78 64 99 241

Interest cost 0 304 106 203 613

Actuarial profits / losses 0 259 145 946 1.350

Benefits paid – 30 – 290 – 144 – 78 – 542

Transfer payments 0 25 0 0 25

At 31 December 2010 0 6,304 2,246 4,899 13,449
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2.	Analysis of the Defined Benefit Obligation (IAS 19.120 A (d))

The plans were not financed via a fund.

3.	Planned assets

The consolidated group does not have any reimbursement rights or planned assets.

4. Reconciliation to the balance sheet item (IAS 19.120 A (f))

FSC 

IN € K

FES 

IN € K

FITK

IN € K

Gesamt

IN € K

Defined Benefit Obligation as at 31 December 2011 6,222 2,452 4,603 13,277

Actuarial profits /losses not yet recognised – 840 304 56 – 480

Defined Benefit Liability as at 31 December 2011 5,382 2,756 4,659 12,797

Defined Benefit Obligation as at 31 December 2010 6,304 2,246 4,899 13,449

Actuarial profits /losses not yet recognised – 842 319 – 475 – 998

Defined Benefit Liability as at 31 December 2010 5,462 2,565 4,424 12,451

In addition to the pension obligations carried as liabilities, there are also provisions for similar obligations, 
amounting to EUR 25 k (prev. yr.: EUR 74 k).

5. Expense components (IAS 19.120 A (g))

2011 FSC 

IN € k

FES 

IN € k

FITK

IN € k

Total 

IN € k

a. in personnel expenses

Current service cost 77 52 114 243

Actuarial profits /losses 0 – 30 0 – 30

Total personnel expenses 77 22 114 213

b. in financial results

Interest cost 300 106 204 610

Total financial results 300 106 204 610

Grand Total 377 128 318 823

2010

a. in personnel expenses

Current service cost 78 64 99 241

Actuarial profits /losses 0 – 28 – 11 – 39

Total personnel expenses 78 36 88 202

b.in financial results

Interest cost 304 106 203 613

Total financial results 304 106 203 613

Grand Total 382 142 291 815

The components of the expenses (IAS 19.120 A (q) expected for the 2012 financial year are EUR 253 k (personnel 
expenditure) and/or EUR 605 k (financial results).

6.	Amounts for the current reporting period and the previous four reporting periods (IAS 19.120 A (p))

31/12/2011

in € k

31/12/2010 

in € k

31/12/2009 

in € k

31/12/2008

in € k

31/12/2007

in € k

Defined Benefit Obligation 13,277 13,449 11,762 11,338 11,192

Deficit in the plan 13,277 13,449 11,762 11,338 11,192

The expenses for defined contribution pension schemes (direct insurance schemes, statutory social security) 
amount to EUR 4,477 k (prev. yr.: EUR 4,517 k).

(13) Deferred invest   ment subsidies

The prepaid expenses item developed as follows in the period under review:

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

At 1 January 1,012 1,151

Transfer 671 96

Release – 1,079 – 235

At 31 December 604 1,012

In the statement of income and accumulated earnings, the income from the release of the prepaid expenses 
item is divided up between the items: Other operating income (EUR 331 k) and Impairment charges of intan-
gible assets (EUR 748 k).

The breakdown into investment subsidies and allowances is shown in the following table:

Investment 

subsidy

IN € k

Investment 

allowance

IN € k

At 1 January 2010 784 367

Transfer – 18 114

Release – 158 – 77

At 31 December 2010 608 404

Transfer 14 657

Release – 133 – 946

At 31 December 2011 489 115

The prepaid expenses item has the following maturities:

Up to 1 years EUR 87 k (prev. yr.: EUR 138 k)

1 to 5 years EUR 149 k (prev. yr.: EUR 482 k)

Over 5 years EUR 368 k (prev. yr.: EUR 392 k)
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The granting of subsidies is fundamentally linked to the observance of certain constraints and/or conditions, 
some of which may cover several years and extend into the future. On any non-fulfilment, the Funkwerk group 
could be threatened with an obligation to repay the received subsidies in whole or in part, which would have a 
lasting effect on the economic position of the company. Regular checks of the granted subsidies have shown no 
cause for complaint to date.

(14) Deferred taxes    

The deferred taxes result from deviations between the tax balance sheet and the trade balance sheet II ac-
cording to IFRS. These were calculated with the respective rates for taxes on income. For domestic (German) 
companies, the corporate income tax rate in the 2011 financial year was 15 per cent (in prev. yr.: 15 per cent) plus 
the solidarity tax of 5.5 per cent (in prev. yr.: 5.5 per cent). Taking the trade tax rate into consideration, this 
gives an effective taxation rate of 26 per cent (in prev. yr.: 26 per cent). Consolidation measures affecting net 
income and, consequently, deferred taxes were taken into account. We refer here to F.30.

(15) Financial    lia bilities

The sharp increase in financial liabilities comes as a result of utilising the money market loan at the level of 
EUR 12,500 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k). The loan period was initially set to run until January 2012 and has since al-
ready been extended for a further quarter year. The money market loan is charged variable interest at 3.25 per 
cent above the Euribor rate p.a.

As regard the collateral, we refer to D.19.

(16) Tra  de accounts paya ble

The remaining maturities are short term. We refer here to item D.19.

(17) A dvance  pay ments receive  d on orders

This item includes advances from customers where no chargeable service has as yet been rendered. 

(18) Due to affiliate d companies 

On the cutoff date of 31 December 2011, there were liabilities due to the majority shareholder, Hörmann Funkwerk 
Holding GmbH, or Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG amounting to EUR 390 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k). On 31 December 
2010, the liabilities related solely to unconsolidated own companies and/or affiliated companies (EUR 56 k).

(19) Tax  lia bilities

Taxes and fiscal charges incurred as at the closing date, whose amount has not yet been determined, are 
covered by the »tax liabilities« item. Typically, Funkwerk is subject to two types of tax on income, i.e. trade tax 
and corporate income tax. The corporate income tax was subject to a uniform tax rate of 15 per cent plus 5.5 
per cent solidarity surcharge, the trade tax on average amounting to 10 per cent. 

(20) Accrued lia bilities

The trend of accrued liabilities in the year under review is shown in the following table:

01/01/2011

 

IN € k

Utilisation 

 

IN € k

Release

 

IN € k

Allocation

 IN € k

Decon

solidation / 

Redivision as 

per IFRS 5

IN € k

31/12/2011 

IN € k

Warranties 6,444 2,820 355 2,011 682 4,598

Usage fee 3,582 25 1,775 250 0 2,032

Personnel  

accruals

1,816 669 31 927 0 2,043

Impending  

losses

461 281 10 313 26 457

Other accrued 

liabilities

2,020 1,178 49 1,750 141 2,402

Total 14,323 4,973 2,220 5,251 849 11,532

The accrued liabilities have durations of less than a year. 
The accrued liabilities for usage fee were carried as liabilities on the balance sheet under fees and licence 

fees for the use of know-how. It was possible here within the AC business segment to implement a release af-
fecting the earnings at the level of EUR 1,775 k. 

The personnel accruals essentially contain planned severance payments. 
The remaining accrued liabilities essentially contain provisions for penalties and litigation expenses. 

(21) Other lia bilities

The other short-term liabilities are composed of the following:

31/12/2011 

IN € k

31/12/2010 

IN € k

Other taxes 2,336 3,987

Social security liabilities 75 228

Outstanding holiday entitlements 764 1,238

Overtime claims 489 652

Partial retirement 911 1,437

Profit-sharing bonus 1,731 1,910

Other personnel liabilities 2,805 1,895

Miscellaneous 2,568 2,495

Total 11,679 13,842
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(24) Personnel  expenses    

The personnel expenses concern expenditure for wages and salaries at EUR 66,429 k (prev. yr.: EUR 68,375 k) 
and social security contributions, expenditure for retirement pension and benefits at EUR 12,161 k (prev. yr.: 
EUR 12,803 k).

The personnel expenses of the business segments that were given up was EUR 16,102 k (prev. yr.: EUR 17,815 k).

(25) Other operating  income

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

Income from release of accrued liabilities 2,220 760

Income from release of liabilities 465 1,128

Income from release of prepaid expenses item  

for investment subsidies and allowances

331 235

Expense subsidies 623 1,642

Remuneration in kind 464 508

Earnings from the retirement of fixed assets 10 2

Gains on exchange 328 1,319

Release of value impairments 67 311

Miscellaneous 2,147 939

Total 6,655 6,844

In regard to the release of special items for investment subsidies and allowances, please refer to the explanations 
under item F. 13. The expense subsidies relate to supported projects, for example within the scope of research 
activities, training activities for junior staff (»education and research«), and personnel expense allowances. 

The income from the release of accrued liabilities were recognised where the future outflow of resources 
is no longer probable.

(26) Other operating  expenses  

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

Space and building expenses 4,452 4,715

Administrative expenses 6,467 6,232

Selling expenses 4,821 5,103

Allocation to reserve for warranties 1,289 1,231

Operating expenses 2,338 2,678

Current-asset valuation adjustments 553 381

Vehicle expenses 2,072 2,078

Losses on exchange 382 432

Miscellaneous 1,598 1,433

Total 23,972 24,283

F. Statement of Income and Accumulated Earnings

(22) Sales   revenues  

In the 2011 financial year, Funkwerk generated sales totalling EUR 164,569 k. Sales revenues are recorded as net 
sales after deduction of discounts, rebates, and allowances. The sales revenues are divided by corporate seg-
ments and regions.

Breakdown into geographic markets 

*	 We refer here to the presentation of the transition under section H.

13.4 per cent of the total sales revenues of the retained segments of the Funkwerk group were realised with 
a single customer (corresponds to EUR 22,043 k, segments TCC and SC).

(23) Cost of m aterials  

In the financial year, the cost of materials consists of expenditure for raw materials and supplies at EUR 
74,821 k (prev. yr.: EUR 80,166 k) and expenditure for services received at EUR 21,961 k (prev. yr.: EUR 26,927 k).
The cost of materials of the business segments that were given up was EUR 12,962 k (prev. yr.: EUR 16,840 k). 

2011 TRAFFIC & CONTROL

COMMUNICATION

AUTOMOTIVE 

COMMUNICATION

ENTERPRISE

COMMUNICATION

SECURITY

COMMUNICATION

Total 

sales 

revenues

Tran

sition  

as per  

IFRS 5*

Sales rev.  

of retained  

segment

IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k IN € k IN € k In %

Domestic 57,963 58.4 19,478 76.2 21,357 76.9 34,677 73.6 133,475 – 25,887 107,588 65.4

EU 30,836 31.1 5,777 22.6 6,154 22.2 11,139 23.6 53,906 – 8,002 45,904 27.9

Other 

foreign 

countries 

10,423 10.5 320 1.2 254 0.9 1,297 2.8 12,294 – 1,217 11,077 6.7

Total 99,222 100.0 25,575 100.0 27,765 100.0 47,113 100.0 199,675 – 35,106 164,569 100.0

2010 TRAFFIC & CONTROL

COMMUNICATION

AUTOMOTIVE 

COMMUNICATION

ENTERPRISE

COMMUNICATION

SECURITY

COMMUNICATION

Total 

sales 

revenues

Tran

sition  

as per  

IFRS 5*

Sales rev.  

of retained  

segment

IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k In % IN € k IN € k IN € k In %

Domestic 56,838 55.4 25,173 82.4 21,020 74.2 33,244 67.2 136,275 – 33,178 103,097 61.1

EU 33,605 32.7 4,849 15.9 6,675 23.6 12,724 25.7 57,853 – 8,250 49,603 29.4

Other 

foreign 

countries 

12,207 11.9 515 1.7 618 2.2 3,500 7.1 16,840 – 902 15,938 9.5

Total 102,650 100.0 30,537 100.0 28,313 100.0 49,468 100.0 210,968 – 42,330 168,638 100.0
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(27) �Impairment and other expenses from the Algerian project business  

and impairment charges of intangible assets 

For information on impairment charges for intangible assets, we refer to the information given in section E.1 

of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and to the consolidated fixed-asset movement schedule.
The value impairments shown in the previous year from the Algerian project business essentially con-

cerned value adjustments on receivables from projects in progress amounting to EUR 6,056 k, allocations to 
reserves totalling EUR 900 k and elimination of the receivables to the amount of EUR 570 k. 

(28) Restructuring  costs 

The restructuring costs in the 2011 financial year essentially concern settlements and expenses for tran
sitional companies totalling EUR 3,546 k (prev. yr.: EUR 1,884 k).

(29) Financial    results

2011

€ k

2010

€ k

Profit from currency futures dealing / currency options 7 383

Interest and similar revenue 221 91

Write-up of investment classified as current assets 0 8

228 482

Interest and similar expenses – 1,552 – 472

Interest cost for pension obligations – 610 – 613

Write-down of financial assets 0 – 858

Write-down of participating interests – 24 0

Loss from currency futures dealing / currency options – 259 – 212

– 2,445 – 2,155

Financial results – 2,217 – 1,673

– 2,445 – 2,155

Summe – 2,217 – 1,673

The depreciation on financial assets made in the previous year related to a partial depreciation on the 
credit balance in Algeria which is not available in the short term or blocked. 

(30) Taxes    on income

Composition of the tax expenditure:

2011

€ k

2010

€ k

Actual tax expenditure 2,335 3,864

Deferred tax expenditure 1,274 2,225

Taxes on income 3,609 6,089

The taxes on income include a tax expense of EUR 1,895 k that is unrelated to the accounting period.
The following deferred tax accruals and liabilities shown in the balance sheet were attributable to dif-

ferences in methodology and valuation in regard to the individual balance sheet items and to tax losses 
carried forward:

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Deferred tax

accruals

Deferred tax

liabilities

Deferred tax

accruals

Deferred tax

liabilities

Intangible assets 512 6,190 511 6,155

Tangible assets 22 358 7 335

Financial assets 738 713 737 713

Inventories 1,757 216 4,625 92

Accounts receivable and other assets 25 510 20 3,232

Pension accruals 682 0 484 0

Provisions 374 0 641 0

Liabilities 372 26 671 28

Deferred investment subsidies 32 0 97 0

Tax losses carried forward 2,927 0 4,395 0

Balancing out – 7,441 – 7,441 – 12,188 – 12,188

Total 0 2,345 0 1,071

Of which, accounted for by sold business segments 0 1,279 0 0

Balance sheet figure 0 1,066 0 1,071
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Transition from the anticipated income tax revenue to the reported income tax expenditure

2011

IN € k

2010

IN € k

Result of retained business segments before taxes on income – 15,340 – 16,608

Result of sold business segments before taxes on income 3,534 – 706

Result before taxes on income – 11,806 – 17,314

Rate of taxation of Funkwerk group 26.00 % 26.00 %

Anticipated income tax expenditure – 3,070 – 4,502

Transition

Tax rate variances

	 a) Effects of tax rate changes/differences – 64 – 702

	 b) Effects from tax rate differences of foreign fiscal regions – 36 – 2

Tax effects from variances in the basis of assessment

	 a) Tax-free foreign plant income as per double taxation agreement 552 2,783

	 b) Tax-free income from investments and gain on disposal or other transfer – 1,220 0

	 c) Disposal losses not recognised for tax purposes 0 868

	 d) Non-deductible expenditure 319 257

	 e) Other tax-free income – 96 0

	 f) Corporate income tax increases or decreases 138 106

Valuation of deferred tax assets

	 a) Non-recognition of deferred tax assets 5,469 6,442

	 b) �Utilisation of tax losses carried forward that have not yet accrued  

deferred tax assets

– 300 – 185

	 c) �Deferral of tax losses carried forward that have not yet accrued  

deferred tax assets

– 100 – 272

	 d) �Lapse of tax losses carried forward that have not yet accrued  

deferred tax assets

0 16

	 e) Lapse of tax losses carried forward, which arose in the current year 243

Effects not identified with the specified period

	 a) Current and deferred taxes, previous years 1,884 2,421

Tax effects on consolidation level

	 a) Depreciation of goodwill 481 262

Other – 67 74

Income tax expenditure 4,133 7,566

	 Of which, income tax from sold business segments – 524 – 1,477

	 Of which, income tax from retained business segments 3,609 6,089

Group tax load ratio (retained business segments) – 23.53 % – 36.66 %

The domestic group companies did not report any deferred tax claims on the tax losses carried forward that 
totalled EUR 47,641 k (in prev. yr.: EUR 34,851 k).

G. Cash Flow Statement 

(31) Cas h flows from operating  activities  

The cash flow from operating activities is an indicator of the extent to which the company managed to 
generate cash surplus through its operative business. 

The item »Other non-cash expenditure and income« particularly includes the income from the sale of 
Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH for EUR 5,071 k. On the other side, expenditure includes expenses 
incurred in the context of reporting the share options as per IFRS 2 totalling EUR 107 k (prev. yr.: EUR 152 k). 

(32) Cas h flows from investing    activities  

This cash flow shows the extent to which expenses for resources were incurred that are to generate future 
income and cash flows. 

(33) Pay ments from the sale  of participating  interests  of consolidated companies 

The payments result from the sale of the consolidated subsidiary Alpha Mess-Steuer-Regeltechnik GmbH and 
represent the difference of the purchase price less transaction costs and outgoing liquid funds (EUR 15 k).

(34) Free cas h flow

The free cash flow serves as an indicator for company-internal control.

(35) Cas h flows from financing   activities  

The cash flow from financing activities goes hand in hand with the completion of a consortium financing scheme 
which took place in the year under review. The credit line actually used at the cutoff date was EUR 12,500 k.

(36) Cas h an d cas h equivalents   at the end of the period

The cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period reported in the consolidated cash flow statement con-
sist of: EUR 17,424 k (prev. yr.: 10,377 k) for the retained business segments and EUR 527 k (prev. yr.: EUR 1,679 k) 
for the sold business segments.

As at 31 December 2011 a total of EUR 9,486 k is invested with restricted access in so-called »pledge ac-
counts« at three German commercial banks.

The cash and cash equivalents do not contain restricted-access bank credit balances in Algeria totalling 
EUR 3,000 k (prev. yr.: EUR 3,000 k), since these are included in the balance-sheet item Financial assets. We 
refer here to the details in the Consolidated Management Report, section 7, Risk report and risk management, 
risks from the Algerian business.

As regards the net cash flows of the sold business segments, we refer to section C.2 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
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H. Segment Reporting 

Funkwerk structures its business in clearly separated business segments: Traffic & Control Communication 
(abbr.: TCC), Automotive Communication (abbr.: AC), Enterprise Communication (abbr.: EC [ sold business seg-
ment ] ), Security Communication (abbr.: SC). 	

In 2011, the Executive Board of Funkwerk decided that the EC segment would no longer be of strategic inter-
est in future. The internal reporting in 2011 contained the three strategic segments plus the EC sales segment.

Consequently, the segment reporting complies with IFRS 8. 

The long-term assets related to the foreign companies of the group amount to EUR 2,480 k (prev. yr.: EUR 
2,689 k) and relate to the TCC segment (in prev. yr.: TCC with EUR 2,648 k and EC with EUR 41 k).

Calculation   of EBIT an d reconciliation to the sh are holders ’ results

Year tcC

€ k

AC

€ k

EC

€ k

Sc

€ k

Group

€ k

Sold bus.  

seg-

ments

€ k

Corr. 

cons.

€ k

Retained 

bus. segs

 

€ k

Total sales revenues 2011 99,228 25,613 27,925 55,689 208,455

 102,682 30,811 28,494 57,508 219,495

Sales revenues with other  

business segm.*

2011 5 38 160 8,577 8,780

2010 32 274 181 8,040 8,527

External sales revenues 2011 99,223 25,575 27,765 47,112 199,675 – 44,056 8,950 164,569

 102,650 30,537 28,313 49,468 210,968 – 50,801 8,471 168,638

Other operating income 2011 7,558 3,491 500 645 12,194 – 6,269 730 6,655

2010 3,790 1,713 1,127 1,389 8,019 – 2,027 852 6,844

Segment revenues 2011 106,781 29,066 28,265 47,757 211,869 – 50,325 9,680 171,224

2010 106,440 32,250 29,440 50,857 218,987 – 52,828 9,323 175,482

Inventory changes of finished  

goods and work in progress

2011 – 2,403 – 19 0 478 – 1,944 8 0 – 1,936

2010 – 585 – 61 0 1,036 390 48 0 438

Own work capitalised  

(development)

2011 1,444 2,334 1,749 1,864 7,391 – 1,750 0 5,641

2010 2,663 2,167 2,085 2,524 9,439 – 2,085 0 7,354

Cost of materials 2011 43,570 16,143 13,871 23,198 96,782 – 21,912 8,950 83,820

2010 49,033 18,919 13,917 25,224 107,093 – 25,311 8,471 90,253

Personnel expenses 2011 37,136 11,071 9,685 20,698 78,590 – 16,102 0 62,488

2010 39,339 10,575 9,769 21,495 81,178 – 17,815 0 63,363

Planned depreciation of

fixed assets

2011 1,842 1,627 312 1,476 5,257 – 726 0 4,531

2010 2,565 1,419 1,030 1,382 6,396 – 1,268 0 5,128

Planned depreciation of

development work

2011 831 1,292 530 1,147 3,800 – 530 0 3,270

2010 336 549 192 1,045 2,122 –192 0 1,930

Other operating expenses 2011 13,050 4,075 6,669 8,060 31,854 – 8,612 730 23,972

2010 12,466 3,872 5,929 9,128 31,395 – 7,964 852 24,283

Operating result before impairment  

charges and restructuring costs

2011 9,393 – 2,827 – 1,053 – 4,480 1,033 – 4,185 0 – 3,152

2010 4,779 – 978 688 – 3,857 632 – 2,315 0 – 1,683

Impairment charges for Algeria 2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2010 0 0 0 7,816 7,816 0 0 7,816

Impairment charges on  

intangible assets

2011 2,500 2,778 0 0 5,278 0 0 5,278

2010 1,301 936 0 1,195 3,432 0 0 3,432

Restructuring costs 2011 1,557 1,458 116 1,678 4,809 – 116 0 4,693

2010 1,129 0 148 875 2,152 – 148 0 2,004

Operating result = Segment result 2011 5,336 – 7,063 – 1,169 – 6,158 – 9,054 – 4,069 0 – 13,123

2010 2,349 – 1,914 540 – 13,743 – 12,768 – 2,167 0 – 14,935

* The sales revenues with other business segments are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

JAHR TCC

€ k

AC

€ k

EC

€ k

SC

€ k

Non- 

allocated 

items

€ k

Group 

€ k

Intangible and tangible assets 2011 21,293 6,374 0 9,192 0 36,859

2010 26,270 9,327 5,763 8,522 0 49,882

Investment in intangible and tangible assets 2011 2,367 3,457 2,198 3,270 0 11,292

2010 3,562 2,778 2,494 3,226 0 12,060

Inventories 2011 19,418 4,185 0 12,008 0 35,611

 21,709 5,878 2,936 13,037 0 43,560

Trade accounts receivable and from work in 

progress 

2011 20,834 3,545 0 14,345 0 38,724

2010 21,173 2,212 1,812 10,449 0 35,646

Other current assets 2011 0 0 0 0 32,085 32,085

2010 0 0 0 0 20,561 20,561

Segment assets 2011 61,545 14,104 0 35,603 32,085 143,279

2010 69,152 17,417 10,511 32,008 20,561 149,649

Other long-term assets 2011 4 0 0 0 0 4

2010 4 7 0 32 0 43

Assets held for sale 2011 0 0 0 0 14,631 14,631

2010 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total assets 2011 61,549 13,887 0 34,312 48,166 157,914

2010 69,156 17,424 10,511 32,040 20,561 149,692

Pension obligations 2011 4,659 0 0 8,163 0 12,822

2010 4,424 0 48 8,053 0 12.,525

Advance payments received 2011 6,536 169 0 2,299 0 9,004

2010 6,644 0 7 2,084 0 8,735

Trade accounts payable 2011 16,681 2,892 0 8,366 0 27,939

2010 16,785 3,658 1,194 7,731 0 29,368

Accrued liabilities 2011 8,907 969 0 1,656 0 11,532

2010 8,906 2,125 620 2,672 0 14,323

Other debts 2011 0 0 0 0 32,299 32,299

2010 0 0 0 0 20,282 20,282

Segment liabilities 2011 36,783 4,030 0 20,484 32,299 93,596

2010 36,759 5,783 1,869 20,540 20,282 85,233

Liabilities held for sale 2011 0 0 0 0 15,658 15,658

2010 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total liabilities 2011 36,783 4,030 0 20,484 47,957 109,254

2010 36,759 5,783 1,869 20,540 20,282 85,233
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Transition   of segment reporting for sales   revenues   , operating  result  before  

impair ment ch arges   an d before restructuring  costs  an d operating  result  of  

retaine  d business  segments

Sales revenues of retained business segments

Year tcC

€ k

AC

€ k

EC

€ k

Sc

€ k

Group 

€ k

Sales revenues for the segment 2011 99,228 25,613 27,925 55,689 208,455

2010 102,682 30,811 28,494 57,508 219,495

Sales revenues with other business segm.* 2011 – 5 – 38 – 160 – 8,577 – 8,780

2010 – 32 – 274 – 181 – 8,040 – 8,527

Reduction of sales revenues of sold  

business segments

2011 – 12,777 – 3,353 – 27,765 0 – 43,895

2010 – 19,025 – 3,286 – 28,313 0 – 50,624

Sales revenues of segments, which are  

continued with sold business segments

2011 0 386 0 8,403 8,789

2010 0 328 0 7,966 8,294

Sales revenues of retained business segments 2011 86,446 22,608 0 55,515 164,569

2010 83,625 27,579 0 57,434 168,638

*   The sales revenues with other business segments are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

Operating result before impairment charges and restructuring costs of the retained business segments

Operating result of the retained business segments

Year tcC

€ k

AC

€ k

EC

€ k

Sc

€ k

Non-al-

located 

expen-

diture

€ k

Group

€ k

Operating result 2011 5,336 – 7,063 – 1,169 – 6,158  – 9,054

2010 2,349 – 1,914 540 – 13,743  – 12,768

Operating result of the  

sold business segments

2011 – 4,941 163 1,169 0 – 460 – 4,069

2010 – 1,224 – 162 – 540 0 – 241 – 2,167

Operating result of the  

retained business segments

2011 395 – 6,900 0 – 6,158 – 460 – 13,123

2010 1,125 – 2,076 0 – 13,743 – 241 – 14,935

The exchange of payments between the segments is made at normal market terms and conditions, as with 
external third parties.

The presentation of the financial result corresponds to the management approach of IFRS 8. 
For a distribution of sales revenues according to geographically organised markets, please see section E.

I. Other Disclosures

1.	 Guarantees   

As at the cutoff date, the Funkwerk group had guarantees for the benefit of customers and suppliers and bank 
guarantees totalling EUR 29,721 k (prev. yr.: EUR 39,312 k). These essentially comprised guarantees for contractual 
fulfilments amounting to EUR 16,645 k (prev. yr.: EUR 16,488 k) and advance payments amounting to EUR 9,256 k 
(prev. yr.: EUR 18,376 k). In addition, in the previous year there were also debt assumption agreements of the sub-
sidiary Funkwerk Security Communications GmbH to the amount of EUR 690 k and also of Funkwerk Informa-
tion Technologies York Ltd. (indirect subsidiary) to the amount of EUR 344 k.

2.	� Contingent lia bilities  an d other financial    obligations an d  

financial    leasing   as  lessor

Other financial obligations exist for: 

Term

up to 1 year 

€ k

up to 5 years 

€ k

Total

€ k

Long-term rental and lease agreements 3,235 2,697 5,932

Long-term leasing agreements 1,277 1,674 2,951

Other financial obligations 34 105 139

4,546 4,476 9,022

	 Of which, retained business segments 3,692 3,800 7,492

The rental and leasing expenses of the financial year are EUR 3,766 k (prev. yr.: 5,907 k). 

Year tcC

€ k

AC

€ k

EC

€ k

Sc

€ k

Non-al-

located 

expen-

diture

€ k

Group

€ k

Operating result before impairment  

charges and restructuring costs

2011 9,393 – 2,827 – 1,053 – 4,480  1,033

2010 4,779 – 978 688 – 3,857  632

Operating result before impairment charges and  

restructuring costs of the sold business segments

2011 – 4,941 163 1,053 0 – 460 – 4,185

2010 – 1,224 – 162 – 688 0 – 241 – 2,315

Operating result before impairment charges and  

restructuring costs of the retained business segments

2011 4,452 – 2,664 0 – 4,480 – 460 – 3,152

2010 3,555 – 1,140 0 – 3,857 – 241 – 1,683

Year tcC

 

€ k

AC

 

€ k

EC

 

€ k

Sc

 

€ k

Group

 

€ k

Sold bus. 

seg-

ments

€ k

Corr. 

cons. 

 

€ k

Retained 

bus. segs

 

€ k

Financial results 2011 – 2,752 535 0 – 2,217

2010 – 4,546 2,873 0 – 1,673

Results from ordinary activities 2011 – 11,806 – 3,534 0 – 15,340

2010 – 17,314 706 0 – 16,608

Taxes on income 2011 – 4,133 524 0 – 3,609

2010 – 7,566 1,477 0 – 6,089

Shareholders’ results 2011 – 15,939 – 3,010 0 – 18,949

2010 – 24,880 2,183 0 – 22,697
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Financial leasing as lessor 

Term

31/12/2011 

€ k

up to 1 year 

€ k

up to 5 years 

€ k

Gross investment 235 64 155

Cash value of minimum leasing payments 219

Not yet realised financial yield 16

This concerns a leasing agreement for LED bands over a total lease period of 60 months.

3.	 Average   number of employees   by category during the financial    year  

2011 2010

Executive Board 2 2

Management 23 23

Administration 88 96

Development 284 292

Sales /project management 282 300

Production 557 586

Other 8 6

1,244 1,305

Trainees 60 67

1,304 1,372

4.	 Relations hips  wit h relate d parties 

Related parties in the sense of IAS 24 are the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, cf. I.8.
Relationships with related parties in the sense of IAS 24 exist with affiliated companies which are not 

included in the consolidated financial statements and belong to the majority shareholder, Hörmann Funkwerk 
Holding GmbH, or Hörmann Holding GmbH & Co. KG (HHKG).

The business relationship of Funkwerk AG to HHKG was limited to passing on insurance expenses amount-
ing to EUR 1 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k) and other advanced costs of EUR 109 k (prev. yr.: EUR 29 k). The business rela-
tionships of the subsidiaries of Funkwerk AG to HHKG also relate to insurance expenses together with legal 
and consultancy fees and reach a total of EUR 30 k (prev. yr.: EUR 31 k). On 31 December 2011 the liabilities were 
EUR 104 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k).

The subsidiaries of Funkwerk AG recorded sales revenues amounting to EUR 1 k (prev. yr.: EUR 2 k) with 
companies that are affiliates of HHKG. The deliveries were invoiced at market prices or at cost plus an appro-
priate profit mark-up. The terms of payment granted are those that are usual for the market. As in the previ-
ous year, there were no trade accounts receivable from this at the reporting date.

A subsidiary of Funkwerk AG signed a development contract with Hörmann GmbH in 2009 and rendered 
developmental services for this at EUR 335 k in 2009. This development contract was rescinded in the 2011 
financial year. Hörmann GmbH has invoiced EUR 240 k for the return transfer of the product rights to the 
company. On 31 December 2011 the liabilities were EUR 285 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k).

The subsidiaries of Funkwerk AG have not obtained any further goods and services from affiliated companies 
of HHKG (prev. yr.: EUR 15 k) in the 2011 financial year. 

A rental agreement amounting to EUR 78 k per year existed between Microsyst Systemelectronic GmbH 
and Grundner Industrie und Beteiligungen GmbH, Kirchseeon until 31 December 2011. In addition, there was 
also a rental agreement between Funkwerk plettac electronic GmbH and the wife of Dr. Grundner, totalling 
EUR 10 k per year, which was rescinded in the year under review.

In addition, a lease agreement existed between Funkwerk Akademie GmbH and Schloss Beichlingen GbR, 
in which Mr. Hörmann holds a majority interest, amounting to EUR 36 k p.a. This lease agreement was termi-
nated on 31 October 2011.

A business relationship providing goods and services exists with the participating interest Funkwerk ES 
Iberia S.L. As a result, this subsidiary provided goods and services totalling EUR 812 k (prev. yr.: EUR 733 k). It 
received services amounting to EUR 0 k (prev. yr.: EUR 70 k). At the reporting date, the resultant trade accounts 
receivable for the Funkwerk group were EUR 126 k (prev. yr.: EUR 0 k) and the trade accounts payable were EUR 
0 k (prev. yr.: EUR 48 k).

5.	Major    risks  an d uncertainties 

In principle, legal risks are taken into account by setting up reserves to the amount of the expected burden. 
Besides the risks sufficiently covered by reserves, no other risks or uncertainties are recognisable to date.

6.	�Declaration     of Compliance  wit h the Germ an  Corporate  Governance    Code  

in conformity  wit h Section 161 A kt G

In conformity with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board have made the required declaration concerning the current and future compliance with the recom-
mendations of the »Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code« published by the 
Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the Electronic Federal Gazette, and have made this dec-
laration available to the shareholders on the website at http://www.funkwerk.com.

7.	 E xe mptions  under Section 264 (3) of the Germ an  Commercial  Code (HGB)

The subsidiaries Hörmann-Funkwerk Kölleda GmbH and Funkwerk Dabendorf GmbH exercise the exemption 
from disclosure of their annual accounts and also from drawing up the Management Reports under Section 
264 (3) of the German Commercial Code.
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8.	Details     on the E xecutive    Boar d an d the Supervisory  Boar d

Officiating members of the Executive Board

■■ Johann M. Schmid-Davis, Masters in Bus. Econ., Zorneding 
Controlling, finance and accounting, taxation, auditing, legal and contracts, IT,  
human resources and personnel, investor relations, coordination of group purchasing

■■ Mr. Carsten Ahrens, MEng., Kaarst 
Coordination of technology and product planning, development of business segments,  
further developments of management tools, mergers and acquisitions 

■■ Dr. Ing. Hans Grundner, Anzing, (until 19.05.2011)

Remuneration

The remuneration of the Executive Board members features both a non-performance-based and a perfor-
mance-based component; its level and structure is determined by the Supervisory Board of Funkwerk AG. 

The component which is not related to performance is made up of a fixed salary plus fringe benefits and 
pension commitments and is not dependent on certain targets being reached; it is paid monthly. In addition 
to the monthly fixed salary, all board members also receive fringe benefits, which include the private use of 
the company car and insurance premiums. All Executive Board members are entitled to these remuneration 
components and each must tax them as appropriate. 

For a detailed breakdown of the remuneration components of the Executive Board members, please see the 
Management Report for the financial year.

Executive Board pay

The payments due in the short term in the financial year are as follows:

The board members did not exercise any share options in the 2011 financial year.

Supervisory Board 

■■ Mr. Alfons Hörmann, Wertingen,  
CEO of Hörmann Holding & Co. KG, Kirchseeon 
Vice Chaiman until March 18, 2011; Chairman since 18 March 2011

■■ Mr. Prof. Dr. Gerhard P. Fettweis, Dresden, 
University Lecturer,  
Vice Chairman since March 18, 2011

■■ Mr. Dr.-Ing. Manfred Egner, Aidlingen,  
Fully Authorised Representative/Non-Executive Director of Freudenberg & Co.KG Weinheim;  
member since 19 May 20111

■■ Mr. Maximilian Ardelt, Starnberg,  
entrepreneur,  
Chairman until 18 March 2011; member until 19 May 2011

In the period under review, Mr. Alfons Hörmann was a member of the following Supervisory Boards:
■■ Schöck AG, Baden-Baden (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Wilhelm Geiger GmbH & Co. KG, Oberstdorf (Chairman of the Advisory Board)
■■ Scaltel AG, Waltenhofen (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Hörmann Automotive Gustavsburg GmbH, Gustavsburg (Chairman of the Supervisory Board  

as of 1 December 2011)
■■ Hörmann Automotive Penzberg GmbH, Penzberg (Chairman of the Supervisory Board as  

of 30 November 2011)
■■ DSV Leistungssport GmbH, Planegg (Chairman of the Supervisory Board) (honorary)
■■ DSV Marketing GmbH, Planegg (Chairman of the Supervisory Board) (honorary) 

In the period under review, Prof. Dr. Gerhard P. Fettweis was a member of the following Supervisory Boards:
■■ Qualitpe AG, Dresden (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ DEWB AG, Jena (Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ ZMDI AG, Dresden (Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Signalion GmbH, Dresden (Member of the Advisory Board)

In the period under review, Dr. Ing. Manfred Egner was a member of the following Supervisory Boards:
■■ Freudenberg Sealing Technologies GmbH & Co. KG (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Mr. Maximilian Ardelt was a member of the following Supervisory Boards in the period under review up until 
his departure:
■■ TechData Corporation, Clearwater/Florida (Member of the Board of Directors)
■■ Tiburon Partners AG, Munich (Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Ecommerce Alliance AG (previously Getmobile Europe PLC), Munich (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Stulz Holding GmbH, Hamburg (Member of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Mannstaedt GmbH, Troisdorf (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
■■ Graz University of technology, Graz, Austria (Vice Chairman of the University Board)
■■ Neumüller CeWe Color Stiftung (Member of the Board of Trustees)

Non-performance-

related pay

Performance- 

related pay

Pension  

commitments

Share-based  

remuneration

Total  

remuneration

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

J. Schmid-Davis 165,005 184,731 40,000 0 15,000 15,000 0 10,080 220,005 209,811

C. Ahrens 228,300 53,315 0 0 3,750 0 0 10,080 232,050 63,395

Dr. H. Grundner 111,795 231,636 0 0 10,000 24,000 0 10,080 121,795 265,716

Total 505,100 469,682 40,000 0 28,750 39,000 0 30,240 573,850 538,922
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Remuneration 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is governed in Section 12 of the Articles of Incorporation of Funk-
werk AG and is divided into a fixed and a variable component plus an attendance fee. Concerning the level of 
payments, a distinction is made between the Chairman and the remaining members.

Pay of Supervisory Board members

Fixed  

remuneration

Attendance  

fee

Variable  

remuneration

Total  

remuneration

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

2011

€

2010

€

Alfons Hörmann 9,458 4,437 14,300 9,750 0 0 23,758 14,187

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Fettweis 6,958 2,958 10,400 5,200 0 0 17,358 8,158

Dr. Manfred Egner 3,069 0 5,200 0 0 0 8,269 0

Maximilian Ardelt 2,167 8,979 5,200 14,950 0 0 7,367 23,929

Christian A. Hufnagl 0 4,083 0 2,600 0 0 0 6,683

Niels L. Chrestensen 0 2,042 0 1,300 0 0 0 3,342

Total 21,652 22,499 35,100 33,800 0 0 56,752 56,299

9.	� Auditor’s fees  – Disclosure as  per Section 314 (1) No. 9 Germ an  Commercial   Code  

(§ 314 A bs. 1 Nr. 9 HGB)

In the current financial year, the following fees were recorded for the auditor as defined by Section 319 (1) of the 
German Commercial Code, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, and companies affiliated to it:

2011

€ k

Audit of financial statements 427

Other certification and appraisal services 63

Tax consulting 31

Other services 123

644

10.	 E vents  a f ter the reporting period

The sale of Funkwerk Enterprise Communications GmbH together with the subsidiaries belonging to the 
former business segment EC was successfully concluded on 13 January 2012. The companies were transferred 
to the Spanish group Teldat, Madrid, by signing a notarized agreement. As expected, the transaction resulted 
in liquid funds of around EUR 8.5 m going to Funkwerk AG. 

By way of a notarized purchase agreement dated 21 March 2012, all shares in Funkwerk Avionics GmbH, 
the existing shareholder loan plus other receivables were sold to a German holding company. Funkwerk AG is 
set to receive around EUR 1.0 m in liquid funds from the sale by the end of March 2012.

Binding assurance was given on the part of the existing loan consortium under the management of Com-
merzbank AG on 26 March that – as a result of restructuring the corporate group and because of the funds 
received from the sales – the consortium loan agreement, which has been in existence since March 2011, is to 
be adjusted by way of an addendum agreement. The central focus of this addendum agreement is the reduc-
tion of the borrowed funds from EUR 75.5 m to EUR 50.0 m, divided between a cash overdraft of EUR 10 m and 
a bank guaranty credit of EUR 40 m. In this context, the proceeds from the sales, totalling around EUR 18 m, 
are to be made freely available to Funkwerk AG. It was further agreed that the existing indemnity bonds from 
the »Germany fund« federal / Laender program, on the part of the lenders, are to be returned again and, there-
fore, that the condition that the majority owners of Funkwerk AG must vote for a retention of earnings at the 
annual shareholders’ meeting is to be lifted again as of the 2012 financial year. It is expected that the adden-
dum agreement be implemented contractually by mid-2012.

No other important events of particular significance, which have not already been reported in the Notes 
or the Management Report, have occurred so far since the conclusion of the financial year. 
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Assets For the 2011 Financial Year  (Gross Presentation)

Fixed Assets 2011 PURCHASE AND PRODUCTION COSTS

AT

01/ 01/ 2011

 

€ K

ADDITIONS

 

€ K

DISPOSALS 

 

€ K

DISPOSALS 

DECONSOLI-

DATION AND 

CLASSIFICA-

TION IFRS 5*

€ K

BOOK

TRANSFERS

 

€ K

FOREIGN 

CURR. ITEMS

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2011

 

€ K

I. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

1.	 Industrial property rights and 

	 similar rights and values,

	 as well as licences thereto

17,677 1,192 (122) (5,236) 717 8 14,236

2.	 Goodwill 19,265 0 0 ( 4,121) 0 0 15,144

3.	 Development costs 61,821 7,384 0 (12,427) (717) 20 56,081

98,763 8,576 (122) (21,784) 0 28 85,461

I I .  TANGIBLE ASSETS

1. 	 Land and leasehold rights and 

	 buildings, including buildings 

	 on third-party land

10,890 39 0 (41) 0 0 10,888

2.	 Plant and machinery 29,257 604 (31) (510) 43 6 29,369

3.	 Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 21,307 1,349 (557) (5,049) 59 4 17,113

4.	 Plant under construction 116 724 0 (44) (102) 0 694

61,570 2,716 (588) (5,644) 0 10 58,064

160,333 11,292 (710) (27,428) 0 38 143,525

*	 Disposals relate to operations deconsolidated in the financial year and transfers on grounds of classification as assets held for sale.

** 	The additions to impairments constitute the difference between impairment costs for intangible assets and the income from writing back the special item for investment subsidies.

DEPRECIATION AND VALUE IMPAIRMENT Book Value

AT

01/ 01/ 2011

  

€ K

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS

  

€ K

DISPOSALS 

DECONSOLI-

DATION AND 

CLASSIFICA-

TION IFRS 5*

€ K

BOOK

TRANSFERS

 

€ K

FOREIGN 

CURR. ITEMS

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2011

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2011

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2010

 

€ K

DEPRECIA-

TIONS

€ K

VALUE

IMPAIR-

MENTS 

IFRS 5

€ K

VALUE

IMPAIR-

MENTS**

€ K

14,364 1,432 72 0 (110) (4,410) 52 8 11,408 2,828 3,313

10,104 100 1,750 0 (2,235) 0 0 9,719 5,425 9,161

38,637 3,801 0 4,276 0 (6,938) (52) 3 39,727 16,354 23,184

63,105 5,233 172 6,026 (110) (13,583) 0 11 60,854 24,607 35,658

4,115 408 0 0 (79) (18) 0 0 4,426 6,462 6,775

25,580 1,620 0 0 (24) (493) 0 5 26,688 2,681 3,677

17,651 1,557 67 0 (500) (4,080) 0 3 14,698 2,415 3,656

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 694 116

47,346 3,585 67 (603) (4,591) 0 8 45,812 12,252 14,224

110,451 8,818 239 6,026 (713) (18,174) 0 19 106,666 36,859 49,882
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Assets For the 2010 Financial Year  (Gross Presentation)

Fixed Assets 2010 PURCHASE AND PRODUCTION COSTS

AT

01/ 01/ 2010

 

€ K

ADDITIONS

 

€ K

DISPOSALS 

 

€ K

DISPOSALS 

DECONSOLI-

DATION 

 € K

BOOK

TRANSFERS

 

€ K

FOREIGN 

CURR. ITEMS

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2010

 

€ K

I. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

1.	 Industrial property rights and 

	 similar rights and values,

	 as well as licences thereto

17,825 847 – 285 – 143 – 651 84 17,677

2.	 Goodwill 19,265 0 0 0 0 0 19,265

3.	 Development costs 51,831 9,438 0 – 247 638 161 61,821

88,921 10,285 – 285 – 390 – 13 245 98,763

I I .  TANGIBLE ASSETS

1. 	 Land and leasehold rights and 

	 buildings, including buildings 

	 on third-party land

11,590 64 – 599 – 165 0 0 10,980

2.	 Plant and machinery 	 28,851 635 – 181 – 94 34 12 29,257

3.	 Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 21,310 964 – 770 – 271 58 16 21,307

4.	 Plant under construction 119 112 – 36 0 – 79 0 116

	 61,870 1,775 – 1,586 – 530 13 28 61,570

	 150,791 12,060 – 1,871 – 920 0 273 160,333

*	 The additions to depreciation are included in planned depreciation (EUR 8,518k) and restructuring costs (EUR 79k) in the statement of income and accumulated earnings.

DEPRECIATION AND VALUE IMPAIRMENT BOOK VALUE

AT

01/01/2010

€ K

 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS

 

€ k

DISPOSALS 

DECONSOLI-

DATION 

 € k

FOREIGN 

CURR. ITEMS

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2010

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2010

 

€ K

AT

31/12 / 2009

 

€ K

DEPRECIA-

TIONS*

€ K

VALUE

IMPAIRMENTS

€ K

12,586 2,124 0 – 282 – 143 79 14,364 3,313 5,239

9,104 0 1,000 0 0 0 10,104 9,161 10,161

34,344 2,122 2,432 0 – 247 – 14 38,637 23,184 17,487

56,034 4,246 3,432 – 282 – 390 65 63,105 35,658 32,887

4,406 472 0 – 598 – 165 0 4,115 6,775 7,184

24,018 1,820 0 – 174 – 94 10 25,580 3,677 4,833

16,611 2,054 0 – 754 – 271 11 17,651 3,656 4,699

31 5 0 – 36 0 0 0 116 88

45,066 4,351 0 – 1,562 – 530 21 47,346 14,224 16,804

101,100 8,597 3,432 – 1,844 – 920 86 110,451 49,882 49,691

Kölleda, 26 March 2012
— The Executive Board —

Johann M. Schmid-Davis		        Carsten Ahrens



We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Funkwerk AG, Kölleda, comprising the 
consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report for the business year from 
1 January to 31 December 2011. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch »German Commercial Code«) 
are the responsibility of the parent company s̓ management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and Ger-
man generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany, IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations 
as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effective-
ness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 
entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the account-
ing and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and group management report. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with 
IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 
HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in 
accordance with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.

Leipzig, 26 March 2012

KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
	

Huber					     Dr. Flascha
Wirtschaftsprüfer				   Wirtschaftsprüfer
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